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Financial Highlights
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Operating Return On
Common Equity**

2004

(In thousands, except per share data)

30%

2003*

2002*

2001*

2000

Gross premiums written . . . . . . . $1,544,157 $1,382,209 $1,173,049 $501,321 $433,002
Operating income available
to common shareholders** . .
109,666
525,488
341,889 166,860 134,379
Net income available
to common shareholders . . . .
133,108
605,992
342,879 184,956 127,228

20%
10%

Per Common Share Amounts
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Tangible Book Value
Per Common Share Plus
Accumulated Dividends**

Operating income** – diluted . . . $
Net income – diluted . . . . . . . . .
Book value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Dividends declared . . . . . . . . . . .

1.53 $
1.85
30.19
0.76

7.40
8.53
29.61
0.60

$

4.87 $ 2.67 $ 2.29
4.88
2.96
2.17
21.37
16.14
11.91
0.57
0.53
0.50

Operating ratios

Operating return on average
common equity** . . . . . . . . .

5.1%

29.3%

26.9%

19.9%

21.0%

$45

Claims and claim expense ratio . .
Underwriting expense ratio . . . . .

81.9%
22.5%

33.0%
23.4%

41.2%
19.0%

38.8%
25.4%

40.6%
28.5%

$30

Combined ratio . . . . . . . . . . . . .

104.4%

56.4%

60.2%

64.2%

69.1%

$15

* All data reflects restated results for 2001, 2002 and 2003. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the
attached Form 10-K.

0

** In this annual report we refer to various non-GAAP measures, which are explained in the Comments on Regulation G
on page 17.
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Accumulated dividends
per common share
Tangible book value per share

Operating Earnings
Per Share**
$7.50
$5.00

Company Overview
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RenaissanceRe was established in June 1993 to write property catastrophe reinsurance. By pioneering
the use of sophisticated computer models to construct our portfolio, we have become one of the
world’s largest and most successful catastrophe reinsurers. We have leveraged our expertise to establish
leading franchises in additional selected areas of insurance and reinsurance where we believe we can
enjoy a competitive advantage.
Today, we provide Catastrophe Reinsurance and Specialty Reinsurance. Additionally, we manage
joint ventures which provide Catastrophe Reinsurance and Specialty Reinsurance, and we
opportunistically invest in strategic joint ventures. We also write primary insurance and quota
share reinsurance through our Individual Risk unit.

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.
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Letter to Shareholders

Our ﬁnancial strength remains
rock solid. Our rapid claims payments
following the 2004 hurricanes
reinforced our reputation for
outstanding reliability and security.

In last year’s letter to shareholders, I speculated on what
the next ten years might look like for RenaissanceRe. When
I wrote that “we may experience a big hurricane...[that produces] relatively worse losses than our competitors,” I certainly
did not expect it would happen less than a year later. But we
are in the risk business, so we need to expect the unexpected
and be prepared to handle it.
Due to the four hurricanes that struck Florida during the
third quarter, 2004 was by far the worst year RenaissanceRe has
ever had. Operating income fell sharply to $110 million from
$525 million the previous year, and operating earnings per share
were $1.53, compared to $7.40. Tangible book value per share
grew by only 2% to $30.19 — not the result that we wanted.
Because we made the decision to be overweight in Florida, we
underperformed most of our peers, and our string of having the
number one operating return on equity in our peer group was
broken after 11 straight years. (I do think, however, that our
11-year record will stand as long as Cal Ripken’s record for
2,632 consecutive games played.)
Still, RenaissanceRe has never had a losing year
(although we undoubtedly will, sometime), and has experienced only one quarterly operating loss in a total of 46
quarters. Recognizing that there is volatility in catastrophe

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

reinsurance, it is important to look at our results over many
years, and there we can claim to have the number one operating return on equity in our peer group over the last three years
(or any longer period since our inception).
Our Strategy Continues to Serve Us Well

What is truly important about our results in light of the
hurricanes, however, are the answers to two questions:
First, how well did we respond to our clients’ needs for
rapid claims payment? Second, did our disproportionately
large losses mean that there was some basic flaw in the way
we manage our risks?
As to the first question, responding to losses is our
opportunity to deliver value to our clients. On insurance and
reinsurance managed by our group, so far we have paid over
$625 million to insurers (and insureds) of Florida properties to
repair damage from the four hurricanes in 2004. Our standard
is to pay valid reinsurance claims within 48 hours of receipt.
In fact, we advanced payments to some of our clients days after
the storms. We try to be the fastest payer in the market. The
comments that we have gotten back from our clients and brokers
after the World Trade Center loss in 2001 and the Florida
hurricanes in 2004 lead us to believe that we probably are.
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James N. Stanard
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Concerning the second question, after a thorough review
of our losses and the exposures that caused them, I am comfortable that our strategy is sound, as is its execution. Despite the
unusual phenomenon of four hurricanes in a row, our models
performed reasonably well. (We always treat model output as
estimates, not as facts.) We were paid adequately for the risks
that we undertook and so, in a sense, our underperformance in
2004 was just a matter of giving back some of our outperformance from the low-loss years of 2002 and 2003.
Excluding the hurricanes (if only we could), we actually
had an excellent year.
• Our Specialty Reinsurance business performed well, making
an important contribution to earnings. Premiums grew by
31% to $383 million, and losses were relatively low. This
business has developed into a meaningful franchise.
• Our Individual Risk business also performed well.
Premiums grew 7% to $478 million, and we anticipate
considerable growth in 2005. We have now established
the infrastructure, in terms of people and technology,
necessary for building a major business, and have begun
to forge the relationships with a small number of outside
program managers who will serve as one of our important
bases for future growth.

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

• Our Ventures business also performed well. Although our
DaVinci Re joint venture bore its share of hurricane losses,
Top Layer Re continued to be loss-free. An energy trading
joint venture involving our weather prediction group,
established at the end of 2003, had a very profitable year.
Channel Re, our financial guaranty joint venture that commenced operations last year, lived up to our expectations.
• Finally, our net Catastrophe Reinsurance losses were very
low in other notable 2004 events such as the tsunami and
the Japanese typhoons.
Entering a Softening Market

The reinsurance markets today seem to be awash in capital,
which has come from several sources. Most companies were
profitable in 2004, and have added to their capital base. Hedge
funds, commanding large pools of unrestricted capital, have
been entering the catastrophe reinsurance market. Moreover, a
new generation of insurance and reinsurance startups have
begun to form — even though the results from the last crop of
soft market startups (in 1996-7) were not good.
Clearly, we are entering the softening portion of the
cycle. In the catastrophe business, it feels to me like 1996,
when prices started on an unmistakable decline. At that time,
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Operating Return On Equity
45
30
15
0

RenaissanceRe was one of the few companies that chose to
reduce its top line, while others remained eager to continue
to grow by writing business at lower prices. We will again
maintain our discipline and refuse to chase business that
does not meet our hurdles for return on equity.
As a result of this softening, our catastrophe reinsurance
premium volume is likely to fall in 2005. We see downward
pressure on pricing in the Specialty Reinsurance and
Individual Risk areas as well; however, we are growing from
such a small market share in these areas, and have such strong
momentum, that we believe there is at least another year of
growth available in those businesses.
To deal with the softening market, we have been sharpening our competitive advantages. We have gathered a great
deal of new information on Florida hurricanes, which we have
incorporated into our models, and are now in a position to
use this information to help our reinsurance customers.
One of our greatest assets continues to be our rock-solid
financial strength. We have a strong balance sheet, prudent
loss reserves and excellent credit ratings. We also continue to
enjoy an outstanding reputation with our clients.

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.
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Enhancing Our Management and Operations

In the course of a comprehensive review initiated by
management, we became aware of accounting errors
related to the timing of the effects of certain ceded
reinsurance transactions, which required the restatement
of our results for 2001, 2002 and 2003. Although
this did not have a material impact on our financial
condition or our business operations, it was nevertheless
an embarrassment for a company that has always striven
to be best-in-class in everything we do. I am confident
the controls we have in place today would make the
repetition of such an oversight unlikely.
In fact, before this discovery, we had already
initiated several major operating improvements. We
substantially upgraded our control environment, enlarged
our accounting and legal departments, and enhanced
staff training. This was done to ensure that we maintain
high standards across our organization and that we
fully satisfy Sarbanes-Oxley requirements. The heightened
scrutiny of our industry over the past months will likely
drive changes that will affect all insurers and reinsurers.
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As the market softens, we will refuse
to chase business that does not meet
our criteria for return.

We intend to closely monitor these developments, so
that we can respond as needed.
I believe that the management team we have in place
today is as good as we have ever had. During the year, John
M. Lummis was promoted to the position of Chief Operating
Officer, in addition to his duties as Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer. Kevin J. O’Donnell, Senior Vice
President and head of Catastrophe Reinsurance, and Michael
W. Cash, Senior Vice President and head of Specialty
Reinsurance, assumed the responsibilities of David A. Eklund,
who relinquished his role as Chief Underwriting Officer in
order to spend more time with his family. Dave had been a
major contributor to the company’s success since its inception,
and we are grateful for all his work over the years.

soft market, we now need to demonstrate the same skill
and discipline in our other businesses.
2. As our business grows more diverse, we must build our
management team and processes to effectively execute
within a more complex compliance environment and a
more competitive business environment.
3. While meeting these internal challenges, our job is still to
remain outward-looking and focused on our clients.
I believe that RenaissanceRe has in place the professionals and the organization to meet these challenges, and I look
forward to the future with confidence.
Sincerely,

Challenges for 2005

Looking ahead, we are focused on the following challenges:
1. The market is softening, particularly for catastrophe
reinsurance. While we have a great track record of
managing the catastrophe business through the last

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

James N. Stanard
Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

2004 Annual Report

5

Gross Written Managed Premiums by Line**
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Catastrophe Reinsurance Endures a High Cat Year

Since our founding over 11 years ago, RenaissanceRe has
gained a reputation for excellence in catastrophe reinsurance.
This past year, we again witnessed the seriousness of the
business we are in. Although most of the year passed with
relative calm, the severe damage wrought by the Florida
hurricanes during the third quarter, and the massive
destruction and loss of life resulting from the Indian
Ocean tsunami at year end, made 2004 a catastrophe
year to remember.
For RenaissanceRe, the hurricanes in Florida — a peak
exposure area for our company — erased most of our year’s
profit. The unusual occurrence of four separate hurricanes in
rapid sequence caused us a far greater loss than one large
hurricane inflicting the same total financial damage, since
our own retrocessional coverage would have come into play at
the higher loss levels.
Still, these unusual events did not result in an outcome
that different from what our models had projected for such a
series of occurrences. This was actually highly affirmative
for RenaissanceRe — our models were tested by real events
and found again to be valid. We concluded that we had
formulated the right strategy, been appropriately compensated
for our risk, and would make the same decisions again. We
incorporated the new information gleaned from the experience
into our systems to help us perform better in the future.

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.
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Individual Risk

Further, our rapid payment of substantial claims reinforced
our reputation for reliability and security.
Looking ahead, however, the market environment has
shifted. Rates have declined as new capital, from hedge funds
and other less specialized reinsurers, has flowed into the
market. A price-driven environment is not conducive to
rewarding the superior security we offer, so we are working
hard to compete by adding value to our customers in other
ways; but, remaining true to our discipline, we will refrain
from chasing under-priced business.
Specialty Reinsurance Gains Growing Recognition

In contrast, 2004 was a good year for our Specialty
Reinsurance business. Premiums grew by over 30% and losses
were relatively low. Importantly, we are being approached
for an increasing number of large transactions. This is a sign
of growing industry recognition that we have developed
beyond being a catastrophe reinsurer and that our strong
balance sheet can support significant amounts of business.
For some of our specialty areas, we see challenges ahead
due to pricing pressure. Rates for terrorism and workers’
compensation coverage have been declining, in some cases to
lower levels than we find attractive. Our new medical malpractice area was unable to develop as robustly as we had hoped,
although in some new business areas, such as surety, market
conditions continue to hold up well. We are also watching
closely for opportunities to develop in additional areas where
significant stress results in market dislocations.
We are particularly pleased that our Specialty area,
which started opportunistically, has established itself as
a franchise. In Specialty, we bring the same disciplined
underwriting and sophisticated analytical tools that we
use in our catastrophe business.
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“Our Specialty
business has
established itself
as a franchise.
In Specialty, we
bring the same
disciplined
underwriting and
sophisticated
analytical tools
that we use in
our catastrophe
business.”
Michael W. Cash
Senior Vice President
Renaissance
Reinsurance Ltd.

“We concluded that
we had formulated
the right strategy,
been appropriately
compensated for
our risk, and would
make the same
decisions again.”
Kevin J. O’Donnell
Senior Vice President
Renaissance
Reinsurance Ltd.

“Ventures leverages
the company’s
capabilities and
expertise to produce
additional revenues
and proﬁts. Through
nimbleness and
creativity, we continue
to ﬁnd new ways to
create value for the
company and for
our partners.”
John D. Nichols
Executive Vice President
RenaissanceRe
Holdings Ltd.

On the other hand, Top Layer Re continued its
record of being loss-free since inception. We earn a premiumbased fee for managing Top Layer Re, and also share in its
profitability through our 50% ownership.
2004 Saw Us Enter Our First Non-Core Joint Venture

Channel Re, our financial guaranty reinsurance joint
venture with MBIA, Koch Financial Corporation and
Partner Re Ltd, began operations in early 2004 and
performed up to expectations, despite a challenging market
environment. The prevailing, uncommonly tight spreads
between higher and lower grade fixed income securities
meant that lower-rated issuers were less willing to pay for
guaranty insurance to enhance their credit ratings, causing a
decrease in premium for the primary financial guarantors.
Hence, there were fewer reinsurance opportunities, especially
in small and mid-size transactions.

Ventures

Strategic Investments Have a Rewarding Year
Ventures

RenaissanceRe Ventures engages in joint ventures and customized products that allow us to bring additional risk-taking
capacity to various markets by leveraging existing capabilities
and expertise. Through the RenaissanceRe-managed activities,
partners and investors can participate alongside us in the
reinsurance business and benefit from our underwriting skills
and proprietary technology. In other cases, our joint ventures
are managed by our partners, which allows us the opportunity
to learn and gain from their market position and expertise.
Divergent Results for the Managed Joint Ventures

Our largest managed joint ventures, DaVinci Re and Top
Layer Re, have their own balance sheets and participate in
risks that our reinsurance unit has evaluated. Top Layer Re
participates on catastrophe program layers that are “higher”
(more remote) than those assumed by RenaissanceRe and
DaVinci Re, which participate alongside each other on
catastrophe and also specialty reinsurance programs. In
each case, these joint ventures have been funded largely by
third-party capital seeking to participate in RenaissanceRe’s
reinsurance business.
In 2004, DaVinci Re suffered hurricane losses similar
to those of our catastrophe unit and as a result incurred a
loss of 11% for its investors, which includes RenaissanceRe.
Although we continue to benefit from premium-based fee
income for managing DaVinci Re, we will not be entitled
to any profit commission until we have earned back these
underwriting losses for our investors. We believe that this
contractual undertaking reinforces our strong relationship
with our investors, all of whom have continued to be highly
supportive of DaVinci Re.
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

In late 2003, we entered into a strategic investment that
leverages portions of our proprietary weather technology. We
were a founding investor in an energy trading fund that has
integrated decision support tools developed by our weather
prediction group into a highly-skilled trading operation.
The fund has been very successful since its inception.
The market value of our 9.2% equity investment in
Platinum Underwriters Holdings, Ltd. remained stable during
the year, and we also benefited from fee income related to a
consulting arrangement with Platinum. Platinum’s book value
increased year-over-year, and that, combined with its relatively
low price-to-book multiple, still promises upside potential. As
a result, we are content to hold this investment and anticipate
it to appreciate over time.
Finally, our customized products area also performed
well with its relationship-oriented products. Our Catastrophe
Portfolio Participation contracts, which enable participants to
share in our catastrophe reinsurance portfolio, continue to be
attractive to RenaissanceRe’s long-term clients, and we were
successful in renewing our desired level of coverage for the
upcoming underwriting year.
The future contains both challenges and opportunities.
We have begun to notice our competitors pursuing activities
similar to those we’ve pioneered. Coupled with the abundant
flow of capital into the marketplace, this has meant a decrease
in the number of sufficiently attractive transactions that
appear to have the potential to justify the investment of
RenaissanceRe’s capital. On the other hand, we retain the
nimbleness and creativity to continue to find new ways of
accessing the marketplace (both catastrophe and otherwise)
and structuring opportunities to produce value. We believe it
is this ability that distinguishes RenaissanceRe as a preferred
partner, leading to a wide spectrum of potential transactions.
2004 Annual Report
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During the year, we were very pleased
with the programs we initiated,
emphasizing a small number of
quality deals over quantity.
Working with Partners Who Add Value

Individual Risk

Individual Risk Continues to Implement Its Strategy

As with RenaissanceRe’s other catastrophe-exposed businesses,
Individual Risk, written under the banner of Glencoe
Group Holdings Ltd., was affected by the Florida hurricanes,
through our large portfolio of catastrophe-related homeowners
insurance. Despite this setback, our portfolio outperformed
industry averages in this area.
Hurricanes aside, 2004 was a successful year in implementing our long-term strategy: to build a business writing
primary insurance and quota share reinsurance in selected
higher margin business areas where attractive market conditions
present a favorable opportunity and in which our ability to
deeply analyze data provides us with a competitive advantage.
During the year, to support our strategy, we have
substantially completed the build-out of our infrastructure,
including the recruitment of additional underwriting expertise, the enhancement of our processes and systems, and the
addition of new locations.
Key to our vision is our distinctive approach to this
business. We regard primary insurance and quota share
reinsurance as basically similar, in that for both we require
thorough analysis and a full understanding of each policy at
the individual risk level — before we assume any portion of
the business — in order to arrive at adequate pricing for the
entire transaction. We only undertake transactions on which
we can perform this in-depth analysis.

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

We receive business from three separate channels: brokers,
who bring us business that we write on a risk-by-risk basis;
program managers, with whom we partner on a small number
of large programs; and clients — these are primary insurers
for whom we provide quota share reinsurance. These business
partners understand our approach and share our passion for
data and analysis. We work closely with clients and program
managers alike, employing our sophisticated analytical
methodologies and, where appropriate, our expertise in
catastrophe risk, to arrive at adequate pricing for the risks
they wish us to assume.
Our lean teams of experts complement the program
managers and other vendors with whom we partner and
add their own specialized expertise and valuable market
knowledge of the areas in which we focus. Furthermore,
we outsource to our partners such tasks as claims handling,
customer relations, marketing and back office processing,
while maintaining active oversight of these activities as well
as our partners’ underwriting activities.
During the year, we were very pleased with the programs we initiated, emphasizing a small number of quality
deals over quantity.
Although our general approach to this business has
signaled a radical departure from standard industry practice,
during the past year we found many of our competitors have
attempted to emulate our methods and have adopted our
more rigorous underwriting standards. Once again, this has
proven our industry leadership. Similarly, we experienced
an increase in referrals from our business partners, whose
testimonials have validated our methods and the benefits
of working with RenaissanceRe.
At year end, our Individual Risk business was
approximately evenly divided between property and
liability insurance. We continue to find attractive new
opportunities, especially within certain classes of liability,
while the property segment has grown less inviting due
to softening market conditions. We expect our strong
growth will continue in 2005.
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“Our business partners understand our
approach and share
our passion for data
and analysis. Our
lean teams of experts
complement our
partners and add
their own specialized
expertise and valuable
market knowledge
of the areas in which
we focus.”
William I. Riker
President
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

“During 2004, we
strengthened our
infrastructure
to support our
increasingly complex
and diversified
operations. Our back
ofﬁce responded in
exemplary fashion
to heavy customer
demand following
the Florida hurricanes.”
John M. Lummis
Executive Vice President,
Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.
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Finance and Administration

proprietary risk management technology, in an ongoing effort
to track and manage the key exposures on our balance sheet.
Investment Portfolio Achieves Solid Returns

Strengthening Our Capital Structure and
Our Infrastructure

We seek to optimize our capital structure to support our
current businesses, to be able to enter new businesses opportunistically, to maintain sufficient liquidity to pay claims
quickly, and to steadily increase shareholder value. At year
end, we continued to enjoy a strong capital position.
Key elements of our capital management are to raise
capital opportunistically and return capital to shareholders
when it makes most sense. This year, we raised net proceeds
of $242 million through the sale of 6.08% Series C Preference
Shares. The perpetual and subordinated nature of these
securities added flexibility to our balance sheet.
We incurred over half a billion dollars in hurricane
losses during 2004 and yet still achieved profitability, which
is testimony to the increased diversification of our business.
Having multiple income streams — from different business
units — plays an important role in our success.
During 2004, we strengthened our infrastructure to
support our increasingly complex and diversified operations.
We added staff in information technology and human
resources, and increased our legal and accounting departments. Our accounting staff devised a more robust reporting
system to better describe business unit results, and we
centralized risk assessment capabilities to maximize their
utility across the organization. We also built up our back
office, which responded in exemplary fashion to heavy customer demand following the Florida hurricanes. We upgraded
REMS© (Renaissance Exposure Management System), our

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

Our investment strategy has been to maintain a stable, high
quality, low-risk portfolio that safeguards security for our
clients and steadily contributes to appreciation of our book
value. On balance, our portfolio performed satisfactorily.
In 2004, our investments returned 4.00% overall, below
the Lehman U.S. Aggregate Fixed Income Index benchmark
of 4.34%, but with considerably less volatility. Again, we
maintained a large percentage of assets in short-term securities, resulting in a duration of 2.2 years, versus our target of
2.75 - 3 years. This was in response to the low interest rate
environment and the prospect of sharply rising rates, which
now has begun to occur.
Approximately 6% of our investments is in non-investment grade securities and 8% in alternative assets. Our
non-investment grade assets returned 12%, beating their
benchmark index. Our alternative investments, in hedge funds
and private equity, returned 10% and 15%, respectively.
As in prior years, we managed the very high grade
component of our portfolio internally, employing external
managers for the other asset classes. During the year, all our
external managers outperformed their benchmark indices.
Credit Ratings
S&P

Reinsurance Segment 2
Renaissance Reinsurance 1 . . . . . . . .
DaVinci Re . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Top Layer Re . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Renaissance Europe 1 . . . . . . . . . . . .
Individual Risk Segment 2
Glencoe 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Stonington 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Stonington Lloyds 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Lantana 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Holding Company Senior Debt 1 . . .

AAA1
AA
-

A.M. Best

Moody’s

A+
A
A+
A+

A1
-

-

A
A
A
A

-

A

-

A3

1 These ratings have all been placed under review, with negative implications, by each of the
rating agencies.
2 The A.M. Best, S&P and Moody’s ratings for the companies in the Reinsurance and
Individual Risk segments reflect the insurer financial strength rating.
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Florida hurricane risk represents one
of the largest catastrophe markets
in the world. Participation in such a
market can be rewarding.

Perspectives on the Florida
Hurricane Market

• The insured loss potential from Florida hurricanes is
approximately on par with the insured loss potential of
California earthquakes. Interestingly, only about 15% of
California homeowners purchase earthquake protection. If
all California homeowners were required to purchase earthquake insurance, the insured earthquake risk in California
would be much larger than the Florida hurricane risk.
For a catastrophe reinsurer like RenaissanceRe, Florida
is a market in which our products are in very high demand.
If managed carefully, participation in such a market can
be rewarding.
Unique Industry Structure

The 2004 hurricane season, with four strong hurricanes
making landfall in Florida, was a unique series of events.
Since the U.S. began to record information in the mid-1800’s,
no hurricane season had experienced this many landfalls in
Florida, the most hurricane-exposed state. Additional damages
incurred in the Caribbean as a result of the storms contributed
to making this year one that materially affected both the U.S.
and international insurance markets.
With total damage from the four 2004 Florida hurricanes estimated to be in the range of approximately $28 - $35
billion, this year’s hurricane losses were in aggregate worse
than 1992’s Hurricane Andrew, which caused $20 - $25 billion in damages, in current dollars. Though the total amount
of losses was large, this amount was not unusual relative to the
worldwide catastrophe risk. According to our estimates, the
worldwide insurance industry should expect to experience
total annual catastrophe losses in the range of $30 billion or
more about once every seven years. It was the four separate
events, concentrated in the State of Florida, which will make
2004 a year to remember in the catastrophe business.

The Florida insurance industry, due to its history of hurricane
exposure, has developed unlike any other market in the U.S.
There have been specific initiatives encompassing both private
capital structures and governmental facilities which have created this unique market.
Roughly 60% of the capital supporting residential property
exposure is segregated into companies that only write insurance
policies in Florida. We estimate that 30% of this total capital
resides in Florida-only subsidiaries of larger insurance companies,
while 30% is provided by Florida-specific companies started in
the wake of Hurricane Andrew. As a result of this segregated
capital structure, there is an acute need for reinsurance to assume
a portion of this highly volatile and localized risk.
Additionally, demand has outstripped supply in the
Florida market and has spurred the creation of large “residual”
markets. These residual markets are state-run entities that
supplement the insurance and reinsurance industry. They
step in when needed to provide coverage where there is either
insufficient coverage or no coverage available at all.
Florida Residual Markets

Florida Hurricane Facts

Today, Florida hurricane risk represents one of the largest
catastrophe exposures in the world. Here are some relative
facts to help gauge the level of risk from hurricanes in Florida:
• The Florida hurricane market accounts for approximately
10% of the total worldwide insured natural catastrophe risk.
• Florida accounts for close to 55% of the total U.S.
hurricane risk.
• Florida hurricanes account for about 20% of the total U.S.
insured catastrophe risk.

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

There are two residual property insurance markets in
Florida that aid in the protection of property in the
case of hurricanes.
The first, the Florida Hurricane Cat Fund (FHCF),
protects insurance companies writing residential coverage in
Florida against hurricanes by providing reinsurance over an
individual company’s deductible. The coverage should attach
for each company when the industry has experienced about
$6 billion in losses. Formed in the wake of Hurricane Andrew,
the FHCF provides reinsurance that is supplemental to what
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can normally be obtained in the private reinsurance market. It
has the ability to pay out about $15 billion in total hurricane
coverage in any one year.
The second residual market, Citizens Property Insurance
Corporation (CPIC), protects high risk properties in the state.
The definition of high risk can be homes “on the beach,” or
other homes for which private coverage is unavailable, such as
homes with significant sinkhole risk. Today, CPIC insures
about 20% of all the homes in Florida.
These “shock absorber” entities are funded by current
premiums and potential post-loss assessments on the insurance
industry and policyholders. These post-loss assessments also
enable these entities to issue bonds, which provides them with
additional capital following a large event.
On the whole, the residual markets have been successful
to date in filling the state’s gaps in insurance capacity.
Who Paid for 2004?

For the 2004 hurricanes, we estimate the residual markets
picked up approximately 20% of the total losses, while primary
insurers bore 60% and reinsurers the remaining 20%. The
modest portion picked up by the reinsurers reflects the multiple
per-occurrence retentions borne by insurers as a result of losses
coming from four hurricanes rather than from a single event.
A single storm of the same magnitude as the total of the four
hurricanes would have resulted in a single retention and,
for many companies, would have meant higher reinsurance
recoveries from both their reinsurers and the FHCF.
Thumbnail Financial Analysis

To understand the scope of the Florida hurricane market —
and the opportunity it presents — we can examine the
economics of the residential market by itself. The residential
market accounts for about 75% of the total hurricane risk
in the state.
• Total annual residential insurance premium amounts to
approximately $5.5 billion, of which roughly one-third is
dedicated to operating expenses, leaving about $3.7 billion to
cover losses and provide for a return to the capital providers.
• In rough numbers, the non-hurricane perils — fire, theft,
water damage, etc. — can be expected to account for
approximately 35% of premiums, or about $2 billion
per year.
• This leaves about $1.7 billion per year to cover catastrophes,
primarily hurricanes. If no hurricanes were to occur in
any given year, the gross profitability of the industry looks
quite attractive.
• However, we estimate that hurricane losses in the Florida
residential market will average approximately $2 billion
per year over the long run, in today’s dollars. This average
takes into account years of lower losses and also years of
higher losses.

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.

Careful, active management of risk is
essential for survival and proﬁtability
in this market.
In 2004, residential hurricane losses came to about
$17 billion, or about ten times the available annual premium
to cover the risk. Insurers would need significant accumulation
of premiums in the “good years” to pay out such an amount.
Risk Selection is Important

All companies did not perform equally in the 2004 hurricane
losses, with some companies paying out much more than
10 times their collected premium, while others paid out less.
Some of the differences can be attributed to geographic
concentration, but upfront underwriting and risk selection,
coupled with superior claims execution, were major contributors to the under- or over-performance of a company writing
business in the state.
Due to the high risk environment, careful, active
management of risk is essential for survival and profitability in
this market. We believe it is an interesting challenge to truly
produce an adequate return on capital for companies writing
property insurance in Florida.
The Future

We believe property rates will continue to rise in Florida over
the next few years — the risks are immense and no one is
confident that there is enough money in the system to support
the risk over the long term. Given the magnitude of losses that
can occur in a single year (estimates of greater than $100 billion are common), no one company or facility can assume all
of the hurricane risk in Florida.
The hurricanes of 2004 provided a wealth of new
data to understand hurricane risk. We are in a better position
this time to learn which structures weathered the storms
better than others, and this information will result in greater
price differentiation for insuring homes of different construction characteristics.
Research into techniques of design and construction
that mitigate hurricane damage will also increase.
RenaissanceRe is a major sponsor of work being done in this
field by Florida International University in Miami. A new
facility, the RenaissanceRe Wall of Wind, can create actual
full-scale hurricane conditions that give us better insight into
wind loadings on different types of structures and the effects
of wind-driven rain. Because of the impact of hurricane risk
on its citizens, we can expect the State of Florida will continue
to be the crucible for hurricane research and for advances in
hurricane risk management.
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Comments on Regulation G

In addition to the financial measures set forth in this Annual
Report prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the Unites States (“GAAP”), the Company
has included certain non-GAAP financial measures in this
Annual Report within the meaning of Regulation G. The
Company has consistently provided these financial measurements in previous annual reports and the Company’s management believes that these measurements are important to
investors and other interested persons, and that investors and
such other persons benefit from having a consistent basis for
comparison between years and for the comparison with other
companies within the industry. These measures may not, however, be comparable to similarly titled measures used by companies
outside of the insurance industry. Investors are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these non-GAAP measures in assessing
the Company’s overall financial performance.
The Company uses “operating income” as a measure to
evaluate the underlying fundamentals of its operations and
believes it to be a useful measure of its corporate performance.
“Operating income” differs from “net income available to

common shareholders”, which the Company believes is the
most directly comparable GAAP measure, only by the exclusion
of net realized gains and losses on investments and, in 2002, by
the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle —
goodwill. The Company’s management believes that “operating
income” is useful to investors because it more accurately measures and predicts the Company’s results of operations by removing the variability arising from fluctuations in the Company’s
investment portfolio and by removing non-recurring matters
such as changes in accounting principles — goodwill, which
are not considered by management to be a relevant indicator
of business operations. The Company also uses operating
income to calculate operating income per common share
and operating return on average common equity. The following
is a reconciliation of 1) net income available to common
shareholders to operating income available to common shareholders; 2) net income available to common shareholders per
common share to operating income available to common shareholders per common share; and 3) return on average common
equity to operating return on average common equity:

Year Ended
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

$605,992
(80,504)

$342,879
(10,177)

$184,956
(18,096)

$127,228
7,151

Net income available to common shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Adjustment for net realized (gains) losses on investments . . . . . . . . . . . .
Adjustment for cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle SFAS 142 - Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$133,108
(23,442)
–

–

9,187

–

–

Operating income available to common shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$109,666

$525,488

$341,889

$166,860

$134,379

Net income available to common shareholders per common share . . . . . . .
Adjustment for net realized gains on investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Adjustment for cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle SFAS 142 - Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating income available to common shareholders per
common share - diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$1.85
(0.32)

$8.53
(1.13)

$4.88
(0.14)

$2.96
(0.29)

$2.17
0.12

0.13
$1.53

$7.40

$4.87

$2.67

$2.29

Return on average common equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Adjustment for net realized gains on investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Adjustment for cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle SFAS 142 - Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

6.2%
(1.1%)

33.8%
(4.5%)

27.0%
(0.8%)

22.1%
(2.2%)

19.9%
1.1%

Operating return on average common equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

5.1%

19.9%

21.0%

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.
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The Company has also included in this Annual Report “managed catastrophe premium” and “gross written managed premium”. “Managed catastrophe premium” is defined as gross catastrophe premium written by Renaissance Reinsurance and its
related joint ventures. “Gross written managed premium” differs from gross written premium, which the Company believes
is the most directly comparable GAAP measure, due to the
inclusion of premiums written on behalf of our joint ventures
Top Layer Re, which is accounted for under the equity method
of accounting, and OPCat, which was accounted for under the

equity method of accounting prior to 2002. “Managed
catastrophe premium” differs from total catastrophe premium,
which the Company believes is the most directly comparable
GAAP measure, due to the inclusion of catastrophe premium
written on behalf of our joint venture Top Layer Re, which is
accounted for under the equity method of accounting, and
OPCat, which was accounted for under the equity method
of accounting prior to 2002. The following is a reconciliation
of 1) gross managed premium to gross written premium; and
2) managed catastrophe premium to total catastrophe premium:
Year Ended
2004

2002

2001

2000

Total catastrophe premium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 683,179 $ 643,665 $ 643,450
Catastrophe premium written by OP Cat . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
–
–
–
Catastrophe premiums written by Top Layer Re . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
70,242
76,735
73,099

$373,896
29,129
38,761

$345,086
55,398
24,877

Managed catastrophe premium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 753,421 $ 720,400 $ 716,549

$441,786

$425,361

Gross written premium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,544,157 $1,382,209 $1,173,049
Premium written by OP Cat . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
–
–
–
Premium written by Top Layer Re . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
70,242
76,735
73,099

$501,321
29,129
38,761

$433,002
55,398
24,877

Gross written managed premium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,614,399 $1,458,944 $1,246,148

$569,211

$513,277

The Company has also included in this Annual Report “tangible book value per share plus accumulated dividends”. This
is defined as book value per share excluding intangible assets,
such as goodwill, plus accumulated dividends. “Tangible book
value per share plus accumulated dividends” differs from book

2003

value per share, which the Company believes is the most
directly comparable GAAP measure, due to the exclusion of
goodwill and, in 2002, the effect of a cumulative adjustment
due to a change in accounting principle and the inclusion of
accumulated dividends.
Year Ended
2004

2003

2002

Book value per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Adjustment for goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Adjustment for accumulated dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$30.19
–
4.48

$29.61
–
3.72

Tangible book value per share plus accumulated dividends . . . . . . . . . . . .

$34.67

$33.33

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.
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2001

2000

$21.37
–
3.12

$16.14
(0.14)
2.55

$11.91
(0.17)
2.02

$24.49

$18.55

$13.76
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PART I
Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this Annual Report to ‘‘RenaissanceRe’’ or the
‘‘Company’’ means RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and its subsidiaries, which principally include
Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd. (‘‘Renaissance Reinsurance’’), Glencoe Group Holdings Ltd. (‘‘Glencoe
Group’’), Glencoe Insurance Ltd. (‘‘Glencoe’’), Lantana Insurance Ltd. (‘‘Lantana’’), Stonington
Insurance Company (‘‘Stonington’’), Renaissance Underwriting Managers, Ltd. (currently known as
‘‘Ventures’’ and previously known as ‘‘Renaissance Underwriting Managers’’), Renaissance Reinsurance
of Europe (‘‘Renaissance Europe’’), Glencoe U.S. Holdings Inc. (‘‘Glencoe U.S.’’), RenaissanceRe
Capital Trust (‘‘Capital Trust’’), and Renaissance Investment Holdings Ltd. (‘‘RIHL’’). We also
underwrite reinsurance on behalf of joint ventures, principally including Top Layer Reinsurance Ltd.
(‘‘Top Layer Re’’) and DaVinci Reinsurance Ltd. (‘‘DaVinci’’). DaVinci’s ﬁnancial results are
consolidated in our ﬁnancial statements. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to
RenaissanceRe do not include any of the joint ventures for which we provide underwriting services.
Certain terms used below are deﬁned in the ‘‘Glossary of Selected Insurance Terms’’ appearing on
page 44 of this Report.
NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Forward-looking statements are necessarily based on estimates and assumptions that are inherently
subject to signiﬁcant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of
which, with respect to future business decisions, are subject to change. These uncertainties and
contingencies can affect actual results and could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed in any forward-looking statements made by, or on behalf of, us.
In particular, statements using words such as ‘‘may,’’ ‘‘should,’’ ‘‘estimate,’’ ‘‘expect,’’ ‘‘anticipate,’’
‘‘intends,’’ ‘‘believe,’’ ‘‘predict,’’ ‘‘potential,’’ or words of similar import generally involve
forward-looking statements. For example, we have included certain forward-looking statements in
‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’’ with
regard to trends in results, prices, volumes, operations, investment results, margins, combined ratios,
reserves, overall market trends, risk management and exchange rates. This Form 10-K also contains
forward-looking statements with respect to our business and industry, such as those relating to our
strategy and management objectives, trends in market conditions, prices, market standing and product
volumes, investment results and pricing conditions in the reinsurance and insurance industries.
In light of the risks and uncertainties inherent in all future projections, the inclusion of
forward-looking statements in this report should not be considered as a representation by us or any
other person that our objectives or plans will be achieved. Numerous factors could cause our actual
results to differ materially from those addressed by the forward-looking statements, including the
following:
1.

the occurrence of natural or man-made catastrophic events with a frequency or severity exceeding
our estimates, and the risk that the size of net claims relating to the 2004 hurricane losses
described herein may change due to the developing nature of some of the reports and estimates of
loss and damage to date;

2.

risks associated with implementing our business strategies and initiatives for organic growth,
including risks relating to managing that growth;

3.

risks associated with the growth of our specialty reinsurance and Individual Risk businesses,
particularly the development of our infrastructure to support this growth;

4.

risks relating to our strategy of relying on program managers, third party administrators, and
other vendors to support our Individual Risk operations;

5.

other risks of doing business with program managers, including the risk we might be bound to
policyholder obligations beyond our underwriting intent, and the risk that our program managers
or agents may elect not to continue or renew their programs with us;
1

6.

risks relating to the government investigation related to our restatement of the Company’s
Financial Statements, as well as the industry-wide investigations into non-traditional, or loss
mitigation, (re)insurance products, and other industry practices, all of the possible consequences of
which we are unable to foresee;

7.

the risk that ongoing investigative regulatory developments will disrupt our business, or that of
our business partners, or mandate changes in industry practices in a fashion which increases our
costs or requires us to alter aspects of the way we do business;

8.

acts of terrorism, war or political unrest;

9.

the inherent uncertainties in our reserving process, which we believe are increasing as we diversify
into new product classes;

10. emerging claim and coverage issues, which could expand our obligations beyond the amount we
intend to underwrite;
11. possible challenges in maintaining our fee-based operations, including risks associated with
retaining our existing partners and attracting potential new partners;
12. a decrease in the level of demand for our reinsurance or insurance business, or increased
competition in the industry;
13. greater frequency or severity of claims and loss activity, including as a result of natural or
man-made catastrophic events, than our underwriting, reserving or investment practices anticipate
based on historical experience or industry data;
14. changes in economic conditions, including interest rate, currency, equity and credit conditions
which could affect our investment portfolio;
15. extraordinary events affecting our clients or brokers, such as bankruptcies and liquidations, and
the risk that we may not retain or replace our large clients;
16. a contention by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service that our Bermuda subsidiaries, including
Renaissance Reinsurance, Glencoe and RIHL, are subject to U.S. taxation;
17. the lowering or loss of any of the ratings of RenaissanceRe or of one or more of our subsidiaries
or changes in the policies or practices of the rating agencies;
18. loss of services of any one of our key executive ofﬁcers;
19. risks relating to the collectibility of our reinsurance, including both our Reinsurance and
Individual Risk operations, as well as risks relating to the availability of coverage from
creditworthy providers;
20. failures of our reinsurers, brokers or program managers to honor their obligations, including their
obligations to make third party payments for which we might be liable, a risk which may have
increased as regards brokers in light of recent developments;
21. changes in the distribution or placement of risks due to increased consolidation of insurance and
reinsurance brokers, or program managers, or from potential changes in their business practices
which may be required by future regulatory changes;
22. changes in insurance regulations in the U.S. or other jurisdictions in which we operate, including
potential challenges to Renaissance Reinsurance’s claim of exemption from insurance regulation
under current laws, and the risk of increased global regulation of the insurance and reinsurance
industry;
23. the passage of federal or state legislation subjecting Renaissance Reinsurance to supervision or
regulation, including additional tax regulation, in the U.S. or other jurisdictions in which we
operate; and
24. actions of competitors, including industry consolidation, the launch of new entrants and the
development of competing ﬁnancial products.
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The factors listed above should not be construed as exhaustive. Certain of these factors are described in
more detail in ‘‘Risk Factors’’ below. We undertake no obligation to release publicly the results of any
future revisions we may make to forward-looking statements to reﬂect events or circumstances after the
date hereof or to reﬂect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL
RenaissanceRe was established in Bermuda in 1993 to write property catastrophe reinsurance.
Through the use of sophisticated computer models to construct our portfolio of reinsurance contracts,
we have become one of the world’s largest and most successful catastrophe reinsurers. Recently, we
have leveraged our expertise and established growing franchises in additional selected areas of
insurance and reinsurance.
We have developed a proprietary, computer-based pricing and exposure management system,
Renaissance Exposure Management System (REMS©). REMS© has analytic and modeling capabilities
that help us to assess the risk and return of each incremental reinsurance contract in relation to our
overall portfolio of reinsurance contracts. The REMS© modeling system enables the Company to
measure each policy on a consistent basis and provides the Company with a measurement of an
appropriate price to charge for each policy based upon the risk that is assumed. REMS© combines
computer-generated simulations that estimate event probabilities with exposure and coverage
information on each client’s reinsurance contract to produce expected claims for reinsurance programs
submitted to us. We have also customized REMS© by including additional perils, risks and geographic
areas that are not captured in commercially available models.
We conduct our business through two reportable segments, Reinsurance and Individual Risk. Those
segments are more fully described as follows:
Reinsurance
Our Reinsurance segment has three main components:
1) Property catastrophe reinsurance written for our own account and DaVinci – our traditional core
business. Our subsidiary, Renaissance Reinsurance, is one of the world’s premier providers of this
coverage. This coverage protects against large natural catastrophes, such as earthquakes,
hurricanes and tsunamis, as well as claims arising from other natural and man-made catastrophes
such as winter storms, freezes, ﬂoods, ﬁres, tornadoes and explosions. We offer this coverage to
insurance companies and other reinsurers primarily on an excess of loss basis. This means that we
begin paying when our customers’ claims from a catastrophe exceed a certain retained amount.
2) Specialty reinsurance written for our own account and DaVinci covering certain targeted classes of
business where we believe we have a sound basis for underwriting and pricing the risk that we
assume; our portfolio in 2004 includes various classes of business, such as catastrophe exposed
workers’ compensation, surety, terrorism and medical malpractice. We believe that we are seen as
a market leader in certain of these classes of business and that we have a growing reputation as a
‘‘ﬁrst call’’ market for these products.
3) Through Ventures, we pursue joint ventures and other strategic relationships. Our three principal
business activities in this area are: 1) catastrophe-oriented joint ventures which we manage, such
as Top Layer Re and DaVinci; 2) customized reinsurance transactions, such as offering
participations in our catastrophe portfolio; and 3) investments in initiatives directed at other
classes of risk, in which we partner with other market participants, such as our investments in
ChannelRe Holdings Ltd. (‘‘Channel Re’’) and Platinum Underwriters Holdings Ltd.
(‘‘Platinum’’). Only business activities that appear in our consolidated underwriting results, such as
DaVinci and certain reinsurance transactions, are included in our Reinsurance segment results; the
results of Top Layer Re, Channel Re and Platinum are included in the Other category of our
segment results.
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Individual Risk
We deﬁne our Individual Risk segment to include underwriting that involves understanding the
characteristics of the original underlying insurance policy. Our principal products include: 1)
commercial and homeowners property coverages, including catastrophe-exposed products; 2)
commercial liability coverages, including general, automobile, professional and various specialty
products; and 3) reinsurance of other insurers on a quota share basis.
Our Individual Risk business is primarily produced through three distribution channels: 1) program
managers – where we write primary insurance through specialized program managers, who produce
business pursuant to agreed-upon underwriting guidelines and provide related back-ofﬁce functions; 2)
quota share reinsurance – where we write quota share reinsurance with primary insurers who, similar
to our program managers, provide most of the back-ofﬁce and support functions; and 3) Brokers –
where we write primary insurance through brokers on a risk-by-risk basis.
Our Individual Risk business is written by the Glencoe Group through its operating subsidiaries
Glencoe and Lantana on an excess and surplus lines basis and on an admitted basis by Stonington. As
noted above, we rely on third parties for services including the generation of premium, the issuance of
policies and the processing of claims. We actively oversee our third-party partners through an
operations review team at Glencoe Group Services Inc., which conducts initial due diligence as well as
ongoing monitoring.
New Business
In addition to the potential growth of our existing reinsurance and insurance businesses, from time to
time, we consider opportunistic diversiﬁcation into new ventures, either through organic growth, the
formation of new joint ventures, or the acquisition of other companies or books of business of other
companies. This potential diversiﬁcation includes opportunities to write targeted classes of
non-catastrophe business, both directly for our own account and through possible new joint venture
opportunities.
In evaluating such new ventures, we seek an attractive return on equity, the ability to develop or
capitalize on a competitive advantage, and opportunities that will not detract from our core
Reinsurance and Individual Risk operations. Accordingly, we regularly review strategic opportunities
and periodically engage in discussions regarding possible transactions, although there can be no
assurance that we will complete any such transactions or that any such transaction would contribute
materially to our results of operations or ﬁnancial condition.
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
Internal Review. As previously disclosed, in the fourth quarter of 2004 we engaged Boies, Schiller &
Flexner LLP (‘‘Boies Schiller’’) to complete a review of the Company’s business practices in light of
the industry-wide investigations by the New York Attorney General and other government authorities
into a wide range of practices in the insurance and reinsurance industry. Supervision of this review was
subsequently taken over by the Board of Directors, with Boies Schiller reporting directly to the
independent members of the Board of Directors. The procedures to be performed in this review, as
determined by the independent directors in consultation with Boies Schiller, and which included a
forensic accountant, have been completed and an oral report has been delivered by Boies Schiller to
the independent members of the Board of Directors. In addition, as discussed below, we recently
received subpoenas from the Securities and Exchange Commission (the ‘‘SEC’’) and from the Ofﬁce
of the Attorney General of the State of New York, each of which relates to the industry-wide
investigation into non-traditional, or loss mitigation, (re)insurance products. The subpoena from the
SEC also relates to our business practice review and to our determination to restate the Company’s
ﬁnancial statements discussed below. These government investigations are ongoing.
Restatement. The foregoing business practice review led to the restatement of the Company’s audited
ﬁnancial statements for the ﬁscal years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 to make corrections
of accounting errors associated with reinsurance ceded by the Company (as discussed in greater detail
under Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
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Operations and under Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements). Certain of the corrections
are attributable to an Aggregate Excess of Loss Reinsurance contract and an Assignment Agreement,
each entered into by Renaissance Reinsurance with Inter-Ocean Reinsurance Company, Ltd.
(‘‘Inter-Ocean’’) in 2001. In connection with the aforementioned review, the Company concluded that
these contracts, based on the totality of the surrounding facts and circumstances, should have been
treated as a single transaction and, when so treated, lacked the necessary risk transfer to be accounted
for as transactions involving ceded reinsurance and a sale of reinsurance recoverables. The remaining
restatement corrections are attributable to four multi-year ceded reinsurance contracts. The aggregate
net effect of all the corrections is to increase 2003 net income by $1.3 million; to decrease 2002 net
income by $21.9 million; and to increase 2001 net income by $20.6 million. See ‘‘Management’s
Discussions and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Restatement of Financial
Statements.’’
The independent members of the Board of Directors, in connection with the aforementioned review,
have concluded that certain members of senior management (James N. Stanard, Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer; William I. Riker, President; John M. Lummis, Chief Operating Ofﬁcer/Chief Financial Ofﬁcer;
Michael W. Cash, Senior Vice President and Martin J. Merritt, Controller) made mistakes and in some
instances lacked due care in connection with the original accounting for the Inter-Ocean transactions
that led to the restatement. The independent members of the Board of Directors plan to discuss their
ﬁndings directly with each of the aforementioned executives. The independent members of the Board
of Directors also concluded that, since 2001, the Company has made signiﬁcant improvements in its
internal controls, including controls over ﬁnancial reporting. See – Item 7 ‘‘Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition’’.
Credit Ratings. In February, following our announcement that we planned to restate the Company’s
ﬁnancial statements, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (‘‘S&P’’) placed on CreditWatch with
negative implications the counterparty credit, senior debt, and preferred stock ratings of the Company;
the counterparty credit and ﬁnancial strength ratings on Renaissance Reinsurance; and the
counterparty credit and ﬁnancial strength ratings on DaVinci. In addition, A.M. Best Company, Inc.
(‘‘A.M. Best’’) placed under review with negative implications the issuer credit ratings of the senior
debt, preferred stock and capital securities of the Company and also the ﬁnancial strength ratings of
the insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries of the Company. Further, Moody’s Investors Service Inc.
(‘‘Moody’s’’) revised from ‘‘stable’’ to ‘‘negative’’ the outlook for each of the insurance ﬁnancial
strength rating of Renaissance Reinsurance, and the senior debt, preferred stock and capital securities
ratings of the Company.
Subpoenas. We received a subpoena from the SEC in February 2005 and a subpoena from the Ofﬁce
of the Attorney General of the State of New York in March 2005, each of which relates to the
industry-wide investigations into non-traditional, or loss mitigation, (re)insurance products. The
subpoena from the SEC also relates to the review referred to above and to our determination to
restate the Company’s ﬁnancial statements. We intend to cooperate with the SEC and the New York
Attorney General in these ongoing investigations.
CORPORATE STRATEGY
We will seek to generate growth in book value per share plus accumulated dividends for our
shareholders by pursuing the following strategic objectives:
•

Maintain our position as a leader in the property catastrophe reinsurance business. Based on
managed gross premiums written, we are among the largest property catastrophe reinsurers in the
world. Property catastrophe reinsurance accounts for a signiﬁcant portion of our business. We
believe that our proprietary modeling technology and underwriting expertise provide us with
signiﬁcant competitive advantages in managing catastrophe risk.

•

Enhance our position in the specialty reinsurance market. We have developed a leadership
position in certain specialty products, and we intend to maintain this as well as expand this
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franchise by pursuing new opportunities in other classes of business, particularly where there has
been a signiﬁcant market dislocation.
•

Pursue additional joint venture opportunities. Building upon our relationships and expertise in
modeling, underwriting and capital management, we intend to seek new joint venture and
investment opportunities, which may include new partners and diversifying classes of business.

•

Increase our position in the Individual Risk market. We plan to continue to expand our
Individual Risk business by increasing the number and size of our programs and by using
technology to help manage the business effectively, while keeping our infrastructure relatively
small and leveraging our modeling expertise and franchise value.

We believe we are positioned to fulﬁll these objectives by virtue of the experience and skill of our
management team, our signiﬁcant ﬁnancial strength, and our strong relationships with brokers and
clients. In addition, we believe our superior service, our proprietary modeling technology, and our
extensive business relationships which enabled us to become a leader in the property catastrophe
reinsurance market will be instrumental in allowing us to achieve our strategy.
BUSINESS SEGMENTS
We currently conduct our business through two reportable segments, Reinsurance and Individual Risk.
Financial data relating to our two segments is included in Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in our Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes presented under Item 8.
Reinsurance Segment
As described above, our Reinsurance operations are comprised of three components: 1) property
catastrophe reinsurance, primarily written through Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci; 2) specialty
reinsurance, primarily written through Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci; and 3) certain activities
of Ventures.
Our portfolio of business has continued to be increasingly characterized by a number of large ceding
companies with whom we do business. Accordingly, our written premiums are subject to signiﬁcant
ﬂuctuations depending on our success in maintaining or expanding our relationships with these large
customers.
Property Catastrophe Reinsurance
Our property catastrophe reinsurance contracts are generally ‘‘all risk’’ in nature. Our most signiﬁcant
exposure is to losses from earthquakes and hurricanes, although we are also exposed to claims arising
from other natural and man-made catastrophes, such as winter storms, freezes, ﬂoods, ﬁres, explosions,
tornadoes and terror events, in connection with the coverages we provide. Our predominant exposure
under such coverage is to property damage. However, other risks, including business interruption and
other non-property losses, may also be covered under our property reinsurance contracts when arising
from a covered peril.
Because of the wide range of possible catastrophic events to which we are exposed, and because of
the potential for multiple events to occur in the same time period, our catastrophe reinsurance
business is volatile, and our results of operations may reﬂect this volatility. Further, our ﬁnancial
condition may be impacted by this volatility over time or at any point in time. The effects of claims
from one or a number of severe catastrophic events could have a material adverse effect on us. We
expect that increases in the values and concentrations of insured property and the effects of inﬂation
will increase the severity of such occurrences in the future.
We seek to moderate the volatility described in the preceding paragraph through the use of contract
terms, portfolio selection methodology, diversiﬁcation and probability analyses. Also, consistent with
risk management practices, we seek to purchase reinsurance protection for our own account and to
effect other risk spreading transactions to seek to further reduce the potential volatility of our results.
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Catastrophe Excess of Loss Reinsurance. We write catastrophe excess of loss reinsurance, which
provides coverage to primary insurers when aggregate claims and claim expenses from a single
occurrence of a covered peril exceed the attachment point speciﬁed in a particular contract. Under
these contracts we indemnify an insurer for a portion of the losses on insurance policies in excess of a
speciﬁed loss amount, and up to an amount per loss speciﬁed in the contract.
A portion of our property catastrophe excess of loss contracts limit coverage to one occurrence in a
contract year, but most such contracts provide for coverage of a second occurrence after the payment
of a reinstatement premium. The coverage provided under excess of loss reinsurance contracts may be
on a worldwide basis or limited in scope to selected geographic areas. Coverage can also vary from
‘‘all property’’ perils to limited coverage on selected perils, such as ‘‘earthquake only’’ coverage.
Excess of Loss Retrocessional Reinsurance. We enter into retrocessional contracts that provide
property catastrophe coverage to other reinsurers or retrocedants. In providing retrocessional
reinsurance, we focus on property catastrophe retrocessional reinsurance which covers the retrocedant
on an excess of loss basis when aggregate claims and claim expenses from a single occurrence of a
covered peril and from a multiple number of reinsureds exceed a speciﬁed attachment point. The
coverage provided under excess of loss retrocessional contracts may be on a worldwide basis or
limited in scope to selected geographic areas. Coverage can also vary from ‘‘all property’’ perils to
limited coverage on selected perils, such as ‘‘earthquake only’’ coverage. Excess retrocessional
coverage is generally characterized by high volatility, principally because retrocessional contracts
expose a reinsurer to an aggregation of losses from a single catastrophic event. In addition, the
information available to retrocessional underwriters concerning the original primary risk can be less
precise than the information received from primary companies directly. Moreover, exposures from
retrocessional business can change within a contract term as the underwriters of a retrocedant alter
their book of business after retrocessional coverage has been bound.
Specialty Reinsurance
We write a number of lines of reinsurance such as catastrophe exposed workers’ compensation, surety,
terrorism and medical malpractice, which we collectively refer to as specialty reinsurance.
We believe that our underwriting and analytic capabilities have positioned us well to manage and
grow this business. Growth in this unit was robust in 2004, as gross written premiums increased 30%
year-on-year. Potential losses from many of these coverages could be characterized as low frequency
and high severity, similar to our catastrophe reinsurance coverages. We also seek to manage the
correlations of this business with our property catastrophe reinsurance portfolio. The professional staff
of our specialty reinsurance operations includes persons with underwriting, actuarial science and legal
experience.
Ventures
We pursue a number of other opportunities through Ventures, which has responsibility for managing
our joint venture relationships, executing customized reinsurance transactions to assume or cede risk
and managing certain investments directed at classes of risk other than catastrophe reinsurance. Our
professionals have experience across a range of disciplines, including accounting, investment banking
and law, as well as insurance and reinsurance.
Property Catastrophe-Oriented Joint Ventures. We actively manage property catastrophe-oriented
joint ventures, which provide us with additional presence in the market as well as fee income. They
allow us to leverage our access to business and our underwriting capabilities on a larger capital base.
Currently, our joint ventures are Top Layer Re and DaVinci. We are the exclusive underwriting
manager for each of Top Layer Re and DaVinci.
Top Layer Re writes high excess non-U.S. property catastrophe reinsurance. Top Layer Re is owned
50% by State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company (‘‘State Farm’’) and 50% by Renaissance
Reinsurance. State Farm provides $3.9 billion of stop loss reinsurance coverage to Top Layer Re.
DaVinci writes global reinsurance. In general, we seek to construct for DaVinci a property catastrophe
reinsurance portfolio with risk characteristics similar to those of Renaissance Reinsurance’s property
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catastrophe reinsurance portfolio. We also write certain lines of specialty reinsurance for DaVinci. We
owned 25.25% of DaVinci’s outstanding equity at December 31, 2004, but controlled a majority of its
outstanding voting power, and accordingly DaVinci’s ﬁnancial results are consolidated in our ﬁnancial
statements.
In these joint ventures, we typically provide our partners with underwriting, claims management, risk
modeling, capital and investment management services, marketing, reporting, remittances and
payments processing and other services. We work within agreed-upon underwriting guidelines, tailored
to our partners’ requirements, using the same techniques and systems for the underwriting as we apply
to our own portfolio. These relationships create fees for services and proﬁt sharing income for
Ventures and Renaissance Reinsurance. In turn, our joint ventures have increased the capital we can
commit to the catastrophe reinsurance market and have deepened our market penetration.
The following table shows our total managed property catastrophe and specialty reinsurance
premiums written:
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Property catastrophe
Written for Renaissance Reinsurance (1)
Written for DaVinci
Total property catastrophe premium (2)
Written for Top Layer Re
Total managed property catastrophe
premium (3)
Specialty
Written for Renaissance Reinsurance
Written for DaVinci
Total specialty premium
Total managed reinsurance premium (3)
Less: written for Top Layer Re
Total Reinsurance premiums written (2)

2004

2003

2002

$ 533,339
149,840

$ 488,124
155,541

$455,628
187,822

683,179
70,242

643,665
76,735

643,450
73,099

753,421

720,400

716,549

351,261
31,625

268,506
23,314

247,020
—

382,886

291,820

247,020

1,136,307
(70,242)

1,012,220
(76,735)

963,569
(73,099)

$1,066,065

$ 935,485

$890,470

(1) Includes gross premiums written through our subsidiary Overseas Partners Cat Ltd. (‘‘OP Cat’’),
which we purchased in 2002, of $4.6 million, $1.5 million and $38.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and which is consolidated into Renaissance
Reinsurance’s results.
(2) Excludes combined premium assumed from the Individual Risk segment of $18.8 million, $20.8
million and $22.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
(3) In addition to the GAAP ﬁnancial measures set forth in this Form 10-K, we have included certain
non-GAAP ﬁnancial measures in this Form 10-K within the meaning of Regulation G. We have
consistently provided these ﬁnancial measurements in previous ﬁlings and we believe that these
measurements are important to investors and other interested parties, and that investors and other
such persons beneﬁt from having a consistent basis for comparison with other companies within
the industry. These measures may not, however, be comparable to similarly titled measures used
by companies outside the insurance industry. Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance
on these non-GAAP measures in assessing our overall ﬁnancial performance.
We have included in this Form 10-K ‘‘managed property catastrophe premium’’ and ‘‘managed
reinsurance premium’’. ‘‘Managed property catastrophe premium’’ and ‘‘managed reinsurance
premium’’ are deﬁned as gross property catastrophe and gross reinsurance premium, respectively,
written by Renaissance Reinsurance and the joint ventures. ‘‘Managed property catastrophe
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premium’’ and ‘‘managed reinsurance premium’’ differ from total property catastrophe premium
and total reinsurance premium, respectively, which we believe are the most directly comparable
GAAP measures, due to the inclusion of catastrophe premium written on behalf of our joint
venture Top Layer Re which is accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
Customized Reinsurance Transactions. Ventures works on a range of other customized reinsurance
transactions. For example, we have participated in the market for catastrophe-linked securities. We
also offer products through which we cede participations in the performance of our catastrophe
reinsurance portfolio. We believe our products contain a number of customized features designed to
ﬁt the needs of our partners, as well as our risk management goals.
Business Development Joint Ventures and Other Investments. Ventures also pursues other types of
investments where, rather than assuming exclusive management responsibilities ourselves, we instead
partner with other market participants. The results of these investments are not included in the
Reinsurance segment results, but instead are included in the Other category of our segment results.
These investments are directed at classes of risk other than catastrophe, and at times may also be
directed at non-insurance risks. We ﬁnd these investments attractive both for their expected returns,
and also because they provide us diversiﬁcation beneﬁts and information and exposure to other
aspects of the market.
Examples of these investments include:
•

Channel Re – a Bermuda-based ﬁnancial guaranty reinsurer with ﬁnancial strength ratings of
Aaa from Moody’s and AAA from S&P. Channel Re was capitalized on February 12, 2004
with equity capital of approximately $366 million, of which RenaissanceRe contributed $120
million, or 32.7%. Channel Re assumed an approximate $27 billion portfolio of in-force
business from MBIA Inc., and certain of its afﬁliates, and will participate in its reinsurance
treaty and provide facultative reinsurance support. Channel Re has total claims-paying
resources of approximately $750 million.

•

Platinum – since its initial public offering in 2002 we have been an investor and also
provided modeling and referral services on a fee basis. At December 31, 2004, the fair value
of our common shares and warrant in Platinum was $150.5 million. During the fourth
quarter of 2004, a lockup provision on the warrant expired and as a result the warrant met
the deﬁnition of a derivative under FASB Statement No. 133 – ‘‘Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities’’ (‘‘FAS 133’’) and therefore changes in the fair value of
the warrant were recorded in other income starting in the fourth quarter of 2004.

•

An investment in a hedge fund that trades energy-related securities and derivatives, many of
which are inﬂuenced by weather conditions, and a private equity fund which invests in
energy-related companies. We invested $27.3 million in February 2004 and invested an
additional $30.0 million in December 2004. We have the option to invest an additional $27.7
million in these funds.

Individual Risk Segment
We deﬁne our Individual Risk segment to include underwriting that involves understanding the
individual exposure characteristics of the original underlying insurance policy. Our principal products
include: 1) commercial and homeowners property coverages, including catastrophe-exposed lines; 2)
commercial liability coverages, including general, automobile, professional and various specialty lines;
and 3) reinsurance of other insurers on a quota share basis.
We operate through the Glencoe Group of companies, whose principal operating subsidiaries are
Glencoe, Stonington and Lantana. Glencoe is a Bermuda-domiciled excess and surplus lines insurance
company and is currently eligible to do business on an excess and surplus lines basis in 51 U.S.
jurisdictions. Stonington, a Texas domiciled insurance company, is licensed on an admitted basis in all
50 states. Lantana is a Bermuda-domiciled insurance company currently eligible as an excess and
surplus lines carrier in 50 U.S. jurisdictions.
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Our Individual Risk business is produced primarily through three distribution channels:
1) Program managers – We write primary insurance through specialized program managers, who
produce business pursuant to agreed-upon underwriting guidelines and provide related back-ofﬁce
functions;
2) Quota share reinsurance – We write quota share reinsurance with primary insurers who, similar to
our program managers, provide most of the back-ofﬁce functions. Business is written pursuant to
agreed-upon guidelines; and
3) Brokers – We write primary insurance through brokers on a risk-by-risk basis; all underwriting
and back ofﬁce functions for this business are based in our ofﬁces in Bermuda while claims
handling is outsourced.
We oversee and monitor both our program managers and the third-party administrators whom we
have retained to manage our claims function. Our operations review team at Glencoe Group Services
Inc. consists of experienced industry professionals with backgrounds in information technology, claims
administration and litigation, actuarial science, legal matters, accounting and ﬁnancial controls. In
addition, we have retained underwriters who are based at the headquarters of certain of our program
managers and oversee compliance with our underwriting guidelines.
RATINGS
Over the last ﬁve years, we have consistently received high claims-paying and ﬁnancial strength ratings
from A.M. Best, S&P and Moody’s. These ratings represent independent opinions of an insurer’s
ﬁnancial strength and ability to meet policyholder obligations. See – ‘‘Recent Developments’’ for a
review of recent changes.
The ratings of our principal operating subsidiaries and joint ventures by segment and the senior debt
ratings of RenaissanceRe are as follows:

S&P

A.M. Best

A.M. Best
Financial Size
Category

AA− 3
A3
AA
—

A+ 4
A
A+
A+ 4

XIII
X
VII
XIII

A1 5
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
A3

A4
A4
A4
A4
—

IX
IX
IX
IX
—

—
—
—
—
A3 5

At March 1, 2005

REINSURANCE SEGMENT1
Renaissance Reinsurance
DaVinci
Top Layer Re
Renaissance Europe
INDIVIDUAL RISK SEGMENT1
Glencoe
Glencoe U.S.
Stonington
Lantana
RenaissanceRe2

Moody’s

1

The A.M. Best, S&P and Moody’s ratings for the companies in the Reinsurance and Individual
Risk segments reﬂect the insurer’s ﬁnancial strength rating (see explanation of the rating levels
below).

2

The S&P and Moody’s ratings for RenaissanceRe represent the credit ratings on its senior
unsecured debt.

3

Placed on Watch Negative on February 22, 2005.

4

Placed Under Review with Negative Implications on February 22, 2005.

5

Outlook revised to Negative on February 24, 2005.

S&P. The ‘‘AA’’ range (‘‘AA+’’, ‘‘AA’’, ‘‘AA-’’), which has been assigned by S&P to Renaissance
Reinsurance and Top Layer Re, is the second highest rating assigned by S&P, and indicates that S&P
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believes the insurer’s capacity to meet its ﬁnancial commitment on the obligation is very strong,
differing only slightly from those rated higher. The ‘‘A’’ range (‘‘A+’’, ‘‘A’’ and ‘‘A-’’) is the third
highest of four ratings ranges within what S&P considers the ‘‘secure’’ category. An insurer rated ‘‘A’’
is believed by S&P to have strong ﬁnancial security characteristics, but to be somewhat more likely to
be affected by business conditions than are insurers with higher ratings.
A.M. Best. ‘‘A+’’ is the second highest designation of A.M. Best’s sixteen rating levels. ‘‘A+’’ rated
insurance companies are deﬁned as ‘‘Superior’’ companies and are considered by A.M. Best to have a
very strong ability to meet their obligations to policyholders. ‘‘A’’ is the third highest designation
assigned by A.M. Best, representing A.M. Best’s opinion that the insurer has an excellent ability to
meet its ongoing obligations to policyholders.
A.M. Best also assigns a ﬁnancial size category to each of the insurance companies rated. ‘‘VII’’
represents a company with $50-$100 million in capital, ‘‘IX’’ represents a company with $250-$500
million in capital, ‘‘X’’ represents a company with $500-$750 million in capital and ‘‘XIII’’ represents a
company with $1.25 – $1.5 billion in capital.
Moody’s. Moody’s Insurance Financial Strength Ratings and Moody’s Credit Ratings represent its
opinions of the ability of insurance companies to repay punctually policyholder claims and obligations
and senior unsecured debt instruments. Moody’s believes that insurance companies rated A1, such as
Renaissance Reinsurance, and companies rated A3, such as RenaissanceRe, offer good ﬁnancial
security. However, Moody’s believes that elements may be present which suggest a susceptibility to
impairment sometime in the future.
UNDERWRITING
Reinsurance
Our primary underwriting goal is to construct a portfolio of reinsurance contracts that maximizes our
return on shareholders’ equity subject to prudent risk constraints. We assess each new reinsurance
contract on the basis of the expected incremental return relative to the incremental contribution to
portfolio risk.
We have developed a proprietary, computer-based pricing and exposure management system, REMS©.
REMS© was initially developed with consulting assistance from Tillinghast, an actuarial consulting unit
of Towers, Perrin, Forster & Crosby, and Applied Insurance Research, Inc., the developer of the
CATMAP(TM) system. Since inception, we have continued to invest in and improve REMS©,
incorporating our underwriting experience, additional proprietary software and a signiﬁcant amount of
new industry data. REMS© has analytic and modeling capabilities that help us to assess the risk and
return of each incremental reinsurance contract in relation to our overall portfolio of reinsurance
contracts. We combine the analyses generated by REMS© with other information available to us,
including our own knowledge of the client submitting the proposed program, to assess the premium
offered against the risk of loss which the program presents. We have licensed and integrated into
REMS© a number of third party catastrophe computer models in addition to our base model, which
we use to validate and stress test our base REMS© results. While REMS© is most developed in
analyzing catastrophe risks, it is also used for analyzing other classes of risk.
We believe that REMS© is a more robust underwriting and risk management system than is currently
commercially available elsewhere in the reinsurance industry. Before the Company binds any risk, a
signiﬁcant amount of exposure data is gathered from clients and this exposure data is input into the
REMS© modeling system. The REMS© modeling system enables the Company to measure each policy
on a consistent basis and provides the Company with a measurement of an appropriate price to charge
for each policy based upon the risk that is assumed. REMS© combines computer-generated statistical
simulations that estimate event probabilities with exposure and coverage information on each client’s
reinsurance contract to produce expected claims for reinsurance programs submitted to us. Our
models employ simulation techniques to generate 40,000 years of activity, including events causing in
excess of $300 billion in insured industry losses. From this simulation, we generate estimates of
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expected claims, expected proﬁts and a probability distribution of potential outcomes for each
program in our portfolio and for our total portfolio. REMS© allows us to score the contracts that we
write by comparing the expected proﬁt of a contract with the amount of capital that we allocate to the
contract based on its marginal impact on the risk of our portfolio. We have also customized REMS©
by including additional perils, risks and geographic areas that are not captured in the commercially
available models.
All of our reinsurance underwriters use REMS© in their pricing decisions, which we believe provides
them with several competitive advantages. These include the ability:
•

to simulate a greater number of years of catastrophic event activity compared to a much
smaller sample in generally available models, allowing us to analyze exposure to a greater
number and combination of potential events;

•

to analyze the incremental impact of an individual reinsurance contract on our overall
portfolio;

•

to better assess the underlying exposures associated with assumed retrocessional business;

•

to price contracts within a short time frame;

•

to capture various classes of risk, including catastrophe and other insurance risks;

•

to assess risk across multiple entities (including our various joint ventures) and across
different components of our capital structure; and

•

to provide consistent pricing information.

As part of our risk management process, we also use REMS© to assist us with the purchase of
reinsurance coverage for our own account.
We have developed underwriting guidelines, to be used in conjunction with REMS©, that limit the
exposure to claims from any single catastrophic event and the exposure to losses from a series of
catastrophic events. As part of our pricing and underwriting process, we also assess a variety of other
factors, including;
•

the reputation of the proposed cedant and the likelihood of establishing a long-term
relationship with the cedant;

•

the geographic area in which the cedant does business and its market share;

•

historical loss data for the cedant and, where available, for the industry as a whole in the
relevant regions, in order to compare the cedant’s historical catastrophe loss experience to
industry averages;

•

the cedant’s pricing strategies; and

•

the perceived ﬁnancial strength of the cedant.

In order to deﬁne the risk proﬁle of each line of specialty reinsurance, we establish probability
distributions and assess the correlations with the rest of our portfolio. In lines with catastrophe risk,
such as excess workers’ compensation, we are leveraging directly off our skill in modeling for our
property catastrophe reinsurance risks, and it is important to understand the correlations between
these specialty lines and our catastrophe reinsurance portfolio. For other classes of business, which
have little or no natural catastrophe exposure, and hence have signiﬁcantly less correlation with our
property catastrophe reinsurance coverages, probability distributions are derived from a variety of
underlying information, including recent historical experience, but with the application of judgment as
appropriate. The nature of some of these businesses lends itself less to the analysis that we use on our
property catastrophe reinsurance coverages, reﬂecting both the nature of available exposure
information, and the impact of human factors such as tort exposure. We produce probability
distributions to represent our underlying risks, which we believe helps us to make consistent
underwriting decisions, and manage our total risk portfolio. Overall we undertake to construct
conservative representations of the risks within our models.
12

Individual Risk
For our catastrophe exposed business in our Individual Risk segment, we utilize proprietary modeling
tools that have been developed in conjunction with the modeling and other resources utilized in our
Reinsurance operations, as described above. We also combine these analyses with those of our
Reinsurance segment to monitor our aggregate group catastrophic exposures.
For the business produced through program managers, we seek to carefully identify and evaluate
potential program managers. When evaluating a potential new program manager, we consider
numerous factors including: (i) whether the program manager can provide and help us analyze historic
loss and other business data; (ii) whether the program manager will bear proﬁt sharing risk and
provide us with the other terms and conditions we require; (iii) the integrity and experience of the
program manager; (iv) the potential proﬁtability of the program to us; and (v) the availability of our
internal resources to appropriately conduct due diligence, negotiate and execute transaction terms,
and provide the ongoing monitoring we require. In considering pricing for the products to be offered
by the program manager, we evaluate the expected frequency and severity of losses, the costs of
providing the necessary coverage (including the cost of administering policy beneﬁts, sales and other
administrative and overhead costs) and a margin for proﬁt.
We actively develop and maintain proprietary databases and models to support our underwriting and
provide value added services to our partners. These databases and models enable us to better identify
and estimate the expected loss experience of particular products and are employed in the design of
our products and the establishment of rates. We also monitor pricing adequacy on our products by
region, risk and producer. Subject to regulatory considerations, we seek to make timely premium and
coverage modiﬁcations where we determine them to be appropriate.
We provide our program managers with written underwriting guidelines and monitor their compliance
with our guidelines on a regular basis. Also, our contracts generally provide that a portion of the
commission payable to our program managers will be on a retrospective basis, which is intended to
permit us to adjust commissions based on our proﬁtability and claims experience. We rely on our
program managers to perform underwriting pursuant to these contractual guidelines, and believe we
beneﬁt from their superior local information and expertise in niche areas.
GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN
Our exposures are generally diversiﬁed across geographic zones, but are also a function of market
conditions and opportunities. The following table sets forth the percentage of our gross insurance and
reinsurance premiums written allocated to the territory of coverage exposure.
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Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2004

Gross
Premiums
Written

Property catastrophe reinsurance
United States and Caribbean
Europe
Worldwide
Worldwide (excluding U.S) (1)
Australia and New Zealand
Other
Specialty reinsurance (2)
Total Reinsurance (3)
Individual Risk (4)
Total gross premiums written

2003

Percentage
of Gross
Premiums
Written

$ 338,315
141,385
90,607
63,529
28,614
20,729
382,886
1,066,065
478,092
$1,544,157

Gross
Premiums
Written

2002

Percentage
of Gross
Premiums
Written

Gross
Premiums
Written

Percentage
of Gross
Premiums
Written

21.9% $ 297,954
9.1
156,156
5.9
126,541
4.1
14,968
1.9
26,588
1.3
21,458
24.8
291,820

21.6% $ 310,090
11.3
86,461
9.2
169,790
1.1
56,628
1.9
2,127
1.6
18,354
21.1
247,020

26.4%
7.4
14.5
4.8
0.2
1.6
21.1

69.0
31.0

67.7
32.3

76.0
24.0

935,485
446,724

100.0% $1,382,209

890,470
282,579

100.0% $1,173,049

100.0%

(1) The category ‘‘Worldwide (excluding U.S.)’’ consists of contracts that cover more than one
geographic region (other than the U.S.). The exposure in this category for gross written premiums
written to date is predominantly from Europe and Japan.
(2) The category Specialty reinsurance consists of contracts that are predominantly exposed to U.S.
risks, with a small portion of the risks being Worldwide.
(3) Excludes $18.8 million, $20.8 million and $22.2 million of premium assumed from the Individual
Risk segment in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
(4) The category Individual Risk consists of contracts that are primarily exposed to U.S. risks.
RESERVES FOR CLAIMS AND CLAIM EXPENSES
Reserves for claims and claim expenses represent estimates, including actuarial and statistical
projections at a given point in time, of an insurer’s or reinsurer’s expectations of the ultimate
settlement and administration costs of claims incurred. Such estimates are not precise in that, among
other things, they are based on predictions of future developments and estimates of future trends in
claim severity and frequency and other variable factors such as inﬂation. It is likely that our ultimate
liability in respect of these reserves will exceed or be less than our current estimates, possibly
materially.
For our property catastrophe reinsurance operations, we initially set our reserves for claims and claim
expenses based on case reserves and other reserve estimates reported by insureds and ceding
companies. We then add to these claims reserves, our estimates for additional case reserves and an
estimate for incurred but not reported (‘‘IBNR’’) reserves. These estimates are normally based upon
our experience with similar claims, our knowledge of potential industry loss levels for each loss, and
industry information which we gather and retain in our REMS© modeling system. The estimation of
claims resulting from catastrophic events is inherently difﬁcult because of the variability and
uncertainty associated with property catastrophe claims.
In reserving for our specialty reinsurance and Individual Risk coverages we currently do not have the
beneﬁt of a signiﬁcant amount of our own historical experience in these lines. Currently we estimate
our IBNR reserves for our specialty reinsurance and Individual Risk coverages by utilizing an
actuarial method known as the Bornhuetter-Ferguson technique. The utilization of the
Bornhuetter-Ferguson technique requires us to estimate an ultimate claims and claim expense ratio
and select an estimated loss reporting pattern for each line of business that we offer. We select our
estimates of the ultimate claims and claim expense ratios and estimated loss reporting patterns by
reviewing industry standards and adjusting these standards based upon the coverages and terms of
coverages that we offer.
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Because any reserve estimate is simply an insurer’s estimate of its ultimate liability, and since there are
numerous factors which affect reserves but cannot be determined with certainty in advance, our
ultimate payments will vary, perhaps materially, from our initial estimate of reserves. In response to
these inherent uncertainties, we have developed a reserving philosophy which attempts to incorporate
prudent assumptions and estimates. In recent years, we have experienced favorable adjustments to our
reserves, principally relating to catastrophe-exposed coverages. In future periods, assuming future
reported and paid claims activity is consistent with that of recent quarters, and barring unforeseen
circumstances, we believe that, as our reserves on older accident years continue to age, we may
experience further reductions to our older accident year reserves. However, there can be no assurance
that such reductions will occur.
All of our estimates are reviewed annually with an independent actuarial ﬁrm. We also review certain
assumptions and methodologies on a quarterly basis. If we determine that adjustments to an earlier
estimate are appropriate, such adjustments are recorded in the quarter in which they are identiﬁed.
Although we believe that we are cautious in our assumptions, and in the application of our
methodologies, we cannot be certain that our ultimate payments will not vary, perhaps materially,
from the estimates we have made. Adjustments to our claims reserves will increase current year net
income if our current estimates of prior year claims reserves are lower than the initial estimates or will
decrease net income if our current estimates of prior year claims reserves are greater than the initial
estimates.
We incurred net claims of $1,096.3 million, $369.2 million and $314.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Our total gross reserves for claims and claim
expenses was $1,459.4 million and $977.9 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The following table represents the development of our generally accepted accounting principles
(‘‘GAAP’’) balance sheet reserves for 1994 through December 31, 2004. This table does not present
accident or policy year development data. The top line of the table shows the gross reserves for claims
and claim expenses at the balance sheet date for each of the indicated years. This represents the
estimated amounts of claims and claim expenses arising in the current year and all prior years that are
unpaid at the balance sheet date, including IBNR reserves. The table also shows the re-estimated
amount of the previously recorded reserve based on experience as of the end of each succeeding year.
The estimate changes as more information becomes known about the frequency and severity of claims
for individual years. The ‘‘cumulative redundancy (deﬁciency) on net reserves’’ represents the
aggregate change to date from the indicated estimate of the gross reserve for claims and claim
expenses, net of losses recoverable on the second line of the table. The table also shows the
cumulative net paid amounts as of successive years with respect to the net reserve liability. At the
bottom of the table is a reconciliation of the gross reserve for claims and claim expenses to the net
reserve for claims and claim expenses, the gross re-estimated liability to the net re-estimated liability
for claims and claim expenses, and the cumulative redundancy (deﬁciency) on gross reserves.
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With respect to the information in the table below, it should be noted that each amount includes the effects of all
changes in amounts for prior periods.
Year ended December 31,
(in millions)

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

2003
(Restated)

2004

Gross reserve for claims and
claim expenses

$ 63.3

$100.4

$105.4

$110.0

$298.8

$478.6

$403.6

$572.9

$804.8

$977.9

$1,459.4

Reserve for claims and claim
expenses, net of losses
recoverable
1 Year Later
2 Years Later
3 Years Later
4 Years Later
5 Years Later
6 Years Later
7 Years Later
8 Years Later
9 Years Later
10 Years Later

63.3
98.5
98.9
103.4
107.9
107.3
111.9
111.6
106.5
105.2
104.4

100.4
112.3
112.9
118.6
110.1
114.2
113.6
108.5
107.3
106.2
—

105.4
105.4
109.4
87.3
90.0
89.5
83.8
81.9
80.1
—
—

110.0
95.1
61.8
58.2
56.8
51.1
48.2
45.6
—
—
—

197.5
149.5
149.9
141.3
118.6
117.8
111.4
—
—
—
—

174.9
196.8
168.4
121.7
111.1
81.9
—
—
—
—
—

237.0
221.0
168.4
138.6
107.7
—
—
—
—
—
—

355.3
378.3
344.7
308.0
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

605.3
511.6
470.5
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

828.7
688.4
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

1,241.6
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$ (41.1) $ (5.8) $ 25.3

$ 64.4

$ 86.1

$ 93.0

$129.3

$ 47.3

$134.8

$140.3

88.1
152.0
111.6
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

81.9
90.2
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

64.1
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Cumulative redundancy
(deﬁciency) on net reserves
Cumulative Net Paid Losses
1 Year Later
2 Years Later
3 Years Later
4 Years Later
5 Years Later
6 Years Later
7 Years Later
8 Years Later
9 Years Later
10 Years Later
Gross reserve for claims and
claim expenses
Reinsurance recoverable on
unpaid losses

55.2
76.4
86.4
91.4
94.3
95.3
95.9
96.8
97.0
—

40.7
54.7
60.6
64.1
65.3
66.3
67.1
67.4
—
—

16.9
24.7
28.4
29.8
31.0
31.9
32.3
—
—
—

54.8
80.1
69.6
69.1
69.5
72.5
—
—
—
—

63.3

100.4

105.4

110.0

298.8

478.6

403.6

572.9

804.8

977.9

1,459.4

—

—

—

—

101.3

303.7

166.6

217.6

199.5

149.2

217.8

63.3

100.4

105.4

110.0

197.5

174.9

237.0

355.3

605.3

828.7

1,241.6

Gross liability re-estimated
Reinsurance recoverable on
unpaid losses re-estimated

104.4

106.2

80.1

45.6

305.2

443.2

306.7

497.9

650.3

847.4

—

—

—

—

193.9

361.4

199.0

189.8

179.8

159.0

Net liability re-estimated

104.4

106.2

80.1

45.6

111.4

81.9

107.7

308.0

470.5

688.4

$ (41.1) $ (5.8) $ 25.3

$ 64.4

$ (6.4) $ 35.4

$ 96.9

$ 75.0

$156.3

$130.5

Cumulative redundancy
(deﬁciency) on gross reserves

16

11.1
0.3
3.2
(7.9)
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

47.7
65.7
84.6
92.1
95.1
97.9
98.3
99.0
99.8
100.0

Net reserve for claims and claim
expenses

24.6
16.0
1.2
2.7
(9.0)
—
—
—
—
—

$

Our largest product has historically been property catastrophe reinsurance where we have exposure to
natural and man-made disasters, such as earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, winter storms, freezes,
ﬂoods, ﬁres, tornadoes and other natural and man-made disasters, such as terrorism. The estimation of
claims resulting from catastrophic events is inherently difﬁcult because of the variability and
uncertainty associated with property catastrophe claims. Because any reserve estimate is simply an
insurer’s estimate of its ultimate liability, and since there are numerous factors which affect reserves
but cannot be determined with certainty in advance, our ultimate payments will vary, perhaps
materially, from our initial estimate of reserves. Therefore, in response to these inherent uncertainties,
we have developed a reserving philosophy which attempts to incorporate prudent assumptions and
estimates. In recent years, we have experienced favorable adjustments to our reserves, principally
relating to catastrophe-exposed coverages. In future periods, assuming future reported and paid claims
activity is consistent with that of recent quarters, and barring unforeseen circumstances, we believe
that, as our reserves on older accident years continue to age, we may experience further reductions to
our older accident year reserves. However, there can be no assurance that such reductions will occur.
The following table presents an analysis of our paid, unpaid and incurred losses and loss expenses and
a reconciliation of beginning and ending reserves for claims and claims expenses for the years
indicated.
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Net reserves as of January 1
Net reserves assumed (released) in acquisition
(sale) of subsidiary

2004

2003
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

$ 828,691

$605,262

$355,321

—

(2,090)

33,579

Net incurred related to:
Current year
Prior years

1,236,565
(140,266)

462,816
(93,635)

291,520
23,005

Total net incurred

1,096,299

369,181

314,525

Net paid related to:
Current year
Prior years

619,239
64,141

61,770
81,892

10,017
88,146

Total net paid

683,380

143,662

98,163

Total net reserves as of December 31
Losses recoverable as of December 31

1,241,610
217,788

828,691
149,201

605,262
199,533

Total gross reserves as of December 31

$1,459,398

$977,892

$804,795

The prior year favorable reserve development in 2004 of $140.3 million included $113.9 million
attributable to our Reinsurance segment and $26.4 million attributable to our Individual Risk
segment. The reduction in prior years’ estimated ultimate claims reserves in our Reinsurance segment
was primarily due to a re-estimation of our ultimate losses associated with six large catastrophe
events, which produced a reduction of approximately $31.3 million, a $23.0 million reduction in
reserves from numerous smaller catastrophe events and $46.8 million in reductions from our specialty
book of business. The reductions in our reserves for the smaller catastrophe events, the reserves for
the specialty book of business and the reserves for our Individual Risk segment were driven by the
application of our formulaic methodology used for these books of business and is primarily due to the
actual paid and reported loss activity being better than what we anticipated when setting the initial
IBNR reserves.
As at December 31, 2003, the prior year net favorable reserve development in 2003 of $93.6 million
was primarily due to favorable reserve development of $68.7 million in our Reinsurance segment and
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$24.9 million in our Individual Risk segment. Within the Reinsurance segment our property
catastrophe line of business recorded $60.6 million in favorable reserve development. This was driven
by reductions in the estimated losses on relatively small catastrophes for the 1999 through 2002
accident years. The largest net favorable reserve development on a single event was $5.1 million which
related to the reduction in the ultimate cost to settle net claims arising from the European ﬂoods of
2002. Our specialty line of business within the Reinsurance segment had favorable reserve
development of $8.1 million in 2003 which was principally driven by reductions from the 2002 accident
year. Our Individual Risk segment had favorable reserve development of $24.9 million in 2003 which
was driven by favorable reserve development in the 2002 accident year associated with the Company’s
Bermuda-based property business.
Net claims and claim expenses incurred were reduced by $0.8 million during 2004 (2003 – $23.0
million) related to income earned on assumed reinsurance contracts that were classiﬁed as deposit
contracts with underwriting risk only. Other income was reduced by $1.1 million during 2004 (2003 –
$nil) related to losses incurred on assumed reinsurance contracts that were classiﬁed as deposit
contracts with timing risk only. A deposit liability of $109.3 million is included in reinsurance balances
payable at December 31, 2004 (2003 – $80.0 million) and a deposit asset of $6.3 million is included in
other assets at December 31, 2004 (2003 – $nil).
Our gross case reserves and IBNR by line of business at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
At December 31, 2004
(in thousands)

Property catastrophe reinsurance
Specialty reinsurance
Total Reinsurance
Individual Risk
Total

Case Reserves (1)

IBNR

Total

$263,541
107,090

$330,744
419,917

$ 594,285
527,007

370,631
138,285

750,661
199,821

1,121,292
338,106

$508,916

$950,482

$1,459,398

$196,477
88,899

$238,021
256,630

$ 434,498
345,529

285,376
95,930

494,651
101,935

780,027
197,865

$381,306

$596,586

$ 977,892

At December 31, 2003

Property catastrophe reinsurance
Specialty reinsurance
Total Reinsurance
Individual Risk
Total

(1) Case reserves include our estimate of case reserves for insurance policies, case reserves reported
by our counterparties for reinsurance contracts, and additional case reserves for reinsurance
contracts, which represent additional case reserves established by management.
Of the total case reserve amounts above, the amount reported by ceding enterprises was $326.8
million at December 31, 2004 and $244.0 million at December 31, 2003. The remaining balance
represents additional case reserve estimates established by management.
At December 31, 2004, our estimated IBNR reserves were $950.5 million, and a 5% adjustment to our
IBNR reserves, would equate to a $47.5 million adjustment to net claims and claim expenses incurred,
which represents 28.9% of our 2004 net income, and 1.8% of shareholders’ equity at December 31,
2004.
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INVESTMENTS
The table below shows our portfolio of invested assets:
At December 31,
(in thousands)

2004

2003

$ 919,013
209,984
1,177,679
561,550
355,066

$ 799,311
290,357
846,376
215,363
796,434

Subtotal
Short-term investments, at cost
Other investments, at fair value

3,223,292
608,292
684,590

2,947,841
660,564
369,242

Total managed investment portfolio
Equity investments in reinsurance companies, at fair value
Investments in other ventures, under equity method

4,516,174
150,519
159,556

3,977,647
145,535
35,899

$4,826,249

$4,159,081

Type of investment
Fixed maturities available for sale, at fair value
U.S. treasuries and agencies
Non-U.S. government
Corporate
Mortgage-backed
Asset-backed

Total investments

At December 31, 2004, we held investments totaling $4.8 billion, compared to $4.2 billion at
December 31, 2003, with net unrealized appreciation of $79.0 million at December 31, 2004, compared
to $113.4 million at December 31, 2003. Our investment guidelines, which are approved by our Board,
stress preservation of capital, market liquidity, and diversiﬁcation of risk. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, our investments are subject to market-wide risks and ﬂuctuations, as well as to risks
inherent in particular securities.
The large majority of our investment portfolios consists of highly rated ﬁxed income securities;
however, over time we have increased our exposure to other investments, including hedge funds,
private equity partnerships and other investments. At December 31, 2004 these other investments
totaled $684.6 million (2003 – $369.2 million) or 14.2% (2003 – 8.9%) of our total investments. It is
likely that we will increase our holdings of other investments in the future.
At December 31, 2003 our non-investment grade ﬁxed maturity investments totaled $309.5 million or
10.5% of our total ﬁxed maturity investments, and at December 31, 2004 these non-investment grade
ﬁxed maturity investments totaled $269.9 million or 8.4% of our ﬁxed maturity investments. At
December 31, 2004, our ﬁxed maturities and short-term investment portfolio had a dollar-weighted
average credit quality rating of AA. At December 31, 2004, our average yield to maturity was 3.3%
(2003 – 2.7%) before investment expenses.
We currently have a target duration of 2.75 – 3.00 years for our ﬁxed maturities and short-term
investments. Our duration at December 31, 2004 was 2.2 years (2003 – 2.0 years), reﬂecting our view
that the current level of rates affords inadequate compensation for the assumption of additional
interest rate risk. From time to time, we may reevaluate the target duration in light of our liabilities
and market conditions.
As with other ﬁxed income investments, the value of our ﬁxed maturity investments will ﬂuctuate with
changes in the interest rate environment and when changes occur in the overall investment market
and in overall economic conditions. Additionally, our differing asset classes expose us to other risks
which could cause a reduction in the value of our investments. Examples of some of these risks
include:
•

Changes in the overall interest rate environment can expose us to ‘‘prepayment risk’’ on our
mortgage-backed investments. When interest rates decline, consumers will generally make
prepayments on their mortgages and, as a result, our investments in mortgage-backed securities
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will be repaid to us more quickly than we might have originally anticipated. When we receive
these prepayments, our opportunities to reinvest these proceeds back into the investment markets
will normally be at reduced interest rates.
•

Our investments in debt securities of other corporations are exposed to losses from insolvencies of
these corporations, and our investment portfolio can also deteriorate based on reduced credit
quality of these corporations.

•

Our investments in asset-backed securities are subject to prepayment risks, as noted above, and to
the structural risks of these securities. The structural risks primarily emanate from the priority of
each security in the issuer’s overall capital structure.

The following table summarizes the fair value by contractual maturities of our ﬁxed maturity
investment portfolio at the dates indicated. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities
because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without penalty.
At December 31,
(in thousands)

Due
Due
Due
Due
U.S.
U.S.

2004

2003

in less than one year
after one through ﬁve years
after ﬁve through ten years
after ten years
mortgage-backed securities
asset-backed securities

$ 77,746
1,495,073
539,040
194,817
561,550
355,066

$ 24,912
1,469,428
296,796
144,908
215,363
796,434

Total

$3,223,292

$2,947,841

The following table summarizes the composition of the fair value of the ﬁxed maturity portfolio at the
dates indicated by ratings as assigned by S&P or Moody’s.
At December 31,

2004

2003

AAA
AA
A
BBB
BB
B
CCC
CC
D
NR

68.0%
8.7
7.7
7.2
2.6
3.3
1.3
0.0
0.1
1.1

69.0%
8.8
5.8
5.9
2.5
4.9
1.9
0.5
0.1
0.6

100.0%

100.0%

The Company’s ﬁxed maturity investments are classiﬁed as available for sale and are reported at fair
value. The net unrealized appreciation or depreciation on these investments is included in
accumulated other comprehensive income. Net investment income includes interest income together
with amortization of market premiums and discounts and is net of investment management and
custody fees. The amortization of premium and accretion of discount for ﬁxed maturity investments is
computed using the effective yield method. Fair values of ﬁxed maturity investments are based on
quoted market prices, or when such prices are not available, by reference to broker or underwriter bid
indications and/or internal pricing valuation techniques.
Realized gains or losses on the sale of ﬁxed maturity investments are determined using the average
cost method and include adjustments to the cost for declines in value that are considered to be other
than temporary. The Company routinely assesses whether declines in the fair value of its ﬁxed
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maturity investments below cost represent impairments that are other than temporary. There are
several factors that are considered in the assessment of a security, which include (i) the time period
during which there has been a signiﬁcant decline below cost, (ii) the extent of the decline below cost,
(iii) the Company’s intent and ability to hold the security, (iv) the potential for the security to recover
in value, (v) an analysis of the ﬁnancial condition of the issuer and (vi) an analysis of the collateral
structure and credit support of the security, if applicable. Where the Company has determined that
there is an other than temporary decline in the fair value of the security, the cost of the security is
written down to the fair value and the unrealized loss at the time of the determination is charged to
income.
The following table presents an analysis of the continuous periods during which the Company has
held ﬁxed maturity investment positions which were carried at an unrealized loss as of December 31,
2004 and 2003:
0–6
Months

6 – 12
Months

> 12
Months

Total

384
$1,431,546
1,437,672

303
$276,453
279,534

137
$63,046
63,837

824
$1,771,045
1,781,043

$

$ (3,081)

$ (791)

$

At December 31, 2004
(in thousands, except number of positions)

Fixed maturity investments:
Number of positions
Market value
Amortized cost
Gross unrealized loss

At December 31, 2004

Fixed maturity investments:
Number of positions
Market value
Amortized cost
Gross unrealized loss

(6,126)

(9,998)

0–6
Months

6 – 12
Months

> 12
Months

Total

355
$392,451
395,014

68
$114,003
115,956

7
$2,850
3,332

430
$509,304
514,302

$ (2,563)

$ (1,953)

$ (482)

$ (4,998)

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company experienced $1.2 million (2003 – $0.2
million) in other than temporary impairment charges.
Other Investments
The table below shows our portfolio of other investments:
At December 31,
(in thousands)

Type of investment
Hedge funds
Senior secured bank loan fund
European high yield credit fund
Private equity partnerships
Medium term note representing an interest in a pool of
European ﬁxed income securities
Non-US convertible fund
Miscellaneous other investments
Total other investments

2004

2003

$293,462
116,560
87,689
82,381

$170,116
77,249
38,333
24,169

50,000
28,214
26,284

30,000
—
29,375

$684,590

$369,242

The fair value of certain of our other investments is generally established on the basis of the net
valuation criteria established by the managers of such investments. These net valuations are
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determined based upon the valuation criteria established by the governing documents of such
investments. Such valuations may differ signiﬁcantly from the values that would have been used had
ready markets existed for the shares, partnership interests or notes. Many of the investments are
subject to restrictions on redemptions and sale which are determined by the governing documents and
limit our ability to liquidate these investments in the short term. Due to a lag in the valuations
reported by the fund managers, the majority of our hedge fund and private equity partnership
valuations are reported on a one month or one quarter lag. Interest income, income distributions and
realized and unrealized gains and losses on other investments are included in net investment income
and totaled $46.9 million (2003 – $25.9 million) of which $24.4 million (2003 – $21.2 million) was
related to net unrealized gains.
We have committed capital to private equity partnerships of $260.2 million, of which $83.2 million was
contributed at December 31, 2004.
Equity Investments in Reinsurance Company. The equity investments in reinsurance company relate
to our November 1, 2002 purchase of 3,960,000 common shares of Platinum in a private placement
transaction. In addition, we received a 10-year warrant to purchase up to 2.5 million additional
common shares of Platinum for $27.00 per share. We purchased the common shares and warrant for
an aggregate price of $84.2 million. At December 31, 2004, we owned (exclusive of the warrant) 9.2%
of Platinum’s outstanding common shares. We have recorded our investment in Platinum at fair value,
and at December 31, 2004 the aggregate fair value was $150.5 million (2003 – $145.5 million). The fair
value of the common shares is based on the market price of Platinum’s shares as at the balance sheet
date. The fair value of the warrant is estimated by us using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
The aggregate unrealized gain of $38.9 million (2003 – $34.6 million) on the Platinum common shares
is included in accumulated other comprehensive income in our consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
During the fourth quarter of 2004, a lockup provision on the warrant expired and as a result the
warrant met the deﬁnition of a derivative under FAS 133 and therefore changes in the fair value of
the warrant were recorded prospectively in other income from November 2004. At December 31,
2004, $27.4 million was recorded in other income representing the unrealized gain on the warrant.
This includes a $23.8 million one-time reclassiﬁcation from other comprehensive income to other
income which occurred during the fourth quarter of 2004 with the $3.6 million remainder being the
increase in fair value from November 2004. At December 31, 2003, the aggregate unrealized gain on
the Platinum warrant was $26.7 million which was included in other comprehensive income.
Investments in Other Ventures, under Equity Method. Investment in other ventures, under equity
method includes our investment in Channel Re of $128.5 million (2003 – $1.0 million), which is carried
using the equity method. We invested $119.7 million in Channel Re and our earnings from Channel
Re, which are reported one quarter in arrears, totaled $9.8 million in 2004 (2003 – $nil) and are
included in other income. Investments in other ventures, under equity method also includes our
investment in Top Layer Re of $31.1 million (2003 – $34.9 million), which is 50% owned by
Renaissance Reinsurance and is carried using the equity method. Our earnings from Top Layer Re
totaled $17.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 (2003 – $21.2 million) and are included in
other income. In addition, in 2004 the Company also invested in a joint venture focused on trading
weather-sensitive commodities and securities, the earnings from which were included in other income
until the third quarter of 2004. As a result of the restructuring of the joint venture as at July 1, 2004,
the balance of the investment was recorded in other investments and the income from the investment
was recorded in investment income for the remainder of the year. The earnings from this investment
recorded in other income totaled $3.9 million in 2004.
RIHL. In 2002, we commenced utilization of our subsidiary RIHL, a Bermuda company we
organized for the primary purpose of holding the investments in high quality marketable securities of
RenaissanceRe, our operating subsidiaries and certain of our joint venture afﬁliates. RIHL permits us
to consolidate and substantially facilitate our investment management operations. RenaissanceRe and
each of our participating operating subsidiaries and afﬁliates has transferred to RIHL marketable
securities or other assets, in return for a subscription of RIHL equity interests. Each RIHL share is
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redeemable for cash or in marketable securities. Over time, the participants in RIHL are expected to
both subscribe for additional shares and redeem outstanding shares, as our and their respective
liquidity needs change.
As a result of the high quality of the assets transferred to and maintained by it, RIHL has been rated
AAAf/S2 by S&P. We have exclusive responsibility for managing the day-to-day affairs of RIHL and
have sole management responsibility over its portfolio. Mellon Bank, N.A., provides RIHL with
certain custodial functions, including custody of its outstanding shares and valuation of its assets.
Under the terms of certain reinsurance contracts, certain of our subsidiaries and joint ventures may be
required to provide letters of credit to reinsureds in respect of reported claims and/or unearned
premiums. As described below under ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations – Summary of Results of Operations for 2004, 2003 and 2002 – Capital
Resources,’’ we maintain a facility which, as of January 18, 2005, makes available to our operating
subsidiaries and joint ventures letters of credit having an aggregate face amount not to exceed $850
million. To support the facility, our participating operating subsidiaries and joint ventures have
pledged RIHL shares and other securities owned by them as collateral. We had outstanding letters of
credit of $670.6 million at December 31, 2004 (2003 – $384.4 million).
COMPETITION
The insurance and reinsurance industries are highly competitive and, provided that a company has
sufﬁcient capital and necessary management expertise, the barriers to entry into the reinsurance
markets are not signiﬁcant.
With total managed catastrophe premiums written of $753.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2004, we are one of the largest providers of property catastrophe reinsurance in the world. Our
principal competition in the industry comes from major U.S. and non-U.S. insurers and reinsurers,
including other Bermuda-based reinsurers. Though these companies offer property catastrophe
reinsurance, in many cases it accounts for a relatively small percentage of their total portfolio. Our
competition with respect to our specialty reinsurance business generally also comes from the same
U.S. and non-U.S. insurers and reinsurers.
In our Individual Risk business, we face competition from independent insurance companies,
subsidiaries or afﬁliates of major worldwide companies and others, some of which have greater
ﬁnancial and other resources than we do. Primary insurers compete on the basis of various factors
including distribution channels, product, price, service, ﬁnancial strength and reputation.
The reinsurance markets are continuing to accumulate capital by retaining proﬁts. Also, hedge funds
have shown increasing interest in entering the reinsurance market, either through the formation of
reinsurance companies, or through the use of other ﬁnancial products.
Following the World Trade Center disaster, a number of new companies were formed to compete in
the reinsurance and specialty insurance markets. A number of these new companies were formed in
Bermuda. In addition, a number of existing market participants raised new capital, thereby
strengthening their ability to compete.
We are also aware of many potential initiatives by capital market participants to produce alternative
products that may compete with the existing catastrophe reinsurance markets. Among other matters,
over the last several years capital markets participants, including exchanges and ﬁnancial
intermediaries, have developed ﬁnancial products intended to compete with traditional reinsurance. In
addition, the tax policies of the countries where our clients operate can affect demand for reinsurance.
We are unable to predict the extent to which the foregoing new, proposed or potential initiatives may
affect the demand for our products or the risks which may be available for us to consider offering
coverage.
INDUSTRY TRENDS
The reinsurance and insurance industries have been markedly cyclical, characterized by periods of
decreasing prices followed by periods of increasing prices. The pricing environment is inﬂuenced by
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changes, sometimes substantial, in the level of both demand and supply of insurance or reinsurance;
often these changes are the result of changes in the perception of risk following large industry loss
events. In particular, the catastrophe-exposed lines in which we are a market leader are affected
signiﬁcantly by volatile and unpredictable developments, including natural and man-made disasters,
such as hurricanes, windstorms, earthquakes, ﬂoods, ﬁres, explosions, and acts of terrorism, such as the
World Trade Center disaster. The occurrence, or nonoccurrence, of catastrophic events, the frequency
and severity of which are inherently unpredictable, affects both industry results and consequently
prevailing market prices of our products.
The following are certain industry trends we have observed:
•

The property markets are becoming increasingly competitive, despite the occurrence of various
natural disasters in 2004, partially due to the increase in capital of new and existing market
participants. Accordingly, there are price declines in many markets.

•

Prices in the specialty reinsurance markets are also generally declining. However, we continue to
ﬁnd opportunities in a small number of large transactions that are speciﬁc to our close
relationships with our clients.

•

In our Individual Risk business, there is continued softening in the commercial property markets.
However, we continue to see opportunities in select lines of business.

•

The long term credit quality of insurance and reinsurance companies, and the related credit
ratings of those companies are becoming an increasing concern of many insurance and reinsurance
customers. We believe this will offer opportunities to companies such as ours with strong credit
ratings, a seasoned management team, and a history of successful performance.

A substantial amount of capital has entered the insurance and reinsurance markets both through
investments in established companies and through start-up ventures. Also, as noted above, hedge
funds have been increasingly active in the reinsurance market and markets for related risks. It is
possible that the new capital in the market could cause further reductions in prices of our products.
To the extent that industry pricing of our products does not meet our hurdle rate, we would plan to
reduce our future underwriting activities thus resulting in reduced premiums and a reduction in
expected earnings. A reduction in our underwriting activities could result in excess capital which we
may return to our shareholders by way of share repurchases. We currently have Board authorization
to repurchase up to $150 million of shares. Any such repurchase will be subject to market conditions
and other factors.
MARKETING
Reinsurance
We believe that our modeling and technical expertise, and the risk management advice that we
provide to our clients, has enabled us to become a provider of ﬁrst choice to our insurers and
reinsurers worldwide. We market our Reinsurance products worldwide exclusively through reinsurance
brokers. We focus our marketing efforts on targeted brokers and insurance and reinsurance
companies. We believe that our existing portfolio of business is a valuable asset and, therefore, we
attempt to continually strengthen relationships with our existing brokers and clients. We target
prospects that are capable of supplying detailed and accurate underwriting data and that potentially
add further diversiﬁcation to our book of business.
We believe that primary insurers’ and brokers’ willingness to use a particular reinsurer is based not
just on pricing, but also on the ﬁnancial security of the reinsurer, its claim paying ability ratings, the
quality of a reinsurer’s service, the reinsurer’s willingness to design customized programs, its long-term
stability and its commitment to provide reinsurance capacity. We have established a reputation with
our brokers and clients for prompt response on underwriting submissions, fast claims payments and a
reputation for providing creative solutions to our customers’ needs. Since we selectively write large
lines on a limited number of property catastrophe reinsurance contracts, we can establish reinsurance
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terms and conditions on those contracts that are attractive in our judgment, make large commitments
to the most attractive programs and provide superior client responsiveness. We believe that our ability
to design customized programs and to provide advice on catastrophe risk management has helped us
to develop long-term relationships with brokers and clients.
Our reinsurance brokers assess client needs and perform data collection, contract preparation and
other administrative tasks, enabling us to market our reinsurance products cost effectively by
maintaining a smaller staff. We believe that by maintaining close relationships with brokers, we are
able to obtain access to a broad range of potential reinsureds. Subsidiaries and afﬁliates of Marsh Inc.,
the Benﬁeld Group Limited, the Willis Group and AON Corporation accounted for approximately
27.2%, 25.1%, 17.2% and 12.7%, respectively, of our gross reinsurance premiums written in 2004.
During 2004, our Reinsurance operations issued authorization for coverage on programs submitted by
46 brokers worldwide (2003 – 53 brokers). We received approximately 1,800 program submissions
during 2004 (2003 – approximately 2,100). Of these submissions, we issued authorizations for coverage
for over 630 programs, or approximately 35% of the program submissions received (2003 –
approximately 660 programs, or approximately 31%).
Individual Risk
Our Individual Risk products are offered through a select number of specialized program managers
and through brokered quota share relationships with other insurance companies. Our Individual Risk
products are also marketed through a diverse group of surplus lines brokers operating primarily in
catastrophe-exposed states. Our ﬁnancial security ratings, combined with our reputation in the
reinsurance marketplace, have enhanced our presence in the Individual Risk markets. Our
Individual Risk operations are structured to create and maintain a comprehensive database of
catastrophe-exposed property risks.
In our program business opportunities, we establish relationships with program managers, providing
them with modeling expertise and risk analysis. We strive to work closely with these program
managers, with the goal of obtaining a long-term competitive advantage in their respective niche
markets. We believe that our existing program managers are an important source of referrals and
endorsements of our unique approach.
We have also partnered with a limited number of insurance companies on a quota-share reinsurance
basis. In most cases, catastrophe risk is a substantial component of the risk and we assist in evaluating
and managing this risk.
EMPLOYEES
At December 31, 2004, we and our subsidiaries employed 156 people. We believe that our strong
employee relations are among our most signiﬁcant strengths. None of our employees are subject to
collective bargaining agreements. We are not aware of any current efforts to implement such
agreements at any of our subsidiaries.
A majority of our employees receive some form of equity-based incentive compensation as part of
their overall compensation package. At March 1, 2005, our directors and executive ofﬁcers beneﬁcially
owned approximately 8.9% of our outstanding common shares. In addition, all of our directors and
executive ofﬁcers are subject to stock ownership guidelines that require each to hold a speciﬁed
amount of stock.
Many of our Bermuda-based employees, including a majority of our senior executives, are employed
pursuant to work permits granted by the Bermuda authorities. These permits expire at various times
over the next few years. Bermuda government policy limits the duration of work permits to a total of
six years, which is subject to certain exemptions for key employees.
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REGULATION
Bermuda Regulation
Registration. The Insurance Act 1978, as amended, and Related Regulations (the ‘‘Insurance Act’’),
which regulates the business of our Bermuda insurance subsidiaries, provides that no person may
carry on an insurance business (including the business of reinsurance) in or from within Bermuda
unless registered as an insurer under the Insurance Act by the Bermuda Monetary Authority (the
‘‘BMA’’). Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci are registered as Class 4 insurers, and Glencoe,
Lantana and Top Layer Re are registered as Class 3 insurers under the Insurance Act. The BMA, in
deciding whether to grant registration, has broad discretion to act as it thinks ﬁt in the public interest.
The BMA is required by the Insurance Act to determine whether the applicant is a ﬁt and proper
body to be engaged in the insurance business and, in particular, whether it has, or has available to it,
adequate knowledge and expertise. In connection with the applicant’s registration, the BMA may
impose conditions relating to the writing of certain types of insurance. Further, the Insurance Act
stipulates that no person shall, in or from within Bermuda, act as an insurance manager, broker, agent
or salesman unless registered for the purpose by the BMA. Ventures is registered as an insurance
manager under the Insurance Act.
An Insurance Advisory Committee appointed by the Bermuda Minister of Finance (‘‘the Minister’’)
advises the BMA on matters connected with the discharge of its functions, and sub-committees
thereof supervise and review the law and practice of insurance in Bermuda, including reviews of
accounting and administrative procedures.
The Insurance Act imposes on Bermuda insurance companies solvency and liquidity standards and
auditing and reporting requirements and grants to the BMA powers to supervise, investigate and
intervene in the affairs of insurance companies. Certain signiﬁcant aspects of the Bermuda insurance
regulatory framework are set forth below.
Cancellation of Insurer’s Registration. An insurer’s registration may be canceled by the BMA on
certain grounds speciﬁed in the Insurance Act, including failure of the insurer to comply with a
requirement made of it under the Insurance Act or, if in the opinion of the BMA, after consultation
with the Insurance Advisory Committee, the insurer has not been carrying on business in accordance
with sound insurance principles.
Independent Approved Auditor. Every registered insurer must appoint an independent auditor who
will annually audit and report on the Statutory Financial Statements and the Statutory Financial
Return of the insurer, both of which, in the case of each of a Class 3 insurer and a Class 4 insurer, are
required to be ﬁled annually with the BMA. The auditor must be approved by the BMA as the
independent auditor of the insurer. If the insurer fails to appoint an approved auditor or at any time
fails to ﬁll a vacancy for such auditor, the BMA may appoint an approved auditor for the insurer and
shall ﬁx the remuneration to be paid to the approved auditor within fourteen days, if not agreed
sooner by the insurer and the auditor. The approved auditor may be the same person or ﬁrm which
audits the insurer’s ﬁnancial statements and reports for presentation to its shareholders.
Loss Reserve Specialist. Each Class 3 and Class 4 insurer is required to submit an annual loss reserve
opinion when ﬁling the Annual Statutory Financial Return. This opinion must be issued by the
insurer’s approved Loss Reserve Specialist. The Loss Reserve Specialist, who will normally be a
qualiﬁed casualty actuary, must be approved by the BMA.
Statutory Financial Statements. An insurer must prepare annual Statutory Financial Statements. The
Insurance Act prescribes rules for the preparation and substance of such Statutory Financial
Statements (which include, in statutory form, a balance sheet, income statement, and a statement of
capital and surplus, and detailed notes thereto). The insurer is required to give detailed information
and analyses regarding premiums, claims, reinsurance and investments. The Statutory Financial
Statements are not prepared in accordance with GAAP and are distinct from the ﬁnancial statements
prepared for presentation to the insurer’s shareholders under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
which ﬁnancial statements may be prepared in accordance with GAAP. The insurer is required to
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submit the Annual Statutory Financial Statements as part of the Annual Statutory Financial Return.
The Statutory Financial Statements and the Statutory Financial Return do not form part of the public
records maintained by the BMA.
Minimum Solvency Margin and Restrictions on Dividends and Distributions. The Insurance Act
provides that the statutory assets of an insurer must exceed its statutory liabilities by an amount
greater than the prescribed minimum solvency margin which varies with the type of registration of the
insurer under the Insurance Act and the insurer’s net premiums written and loss reserve level. The
minimum solvency margin for a Class 4 insurer is the greatest of $100.0 million, 50% of net premiums
written (with a credit for reinsurance ceded not exceeding 25% of gross premiums) and 15% of loss
and loss expense provisions and other insurance reserves. The minimum solvency margin for a Class 3
insurer is the greatest of $1.0 million, 20% of the ﬁrst $6.0 million of net premiums written plus 15%
of net premiums written in excess of $6.0 million, and 15% of loss and loss expense provisions and
other insurance reserves.
The Insurance Act mandates certain actions and ﬁlings with the BMA if a Class 3 insurer or a Class 4
insurer fails to meet and/or maintain the required minimum solvency margin. Both Class 3 insurers
and Class 4 insurers are prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends if in breach of the required
minimum solvency margin or minimum liquidity ratio (the relevant margins) or if the declaration or
payment of such dividend would cause the insurer to fail to meet the relevant margins. Where an
insurer fails to meet its relevant margins on the last day of any ﬁnancial year, it is prohibited from
declaring or paying any dividends during the next ﬁnancial year without the approval of the BMA.
Further, a Class 4 insurer is prohibited from declaring or paying in any ﬁnancial year dividends of
more than 25% of its total statutory capital and surplus (as shown on its previous ﬁnancial year’s
statutory balance sheet) unless it ﬁles (at least seven days before payment of such dividends) with the
BMA an afﬁdavit stating that it will continue to meet its relevant margins. Class 3 insurers and Class 4
insurers must obtain the BMA’s prior approval for a reduction by 15% or more of the total statutory
capital as set forth in its previous year’s ﬁnancial statements. These restrictions on declaring or paying
dividends and distributions under the Insurance Act are in addition to those under the Companies Act
1981 which apply to all Bermuda companies.
Annual Statutory Financial Return. Class 3 and Class 4 insurers are required to ﬁle with the BMA a
Statutory Financial Return no later than four months after the insurer’s ﬁnancial year end (unless
speciﬁcally extended). The Statutory Financial Return includes, among other items, a report of the
approved independent auditor on the Statutory Financial Statements of the insurer; a declaration of
the statutory ratios; a solvency certiﬁcate; the Statutory Financial Statements themselves; the opinion
of the approved Loss Reserve Specialist in respect of the loss and loss expense provisions and, only in
the case of Class 4 insurers, certain details concerning ceded reinsurance. The solvency certiﬁcate and
the declaration of the statutory ratios must be signed by the principal representative and at least two
directors of the insurer, who are required to state whether the minimum solvency margin and, in the
case of the solvency certiﬁcate, the minimum liquidity ratio, have been met, and the independent
approved auditor is required to state whether in its opinion it was reasonable for them to so state and
whether the declaration of the statutory ratios complies with the requirements of the Insurance Act.
Where an insurer’s accounts have been audited for any purpose other than compliance with the
Insurance Act, a statement to that effect must be ﬁled with the Statutory Financial Return.
Supervision, Investigation and Intervention. The BMA may appoint an inspector with extensive powers
to investigate the affairs of an insurer if the BMA believes that an investigation is required in the
interest of the insurer’s policyholders or persons who may become policyholders. In order to verify or
supplement information otherwise provided to them, the BMA may direct an insurer to produce
documents or information relating to matters connected with the insurer’s business. Moreover, the
BMA has the power to appoint professional persons to prepare reports about registered insurers, such
as Renaissance Reinsurance, DaVinci and Glencoe. If it appears to the BMA to be desirable in the
interests of policyholders, the BMA may also exercise these powers in relation to subsidiaries, parents
and other afﬁliates of registered insurers.
If it appears to the BMA that there is a risk of the insurer becoming insolvent, or that the insurer is
in breach of the Insurance Act or any conditions or its registration under the Insurance Act, the BMA
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may direct the insurer not to take on any new insurance business; not to vary any insurance contract if
the effect would be to increase the insurer’s liabilities; not to make certain investments; to realize or
not to realize certain investments; to maintain in, or transfer to the custody of, a speciﬁed bank,
certain assets; not to declare or pay any dividends or other distributions or to restrict the making of
such payments and/or to limit its premium income.
In addition to powers under the Insurance Act to investigate the affairs of an insurer, the BMA may
require certain information from an insurer (or certain other persons) to be produced to them. The
BMA has the power to assist other regulatory authorities, including foreign insurance regulatory
authorities, with their investigations involving insurance and reinsurance companies in Bermuda if the
BMA is satisﬁed that the assistance being requested is in connection with the discharge of regulatory
responsibilities and that such cooperation is in the public interest.
Under the Companies Act, the Minister has been given powers to assist a foreign regulatory authority
which has requested assistance in connection with inquiries being carried out by it in the performance
of its regulatory functions. The Minister’s powers include requiring a person to furnish him with
information, to produce documents to him, to attend and answer questions and to give assistance in
connection with enquiries. The Minister must be satisﬁed that the assistance requested by the foreign
regulatory authority is for the purpose of its regulatory functions and that the request is in relation to
information in Bermuda which a person has in his possession or under his control. The Minister must
consider, amongst other things, whether it is in the public interest to give the information sought.
An insurer is required to maintain a principal ofﬁce in Bermuda and to appoint and maintain a
principal representative in Bermuda. For the purpose of the Insurance Act, the principal ofﬁce of each
of Renaissance Reinsurance, DaVinci and Glencoe is at our ofﬁces at Renaissance House, 8-20 East
Broadway, Pembroke HM 19 Bermuda. Without a reason acceptable to the BMA, an insurer may not
terminate the appointment of its principal representative, and the principal representative may not
cease to act as such, unless thirty days’ notice in writing to the BMA is given of the intention to do
so. It is the duty of the principal representative, having formed the view that there is a likelihood of
the insurer for which he acts becoming insolvent or its coming to his knowledge, or his having reason
to believe that a reportable event has occurred, to orally notify the BMA immediately and, within
fourteen days of the relevant view having been formed, to make a report in writing to the BMA
setting out all the particulars of the case that are available to him. Examples of such an event include
failure by the insurer to comply substantially with a condition imposed upon the insurer by the BMA
relating to a solvency margin or a liquidity or other ratio.
Certain Other Bermuda Law Considerations. As ‘‘exempted companies’’, we and our Bermuda
subsidiaries are exempt from certain Bermuda laws restricting the percentage of share capital that may
be held by non-Bermudians. However, as exempted companies, we and our Bermuda subsidiaries may
not participate in certain business transactions, including (1) the acquisition or holding of land in
Bermuda (except that required for their business and held by way of lease or tenancy for terms of not
more than 50 years) without required authorization, (2) the taking of mortgages on land in Bermuda
to secure an amount in excess of $50,000 without the consent of the Minister, (3) the acquisition of
any bonds or debentures secured by any land in Bermuda, other than certain types of Bermuda
government securities or securities issued by Bermuda public authorities or (4) the carrying on of
business of any kind in Bermuda, except in furtherance of our business carried on outside Bermuda or
under license granted by the Minister. Generally it is not permitted without a special license granted
by the Minister to insure Bermuda domestic risks or risks of persons of, in or based in Bermuda.
We and our Bermuda subsidiaries must comply with the provisions of the Companies Act regulating
the payment of dividends and making distributions from contributed surplus. A company may not
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if there are reasonable
grounds for believing that: (a) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or (b) the realizable value of the company’s assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.
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U.S. Regulation
Reinsurance Regulation. Our Bermuda operations consist of Renaissance Reinsurance, DaVinci,
Glencoe and Lantana. Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci are Bermuda-based companies that
operate as reinsurers. Although neither company is admitted to transact the business of insurance in
any jurisdiction except Bermuda, the insurance laws of each state of the U.S. regulate the sale of
reinsurance to ceding insurers authorized in the state by non-admitted alien reinsurers, such as
Renaissance Reinsurance or DaVinci, acting from locations outside the state. Rates, policy terms and
conditions of reinsurance agreements generally are not subject to regulation by any governmental
authority. A primary insurer ordinarily will enter into a reinsurance agreement, however, only if it can
obtain credit for the reinsurance ceded on its statutory ﬁnancial statements. In general, regulators
permit ceding insurers to take credit for reinsurance in the following circumstances:
•

if the reinsurer is licensed in the state in which the primary insurer is domiciled or, in some
instances, in certain states in which the primary insurer is licensed;

•

if the reinsurer is an ‘‘accredited’’ or otherwise approved reinsurer in the state in which the
primary insurer is domiciled or, in some instances, in certain states in which the primary
insurer is licensed;

•

in some instances, if the reinsurer (a) is domiciled in a state that is deemed to have
substantially similar credit for reinsurance standards as the state in which the primary insurer
is domiciled and (b) meets certain ﬁnancial requirements; or

•

if none of the above apply, to the extent that the reinsurance obligations of the reinsurer are
collateralized appropriately, typically through the posting of a letter of credit for the beneﬁt of
the primary insurer or the deposit of assets into a trust fund established for the beneﬁt of the
primary insurer.

As alien companies, our Bermuda insurers collateralize their reinsurance obligations to U.S. insurance
companies. With some exceptions, the sale of insurance or reinsurance from within a jurisdiction
where the insurer is not admitted to do business is prohibited. Neither Renaissance Reinsurance nor
DaVinci intend to maintain an ofﬁce or to solicit, advertise, settle claims or conduct other insurance
activities in any jurisdiction other than Bermuda where the conduct of such activities would require
that each company be so admitted.
Excess and Surplus Lines Regulation. Glencoe and Lantana, both domiciled in Bermuda, are not
licensed in the U.S. but are eligible to offer coverage in the U.S. exclusively in the surplus lines
market. Glencoe is eligible to write surplus lines primary insurance in 51 jurisdictions of the U.S. and
is subject to the surplus lines regulation and reporting requirements of those jurisdictions. Lantana is
currently eligible as a surplus lines insurer in 50 jurisdictions of the U.S., and is subject to the surplus
lines regulation and reporting requirements of those jurisdictions. In accordance with certain
provisions of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (‘‘NAIC’’) Nonadmitted Insurance
Model Act, which provisions have been adopted by a number of states, Glencoe and Lantana have
each established, and are required to maintain, a trust funded to a minimum amount as a condition of
its status as an eligible, non-admitted insurer in the U.S.
The regulation of surplus lines insurance differs signiﬁcantly from the licensed or ‘‘admitted’’ market.
The regulations governing the surplus lines market have been designed to facilitate the procurement
of coverage, through specially licensed surplus lines brokers, for hard-to-place risks that do not ﬁt
standard underwriting criteria and are otherwise eligible to be written on a surplus lines basis. Most
particularly, surplus lines regulation generally provides for more ﬂexible rules relating to insurance
rates and forms. However, strict regulations apply to surplus lines placements under the laws of every
state, and state insurance regulations generally require that a risk must be declined by three admitted
carriers before it may be placed in the surplus lines market. Initial eligibility requirements and annual
requaliﬁcation standards apply to insurance carriers writing on a surplus basis and ﬁling obligations
must also be met. In most states, surplus lines brokers are responsible for collecting and remitting the
surplus lines tax payable to the state where the risk is located. Companies such as Glencoe and
Lantana which conduct business on a surplus lines basis in a particular state are generally exempt
from that state’s guaranty fund laws.
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Admitted Market Regulation. Our admitted U.S. operations currently consist of Stonington and
Stonington Lloyd’s Insurance Company (‘‘Stonington Lloyd’s’’), both Texas domiciled insurers. In
addition, our subsidiary Newstead Insurance Company (‘‘Newstead’’) was recently approved for
admission as a Delaware domiciled insurer, although Newstead has not yet conducted any business. As
licensed insurers operating in the ‘‘admitted’’ market, these companies are subject to extensive
regulation under U.S. statutes. The extent of regulation varies from state to state but generally has its
source in statutes that delegate regulatory, supervisory and administrative authority to a department of
insurance in each state. Among other things, state insurance commissioners regulate insurer solvency
standards, insurer licensing, authorized investments, premium rates, restrictions on the size of risks
that may be insured under a single policy, loss and expense reserves and provisions for unearned
premiums, deposits of securities for the beneﬁt of policyholders, policy form approval, policy renewals
and non-renewals, and market conduct regulation including both underwriting and claims practices.
State insurance departments also conduct periodic examinations of the affairs of insurance companies
and require the ﬁling of annual and quarterly ﬁnancial reports. The Texas Department of Insurance
retains primary regulatory authority for Stonington and Stonington Lloyd’s and the Delaware
Department of Insurance does so for Newstead.
In general, licensed U.S. insurers such as Stonington and Stonington Lloyd’s must ﬁle with the state
departments of insurance where they insure risks all rates for directly underwritten insurance.
Licensed U.S. insurers are required to participate in the guaranty associations of the states where they
conduct business. Such participation can result in assessments, up to prescribed limits, for losses
incurred by policyholders as a result of the impairment or insolvency of unafﬁliated insurance
companies. Additionally, some states require licensed insurers to participate in assigned risk plans
which provide coverage for automobile insurance and other lines for insureds that are unable to
obtain insurance in the open market. Participation in assigned risk pools may take the form of
reinsuring a portion of a pool of policies or directly issuing policies to insureds. An insurer’s
participation in these plans is typically calculated based on the amount of premium written by the
insurer on a voluntary basis for that line of coverage in a prior year. Assigned risk pools generally
produce losses which result in assessments to insurers writing the same lines on a voluntary basis. We
do not expect the amount of any such guaranty fund assessments, if any, or other assessments to be
paid by us in 2005 to be material.
Holding Company Regulation. We and our U.S. insurance subsidiaries are subject to regulation under
the insurance holding company laws of various jurisdictions. The insurance holding company laws and
regulations vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, but generally require an insurance holding company,
and insurers that are subsidiaries of insurance holding companies, to register with state regulatory
authorities and to ﬁle with those authorities certain reports, including information concerning their
capital structure, ownership, ﬁnancial condition, certain intercompany transactions and general
business operations.
Further, in order to protect insurance company solvency, state insurance statutes typically place
limitations on the amount of dividends or other distributions payable by insurance companies. Texas,
Stonington’s and Stonington Lloyd’s state of domicile, currently requires that dividends be paid only
out of earned statutory surplus and limits the annual amount of dividends payable without the prior
approval of the Texas Insurance Department to the greater of 10% of statutory capital and surplus at
the end of the previous calendar year or 100% of statutory net income from operations for the
previous calendar year. Because of the accumulated deﬁcit in earned surplus from prior operations,
Stonington currently cannot pay an ordinary dividend. These insurance holding company laws also
impose prior approval requirements for certain transactions with afﬁliates. In addition, as a result of
our ownership of Stonington, under the terms of applicable state statutes, any person or entity
desiring to purchase more than 10% of our outstanding voting securities is required to obtain prior
regulatory approval for the purchase.
Terrorism. On November 26, 2002, the President of the U.S. signed into law the Terrorism Risk
Insurance Act of 2002 (‘‘TRIA’’), providing that through 2005, the federal government will share with
the insurance industry the risk of loss from future terrorist attacks. Each participating insurance
company must pay covered losses equal to a deductible based on a percentage of direct earned
30

premiums for commercial insurance lines from the previous calendar year. The deductible ranges from
1.0% on the date of enactment to 15.0% in 2005. For losses in excess of a company’s deductible, the
federal government will cover 90.0% of the excess losses, while companies retain the remaining 10.0%.
Losses covered by the program will be capped annually at $100.0 billion.
Primary insurance companies providing commercial property and casualty insurance in the U.S., such
as Stonington, Stonington Lloyd’s, Glencoe and Lantana, are required to participate in the TRIA
program. TRIA also requires that subject insurers comply with mandatory offer requirements for
terrorism coverage. These offers may be rejected by insureds. The Secretary of the Department of the
Treasury extended this offer requirement until December 31, 2005. TRIA generally does not purport
to govern the obligations of reinsurers, such as Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci, under
reinsurance contracts. Unless extended by Congress, the TRIA program expires December 31, 2005.
There is substantial uncertainty as to whether Congress will extend the program beyond its scheduled
expiration in 2005, and it is possible that the non-renewal of TRIA could adversely affect the industry.
NAIC Ratios. The NAIC has established 11 ﬁnancial ratios to assist state insurance departments in
their oversight of the ﬁnancial condition of licensed U.S. insurance companies operating in their
respective states. The NAIC’s Insurance Regulatory Information System (‘‘IRIS’’) calculates these
ratios based on information submitted by insurers on an annual basis and shares the information with
the applicable state insurance departments. Generally, an insurance company will be subject to
regulatory scrutiny if it falls outside the usual ranges with respect to four or more of the ratios.
Codiﬁcation of Statutory Accounting Principles. In their ongoing effort to improve solvency
regulations, the NAIC and individual states have enacted certain laws and statutory ﬁnancial
statement reporting requirements. These regulatory initiatives, and the overall focus on solvency, may
intensify the restructuring and consolidation of the insurance industry. We believe we will be
adequately positioned to compete in an environment of more stringent regulation.
Risk-Based Capital. The NAIC has implemented a risk-based capital (‘‘RBC’’) formula and model law
applicable to all licensed U.S. property/casualty insurance companies. The RBC formula is designed to
measure the adequacy of an insurer’s statutory surplus in relation to the risks inherent in its business.
Such analysis permits regulators to identify inadequately capitalized insurers. The RBC formula
develops a risk adjusted target level of statutory capital by applying certain factors to insurers’
business risks such as asset risk, underwriting risk, credit risk and off-balance sheet risk. The target
level of statutory surplus varies not only as a result of the insurer’s size, but also on the risk proﬁle of
the insurer’s operations.
The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 (‘‘GLBA’’) permits mergers that
combine commercial banks, insurers and securities ﬁrms under one holding company, a ‘‘ﬁnancial
holding company.’’ Until passage of the GLBA, the Glass-Steagall Act of 1933, as amended, had
limited the ability of banks to engage in securities-related businesses, and the Bank Holding Company
Act of 1956, as amended, had restricted banks from being afﬁliated with insurers. As a result of
GLBA, the ability of banks to afﬁliate with insurers may affect our U.S. subsidiaries’ product lines by
substantially increasing the number, size and ﬁnancial strength of potential competitors. Privacy
provisions of GLBA became fully effective in 2001. These provisions established consumer protections
regarding the security and conﬁdentiality of nonpublic personal information and require full disclosure
of the privacy policies of ﬁnancial institutions, including U.S. insurers, to their consumer customers.
Legislative and Regulatory Proposals. Government intervention in the insurance and reinsurance
markets, both in the U.S. and worldwide, continues to evolve. Federal and state legislators have
considered numerous government initiatives. While we cannot predict the exact nature, timing, or
scope of other such proposals, if adopted they could adversely affect our business by:
•

providing government supported insurance and reinsurance capacity in markets and to
consumers that we target;

•

requiring our participation in pools and guaranty associations;

•

regulating the terms of insurance and reinsurance policies;
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•

impacting producer compensation; or

•

disproportionately beneﬁting the companies of one country over those of another.

In addition, the expansion of our primary insurance operations, together with the potential of further
expansion into additional insurance markets, could expose us or our subsidiaries to increasing
regulatory oversight. However, we intend to continue to conduct our operations so as to minimize the
likelihood that Renaissance Reinsurance, DaVinci, Top Layer, Lantana or Glencoe will become
subject to U.S. regulation.
RISK FACTORS
Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements contained in this Form 10-K and other documents we ﬁle with the SEC include the
following:
Our exposure to catastrophic events could cause our ﬁnancial results to vary signiﬁcantly from one
period to the next.
Our largest product is property catastrophe reinsurance. We also sell lines of specialty reinsurance and
certain individual risk products that are also exposed to catastrophe risk. We therefore have a large
overall exposure to natural and man-made disasters, such as earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, winter
storms, freezes, ﬂoods, ﬁres, tornados and other natural or man-made disasters, such as acts of
terrorism. As a result, our operating results have historically been, and we expect will continue to be,
signiﬁcantly affected by relatively few events of large magnitude.
Claims from catastrophic events could cause substantial volatility in our ﬁnancial results for any ﬁscal
quarter or year and adversely affect our ﬁnancial condition or results of operations. Our ability to
write new business could also be impacted. We believe that increases in the value and geographic
concentration of insured property and the effects of inﬂation will increase the severity of claims from
catastrophic events in the future.
From time to time, we may have greater exposures in some geographic areas than our overall share of
the worldwide market would suggest. Accordingly, if catastrophes were to occur in these areas, we
could experience worse results than our competitors.
We may fail to execute our growth strategy, which would impair our future ﬁnancial results.
Historically, our principal product has been property catastrophe reinsurance. Our growth in our
specialty reinsurance and Individual Risk lines of business presents us with new and expanded
challenges and risks which we may not manage successfully. We are not as experienced in these
expanded lines of business as we are in property catastrophe reinsurance; in particular, we are
continuing to expand our claim management function to support these new lines of business.
Businesses in early stages of development present substantial business, ﬁnancial and operational risks
and may suffer signiﬁcant losses. For example, in our newer businesses we are seeking to develop
client and customer relationships, build operating procedures, hire staff, install management
information and other systems, as well as taking numerous other steps to implement our strategies.
Our specialty reinsurance and Individual Risk businesses will require us to develop new expertise in
areas such as contract and policy wordings and claims management.
If we fail to continue to develop the necessary infrastructure, or otherwise fail to execute our strategy,
our results from these new lines of business will likely suffer, perhaps substantially, and our future
ﬁnancial results may be adversely affected.
This recent and planned future expansion has placed increased demands on our ﬁnancial, managerial
and human resources. For example, we may need to attract additional professionals to, or expand our
facilities in, Bermuda, a small jurisdiction with limited resources. To the extent we are unable to
attract additional professionals, our ﬁnancial, managerial and human resources may be strained. The
growth in our staff and infrastructure also creates more managerial responsibilities for our current
senior executives, potentially diverting their attention from the underwriting and business origination
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functions for which they are also responsible. Our future proﬁtability depends in part on our ability to
further develop our resources and effectively manage this expansion. Our inability to achieve such
development or effective management may impair our future ﬁnancial results.
Our utilization of program managers and other third parties to support our business exposes us to
operational and ﬁnancial risks.
Our Individual Risk operations rely on program managers, and other agents and brokers participating
in our programs, to produce and service a substantial portion of our operations in this segment. In
these arrangements, we typically grant the program manager the right to bind us to newly issued
insurance policies, subject to underwriting guidelines we provide and other contractual restrictions and
obligations. Should our managers issue policies that contravene these guidelines, restrictions or
obligations, we could nonetheless be deemed liable for such policies. Although we would intend to
resist claims that exceed or expand on our underwriting intention, it is possible that we would not
prevail in such an action, or that our program manager would be unable to substantially indemnify us
for their contractual breach. We also rely on our managers, or other third parties we retain, to collect
premiums and to pay valid claims. This exposes us to their credit and operational risk, without
necessarily relieving us of our obligations to potential insureds. We could also be exposed to potential
liabilities relating to the claims practices of the third party administrators we have retained to manage
substantially all of the claims activity that we expect to arise in our program operations. Although we
have implemented monitoring and other oversight protocols, we cannot assure you that these
measures will be sufﬁcient to mitigate all of these exposures.
We are also subject to the risk that our successful program managers will not renew their programs
with us. Our contracts are generally for deﬁned terms of as little as one year, and either party can
cancel the contract in a relatively short period of time. While we believe our arrangements offer
numerous beneﬁts to our program participants, we cannot assure you we will retain the programs that
produce proﬁtable business or that our insureds will renew with us. Failure to retain or replace these
producers would impair our ability to execute our growth strategy, and our ﬁnancial results could be
adversely affected.
We could face unanticipated losses from war, terrorism and political unrest, and these or other
unanticipated losses could have a material adverse effect on our ﬁnancial condition and results of
operations.
We may have substantial exposure to unexpected, large losses resulting from future man-made
catastrophic events, such as acts of war, acts of terrorism and political instability, or from other perils.
These risks are inherently unpredictable, and future periods may evidence increased frequency and
severity of losses resulting from these catastrophic events. It is difﬁcult to predict the timing of such
events with statistical certainty or to estimate the amount of loss any given occurrence will generate.
Although we believe our risk management systems are effective in helping us to understand and
manage our aggregate risk portfolio, it is possible that our models have not adequately captured some
catastrophe risks or other risks. We believe it is impossible to eliminate completely our exposure to
unforeseen or unpredictable events.
With respect to our reinsurance operations we do not separately evaluate each of the individual risks
assumed under our reinsurance contracts and, accordingly, like other reinsurers, are heavily dependent
on the original underwriting decisions made by our ceding companies. We are therefore subject to the
risk that our clients may not have adequately evaluated the risks to be reinsured, or that the
premiums ceded to us will not adequately compensate us for the risks we assume. Likewise, in our
individual risk operations we are dependent on information provided by third parties, such as our
program managers, claims administrators, and quota share cedants.
U.S. government authorities are continuing to investigate non-traditional, or loss mitigation,
(re)insurance products, as well as our restatement of our ﬁnancial statements.
We recently received subpoenas from the SEC and from the Ofﬁce of the Attorney General of the
State of New York, each of which relates to the industry-wide investigation into non-traditional, or
loss mitigation, (re)insurance products. The subpoena from the SEC also relates to our business
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practice review and to our determination to restate our ﬁnancial statements. See ‘‘Business—Recent
Developments’’ and ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Restatement of Financial Statements.’’ We intend to cooperate with the SEC and the
New York Attorney General in their ongoing investigations.
While these government investigations are presently at a preliminary stage and we are unable to
predict the ultimate impact, if any, they may have on our business, it is possible that the investigations
may result in penalties or require remediation which may be adverse to us, perhaps materially so. The
government authorities may also identify new issues, or make additional ﬁndings that we are currently
unable to predict, which may give rise to an adverse impact on our business or ﬁnancial statements. In
general, we are unable to foresee all of the consequences of the government investigations.
Following our announcement that we planned to restate our ﬁnancial statements, S&P placed on
CreditWatch with negative implications each of the counterparty credit, senior debt, and preferred
stock ratings of the Company; the counterparty credit and ﬁnancial strength ratings on Renaissance
Reinsurance; and the counterparty credit and ﬁnancial strength ratings on DaVinci. In addition, A.M.
Best placed under review with negative implications the issuer credit ratings of the senior debt,
preferred stock and capital securities of the Company, and also the ﬁnancial strength ratings of the
insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries of the Company. Further, Moody’s revised from ‘‘stable’’ to
‘‘negative’’ the outlook for each of the insurance ﬁnancial strength rating of Renaissance Reinsurance,
and the senior debt, preferred stock and capital securities ratings of the Company.
Heightened scrutiny of issues and practices in the insurance industry may adversely affect our business.
The SEC, the New York Attorney General, and other government authorities are scrutinizing and
investigating a number of issues and practices within the insurance industry. It is possible that these
investigations or related regulatory developments will mandate or otherwise give rise to changes in
industry practices in a fashion that increases our costs or requires us to alter how we conduct our
business.
Because we frequently assume the credit risk of the brokers with whom we do business throughout
our insurance and reinsurance operations, our results of operations could be adversely affected if the
credit quality of these brokers is severely impacted by the current investigations in the insurance
industry or by changes to broker industry practices.
Our claims and claim expense reserves are subject to inherent uncertainties.
Our claims and claim expense reserves reﬂect our estimates using actuarial and statistical projections
at a given point in time, and our expectations of the ultimate settlement and administration costs of
claims incurred. Although we use actuarial and computer models as well as historical reinsurance and
insurance industry loss statistics, we also rely heavily on management’s experience and management’s
judgment to assist in the establishment of appropriate claim reserves. However, because of the many
assumptions and estimates involved in establishing reserves, the reserving process is inherently
uncertain.
Our growing casualty business is expected to produce claims which frequently can only be resolved
through lengthy and unpredictable litigation. The measures required to resolve such claims, including
the adjudication process, present more reserve challenges than non-casualty property losses (the latter
of which tend to be reported comparatively more promptly and to be settled within a relatively
shorter period of time). For both our growing casualty business, and our traditional property
catastrophe business, actual net claims and claim expenses paid may deviate, perhaps substantially,
from the reserve estimates reﬂected in our ﬁnancial statements.
We expect that some of our assumptions or estimates will prove to be inaccurate, and our actual net
claims and claim expenses paid to differ, perhaps substantially, from the reserve estimates reﬂected in
our ﬁnancial statements. To the extent that our actual claims and claim expenses exceed our
expectations, we would be required to increase claims and claim expense reserves. This would reduce
our net income by a corresponding amount in the period in which the deﬁciency is identiﬁed. In
reserving for our specialty reinsurance and Individual Risk coverages we do not have the beneﬁt of a
signiﬁcant amount of our own historical experience in these lines.
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Unlike the claims and claim expense reserves of U.S. insurers, the claims and claim expense reserves
established by our Bermuda companies are not regularly examined by insurance regulators.
Emerging claim and coverage issues could adversely affect our business.
Unanticipated developments in the law as well as changes in social and environmental conditions
could potentially result in unexpected claims for coverage under our insurance and reinsurance
contracts. These developments and changes may adversely affect us, perhaps materially. For example,
we could be subject to developments that impose additional coverage obligations on us beyond our
underwriting intent, or to increases in the number or size of claims to which we are subject. With
respect to our casualty businesses, these legal, social and environmental changes may not become
apparent until some time after their occurrence. Our exposure to these uncertainties could be
exacerbated by the increased willingness of some market participants to dispute insurance and
reinsurance contract and policy wordings. The full effects of these and other unforeseen emerging
claim and coverage issues are extremely hard to predict. As a result, the full extent of our liability
under our coverages, and in particular our casualty reinsurance contracts, may not be known for many
years after a contract is issued. Our exposure to this uncertainty will grow as our ‘‘long-tail’’ casualty
businesses grow, because in these lines claims can typically be made for many years, making them
more susceptible to these trends than our traditional catastrophe business, which is typically more
‘‘short-tail.’’ In addition, we could be adversely affected by the growing trend of plaintiffs targeting
participants in the property-liability insurance industry in purported class action litigation relating to
claim handling and other practices. Although we are seeking to add professional staff and systems to
improve our contracts and claims capabilities, we may fail to mitigate our exposure to these growing
uncertainties.
Pricing and terms for our products may decline, which could affect our proﬁtability.
Supply and demand for reinsurance and insurance depends on numerous factors, including the
frequency and severity of catastrophic events, perceptions of risk, levels of capacity, general economic
conditions and underwriting results of other insurers and reinsurers. All of these factors ﬂuctuate and
may contribute to price declines generally in the reinsurance and insurance industries. Industry pricing
has degraded in 2004, and less catastrophe reinsurance business has met our hurdle rates than in prior
years. We expect premium rates and other terms and conditions of trade to vary in the future, and
currently believe that overall industry pricing for many of our products will decline in 2005. If demand
for our products falls or the supply of competing capacity rises, we expect our growth to be adversely
affected, and our proﬁtability could be affected as well. In particular, we might lose existing customers
or decline new business, which we might not regain when industry conditions improve.
We operate in a highly competitive environment.
The reinsurance industry is highly competitive. We compete, and will continue to compete, with major
U.S. and non-U.S. insurers and property catastrophe reinsurers, including other Bermuda-based
property catastrophe reinsurers. Market participants continue to accumulate new capital, thereby
strengthening their ability to compete. In addition, hedge funds are increasing the overall capacity in
the industry. Increased capacity levels have led to increased competition and have contributed to
declines in overall industry pricing levels.
We believe that our principal competitors in the property catastrophe reinsurance market include
other companies active in the Bermuda market, including Ace Limited, Everest Re Group Ltd., IPC
Holdings, Ltd., PartnerRe Ltd. and XL Capital Ltd. We also compete with certain Lloyd’s syndicates
active in the London market, as well as with a number of other industry participants, such as
American International Group, Inc., Berkshire Hathaway, Munich Re Group and Swiss Re. In
addition, there are other relatively new Bermuda reinsurers with whom we compete, such as Allied
World Assurance Company, Arch Capital Group, Axis Capital Holdings, Endurance Specialty
Holdings, Montpelier Re Holdings and Platinum. As our business evolves over time we expect our
competitors to change as well.
Many of our competitors have greater ﬁnancial, marketing and management resources than we do. In
addition, we may not be aware of other companies that may be planning to enter the property
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catastrophe reinsurance market or of existing companies which may be planning to raise additional
capital. We also have recently seen the creation of alternative products from capital market
participants that are intended to compete with reinsurance products and which could impact the
demand for traditional catastrophe reinsurance, as well as increased competitive activities from hedge
funds. We cannot predict what effect any of these developments may have on our businesses.
The businesses in which our Individual Risk unit operates are also highly competitive. Primary
insurers compete on the basis of factors including distribution channels, product, price, service and
ﬁnancial strength. Many of our primary insurance competitors are larger and more established than
we are and have greater ﬁnancial resources and consumer recognition. We seek primary insurance
pricing that will result in adequate returns on the capital allocated to our primary insurance business.
We may lose primary insurance business to competitors offering competitive insurance products at
lower prices.
Bermuda could be subject to sanctions by a number of multinational organizations which could
adversely affect Bermuda companies.
A number of multinational organizations, including the European Union, the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development (‘‘OECD’’), including its Financial Action Task Force, and
the Financial Stability Forum, have identiﬁed certain countries as blocking information exchange,
engaging in harmful tax competition or not maintaining adequate controls to prevent corruption, such
as money laundering activities. Recommendations to limit such harmful practices are under
consideration by these organizations, and a report published on November 27, 2001 by the OECD
contains an extensive discussion of speciﬁc recommendations. The OECD has threatened non-member
jurisdictions that do not agree to cooperate with the OECD with punitive sanctions by OECD
member countries. It is unclear what these sanctions will be and if they will be imposed. Bermuda has
committed to a course of action to enable compliance with the requirements of these multinational
organizations, including signing a letter committing itself to eliminate harmful tax practices by the end
of 2005 and to embrace international tax standards for transparency, exchange of information and the
elimination of any aspects of the regimes for ﬁnancial and other services that attract business with no
substantial domestic activity. However, the action taken by Bermuda may not be sufﬁcient to preclude
all effects of the measures or sanctions described above, which if ultimately adopted could adversely
affect Bermuda companies such as us and our Bermuda based subsidiaries.
Political, regulatory and industry initiatives could adversely affect our business.
The insurance and reinsurance regulatory framework is subject to heavy scrutiny by the U.S. and
individual state governments as well as an increasing number of international authorities. Government
regulators are generally concerned with the protection of policyholders to the exclusion of other
constituencies, including shareholders. Increasingly, governmental authorities in both the U.S. and
worldwide seem to us to be interested in the potential risks posed by the reinsurance industry as a
whole, and to commercial and ﬁnancial systems in general. While we do not believe these inquiries
have identiﬁed meaningful new risks posed by the reinsurance industry to the ﬁnancial system or to
policyholders, and we cannot predict the exact nature, timing or scope of possible governmental
initiatives, we believe it is likely there will be increased regulatory intervention in our industry in the
future.
For example, we could be adversely affected by proposals to:
•

provide insurance and reinsurance capacity in markets and to consumers that we target;

•

require our participation in industry pools and guaranty associations;

•

increasingly mandate the terms of insurance and reinsurance policies; or

•

disproportionately beneﬁt the companies of one country over those of another.

The growth of our primary insurance business, which is regulated more comprehensively than
reinsurance, increases our exposure to adverse political, judicial and legal developments. Moreover,
our exposure to potential regulatory initiatives could be heightened by the fact that our principal
36

operating companies are domiciled in, and operate exclusively from, Bermuda. For example,
Bermuda, a small jurisdiction, may be disadvantaged in participating in global or cross border
regulatory matters as compared with larger jurisdictions such as the U.S. or the leading European
Union countries. In addition, Bermuda, which is currently an overseas territory of the United
Kingdom (‘‘U.K.’’), may consider changes to its relationship with the U.K. in the future. These
changes could adversely affect Bermuda’s position in respect of future regulatory initiatives, which
could impact us commercially.
A decline in our investment performance could reduce our proﬁtability.
We derive a signiﬁcant portion of our income from our invested assets. As a result, our ﬁnancial
results depend in part on the performance of our investment portfolio, which contains ﬁxed maturity
securities, such as bonds and mortgage-backed securities. Our operating results are subject to a variety
of investment risks, including risks relating to general economic conditions, market volatility, interest
rate ﬂuctuations, foreign currency risk, liquidity risk and credit and default risk. Additionally, with
respect to certain of our investments, we are subject to pre-payment or reinvestment risk.
The market value of our ﬁxed maturity investments will be subject to ﬂuctuation depending on
changes in various factors, including prevailing interest rates. As a result of large reinsurance or
insurance losses, we may be forced to liquidate our investments at times and prices that are not
optimal, which could have a material adverse effect on the performance of our investment portfolio.
Increases in interest rates could cause the market value of our investment portfolio to decrease,
perhaps substantially. Conversely, a decline in interest rates could reduce our investment yield, which
would reduce our overall proﬁtability. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including
governmental monetary policies, domestic and international economic and political conditions and
other factors beyond our control. Any measures we take that are intended to manage the risks of
operating in a changing interest rate environment may not effectively mitigate such interest rate
sensitivity.
In recent years we have increased our allocation to other investments which have different risk
characteristics than our traditional ﬁxed maturity securities and short-term investment portfolios.
These other investments include hedge fund investments, a fund that invests in senior secured bank
loans, a European high yield credit fund and private equity partnerships. Also included in other
investments are investments in a medium term note, representing an interest in a pool of European
ﬁxed income securities, a non-U.S. dollar convertible fund and miscellaneous other investments. Our
percentage allocation to these other investments will likely increase. The performance of these other
investments had a positive impact on the performance of our investment portfolio in 2004.
These other investments are recorded on our consolidated balance sheet at fair value. The fair value
of certain of these investments is generally established on the basis of the net valuation criteria
established by the managers of such investments. These net valuations are determined based upon
the valuation criteria established by the governing documents of the investments. Due to a lag in the
valuations reported by the fund managers, the majority of our other investments are reported on a
one month or one quarter lag. Such valuations may differ signiﬁcantly from the values that would
have been used had ready markets existed for the shares, partnership interests or notes of the
investments. Many of the investments are subject to restrictions on redemptions and sales which are
determined by the governing documents and limit our ability to liquidate these investments in the
short term. These investments expose us to market risks including interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, equity price risk and credit risk. We are unable to quantify these risks as we do not have timely
access to the securities underlying each investment. To the extent these risks move against us it could
result in a material adverse change to our investment performance. The performance of these
investments is also dependent on the individual investment managers and the investment strategies. It
is possible that the investment managers will leave and/or the investment strategies will become
ineffective. The result of either of the foregoing would be a material adverse change to our
investment performance.
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U.S. taxing authorities could contend that our Bermuda subsidiaries are subject to U.S. corporate
income tax.
If the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the ‘‘IRS’’) were to contend successfully that Renaissance
Reinsurance, Glencoe, DaVinci or Top Layer Re is engaged in a trade or business in the U.S.,
Renaissance Reinsurance, Glencoe, DaVinci or Top Layer Re would, to the extent not exempted from
tax by the U.S.-Bermuda income tax treaty, be subject to U.S. corporate income tax on that portion of
its net income treated as effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business, as well as the U.S.
corporate branch proﬁts tax. Although we would vigorously resist the imposition of any such tax, if we
were ultimately held to be subject to this taxation, our earnings would correspondingly decline.
In addition, beneﬁts of the U.S.-Bermuda income tax treaty which may limit any such tax to income
attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by Renaissance Reinsurance, Glencoe, DaVinci
or Top Layer Re in the U.S. are only available to any of Renaissance Reinsurance, Glencoe, DaVinci
or Top Layer Re if more than 50% of its shares are beneﬁcially owned, directly or indirectly, by
individuals who are Bermuda residents or U.S. citizens or residents. Renaissance Reinsurance,
Glencoe, DaVinci or Top Layer Re may not be able to continually satisfy such beneﬁcial ownership
test or be able to establish its satisfaction to the IRS. Finally, it should be noted that it is unclear
whether the income tax treaty (assuming satisfaction of the beneﬁcial ownership test) applies to
income other than premium income, such as investment income.
Because we depend on a few reinsurance brokers for a large portion of revenue, loss of business
provided by them could adversely affect us.
We market our reinsurance products worldwide exclusively through reinsurance brokers. Four
brokerage ﬁrms accounted for 82.2%, 80.4% and 71.1%, respectively, of our net premiums written for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. Subsidiaries and afﬁliates of Marsh Inc., the
Benﬁeld Group Limited, the Willis Group and AON Corporation accounted for approximately 27.2%,
25.1%, 17.2% and 12.7%, respectively, of our Reinsurance segment gross written premiums in 2004.
The loss of all or a substantial portion of the business provided by these brokers could have a
material adverse effect on us. Our ability to market our products could decline as a result of any loss
of the business provided by these brokers and it is possible that our premiums written would decrease.
Our reliance on reinsurance brokers exposes us to their credit risk.
In accordance with industry practice, we pay virtually all amounts owed on claims under our policies
to reinsurance brokers, and these brokers, in turn, pay these amounts over to the insurers that have
reinsured a portion of their liabilities with us (we refer to these insurers as ceding insurers). Likewise,
premiums paid by ceding insurers are paid to brokers, who then pass such amounts on to us. In many
jurisdictions, if a broker were to fail to make such a payment to a ceding insurer, we would remain
liable to the ceding insurer for the deﬁciency. Conversely, in many jurisdictions, when the ceding
insurer pays premiums for these policies to reinsurance brokers for payment over to us, these
premiums are considered to have been paid and the ceding insurer will no longer be liable to us for
those amounts, whether or not we have actually received the premiums. Consequently, in connection
with the settlement of reinsurance balances, we assume a degree of credit risk associated with brokers
around the world. Due to recent developments in the industry, we believe that the degree of this
credit risk has increased.
A decline in the ratings assigned to our ﬁnancial strength would adversely impact our business.
Third party rating agencies assess and rate the ﬁnancial strength of reinsurers and insurers, such as
Renaissance Reinsurance, our Glencoe Group carriers, Top Layer Re and DaVinci. These ratings are
based upon criteria established by the rating agencies. Periodically the rating agencies evaluate us to
conﬁrm that we continue to meet the criteria of the ratings previously assigned to us. The ﬁnancial
strength ratings assigned by rating agencies to reinsurance or insurance companies are based upon
factors relevant to policyholders and are not directed toward the protection of investors. Recently,
certain rating agencies have placed us on credit watch with negative implications in connection with
our restatement of our ﬁnancial results for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003. See
‘‘Business—Recent Developments.’’
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The rating agencies may downgrade or withdraw their ﬁnancial strength ratings in the future if we do
not continue to meet the criteria of the ratings previously assigned to us. Our ability to compete with
other reinsurers and insurers, and our results of operations, could be materially adversely affected by
any such ratings downgrade. For example, following a ratings downgrade we might lose clients to
more highly rated competitors or retain a lower share of the business of our clients. The rating of Top
Layer Re is dependent in large part upon the rating of State Farm, who provides Top Layer Re with
$3.9 billion of stop loss reinsurance.
As is customary in our industry, a portion of our reinsurance policies provide our clients with the right
to cancel or not renew our policies in the event our ﬁnancial strength ratings are downgraded. We
cannot precisely estimate the amount of premium that would be at risk to this development, as this
amount depends on the particular facts and circumstances at the time, including the degree of the
downgrade, the time elapsed on the impacted in-force policies, and the effects of any related
catastrophic event on the industry generally. In the event any of these provisions are triggered, we will
vigorously seek to retain our clients. However, we cannot assure you that our premiums would not
decline, perhaps materially, following a ratings downgrade.
We could be adversely affected if TRIA is not renewed.
In response to the tightening of supply in certain insurance and reinsurance markets resulting from,
among other things, the September 11th tragedy, TRIA was enacted to ensure the availability of
commercial insurance coverage for terrorist acts in the U.S. This law established a federal assistance
program through the end of 2005 to help the commercial property and casualty insurance industry
cover claims related to future terrorism related losses and required that coverage for terrorist acts be
offered by insurers. It is possible that TRIA will not be renewed following 2005, or could be adversely
amended, which could adversely affect the insurance industry if a material subsequent event occurred.
Given these uncertainties, we are currently unable to determine with certainty the impact that TRIA’s
non-renewal could have on us.
The covenants in our debt agreements limit our ﬁnancial and operational ﬂexibility, which could have an
adverse effect on our ﬁnancial condition.
We have incurred indebtedness, and may incur additional indebtedness in the future. At December 31,
2004, we had an aggregate of approximately $350 million of indebtedness outstanding, consisting of
$100 million of 5.875% Senior Notes due 2013, $150 million of 7.0% Senior Notes due 2008 and a $100
million bank loan incurred and fully drawn by our consolidated subsidiary, DaVinciRe Holdings Ltd.
(‘‘DaVinciRe’’). RenaissanceRe is also party to a $500 million syndicated revolving credit agreement,
none of which was drawn at December 31, 2004.
In addition, we have issued $100 million aggregate liquidation amount of mandatorily redeemable
capital securities (‘‘Capital Securities’’) through the Capital Trust holding solely $103.1 million of the
Company’s 8.54% junior subordinated debentures due March 1, 2027. Because we hold $15.4 million
of these securities and also hold $3.1 million of equity interest in the Capital Trust, our net obligation
is $84.6 million.
Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries maintain letter of credit facilities in connection with their
insurance and reinsurance business. The largest of these is a secured letter of credit facility established
under a reimbursement agreement entered into by certain of RenaissanceRe’s subsidiaries and
afﬁliates. The obligations of each of RenaissanceRe’s subsidiaries and afﬁliates party to the
reimbursement agreement are secured by certain collateral, including cash, eligible high-quality
marketable securities and redeemable preference shares of RIHL. The facility currently is in the
amount of $850 million. The term of the reimbursement agreement was extended to April 30, 2005 in
November 2004 and in March 2005, the reimbursement agreement was amended to conform certain
default provisions of the agreement to comparable provisions in existing credit agreements of the
Company and DaVinciRe. At December 31, 2004, the aggregate face amount of letters of credit
outstanding under the reimbursement agreement was $548.4 million and total letters of credit
outstanding was $670.6 million.
The agreements covering our indebtedness, particularly our bank loans, contain numerous covenants
that limit our ability, among other things, to borrow money, make particular types of investments or
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other restricted payments, sell assets, merge or consolidate. These agreements also require us to
maintain speciﬁc ﬁnancial ratios. If we fail to comply with these covenants or meet these ﬁnancial
ratios, the lenders under our credit facilities could declare a default and demand immediate repayment
of all amounts owed to them, cancel their commitments to lend or issue letters of credit, or both, and
require us to pledge additional or a different type of collateral.
In addition, if we are in default under the junior subordinated debentures, discussed above, or if we
have given notice of our intention to defer our related payment obligations, the terms of our
indebtedness would, among other things, restrict our ability to:
•

declare or pay any dividends on our capital shares;

•

redeem, purchase or acquire any capital shares; or

•

make a liquidation payment with respect to our capital shares.

Because we are a holding company, we are dependent on dividends and payments from our subsidiaries.
As a holding company with no direct operations, we rely on investment income, cash dividends and
other permitted payments from our subsidiaries to make principal and interest payments on our debt
and to pay dividends to our shareholders. The holding company does not have any operations and
from time to time may not have signiﬁcant liquid assets. If our subsidiaries are restricted from paying
dividends to us, we may be unable to pay dividends or to repay our indebtedness.
Bermuda law and regulations require our subsidiaries which are registered in Bermuda as insurers to
maintain a minimum solvency margin and minimum liquidity ratio, and prohibit dividends that would
result in a breach of these requirements. Further, Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci, as Class 4
insurers in Bermuda, may not pay dividends which would exceed 25% of their respective capital and
surplus, unless they ﬁrst make ﬁlings conﬁrming that they meet the required margins. As Class 3
insurers, Glencoe, Lantana and Top Layer Re may not declare or pay dividends during any ﬁnancial
year that would cause Glencoe, Lantana or Top Layer Re (as the case may be) to fail to meet its
minimum solvency margin and minimum liquidity ratio.
Generally, our U.S. insurance subsidiaries may only pay dividends out of earned surplus. Further, the
amount payable without the prior approval of the applicable state insurance department is generally
limited to the greater of 10% of policyholders’ surplus or statutory capital, or 100% of the subsidiary’s
prior year statutory net income. Since our U.S. insurance subsidiaries’ earned surplus is negative,
these subsidiaries cannot currently pay dividends without the applicable state insurance department
approval.
The loss of one or more key executive ofﬁcers could adversely affect us.
Our success has depended, and will continue to depend, in substantial part upon our ability to attract
and retain our executive ofﬁcers. If we were to lose the services of members of our senior
management team, our business could be adversely affected. For example, we might lose clients whose
relationship depends in part on the service of a departing executive. In addition, the loss of services of
members of our management team would strain our ability to execute our growth initiatives, as
described above.
Our ability to execute our business strategy is dependent on our ability to attract and retain a staff of
qualiﬁed underwriters and service personnel. The location of our global headquarters in Bermuda may
impede our ability to recruit and retain highly skilled employees. We do not currently maintain key
man life insurance policies with respect to any of our employees.
Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudians may not engage in any gainful occupation in Bermuda without
the speciﬁc permission of the appropriate government authority. The Bermuda government will issue a
work permit for a speciﬁc period of time, which may be extended upon showing that, after proper
public advertisement, no Bermudian (or spouse of a Bermudian) is available who meets the minimum
standards for the advertised position. Substantially all of our ofﬁcers are working in Bermuda under
work permits that will expire over the next three years. The Bermuda government could refuse to
extend these work permits. In addition, a Bermuda government policy limits the duration of work
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permits to a total of six years, which is subject to certain exemptions only for key employees. If any of
our senior executive ofﬁcers were not permitted to remain in Bermuda, our operations could be
disrupted and our ﬁnancial performance could be adversely affected as a result.
Regulatory challenges in the U.S. or elsewhere to our Bermuda operations’ claims of exemption from
insurance regulation could restrict our ability to operate, increase our costs, or otherwise adversely
impact us.
Renaissance Reinsurance, DaVinci and Top Layer Re are not licensed or admitted in any jurisdiction
except Bermuda. Renaissance Reinsurance, Glencoe, DaVinci and Top Layer Re each conduct
business only from their principal ofﬁces in Bermuda and do not maintain an ofﬁce in the U.S.
Recently, the insurance and reinsurance regulatory framework has been subject to increased scrutiny
in many jurisdictions, including the U.S. and various states within the U.S. If our Bermuda insurance
or reinsurance operations become subject to the insurance laws of any state in the U.S., we could face
inquiries or challenges to the future operations of these companies.
Moreover, we could be put at a competitive disadvantage in the future with respect to competitors
that are licensed and admitted in U.S. jurisdictions. Among other things, jurisdictions in the U.S. do
not permit insurance companies to take credit for reinsurance obtained from unlicensed or
non-admitted insurers on their statutory ﬁnancial statements unless security is posted. Our contracts
generally require us to post a letter of credit or provide other security after a reinsured reports a
claim. In order to post these letters of credit, issuing banks generally require collateral. It is possible
that European Union or other countries might adopt a similar regime in the future, or that the U.S.
rules could be altered in a way that treats Bermuda disproportionately. Any such development could
adversely affect us.
Glencoe and Lantana are currently eligible, non-admitted excess and surplus lines insurers in,
respectively, 51 and 50 states and territories of the U.S. and are each subject to certain regulatory and
reporting requirements of these states. However, neither Glencoe nor Lantana is admitted or licensed
in any U.S. jurisdiction; moreover, Glencoe only conducts business from Bermuda. Accordingly, the
scope of Glencoe’s and Lantana’s activities in the U.S. is limited, which could adversely affect their
ability to compete.
In addition, Stonington, which writes insurance in all 50 states on an admitted basis, is subject to
extensive regulation under state statutes which confer regulatory, supervisory and administrative
powers on state insurance commissioners. Such regulation generally is designed to protect
policyholders rather than investors, and relates to such matters as: rate setting; policy forms;
limitations on dividends and transactions with afﬁliates; solvency standards which must be met and
maintained; the licensing of insurers and their agents; the examination of the affairs of insurance
companies, which includes periodic market conduct examinations by the regulatory authorities; annual
and other reports, prepared on a statutory accounting basis; establishment and maintenance of
reserves for unearned premiums and losses; and requirements regarding numerous other matters. We
could be required to allocate considerable time and resources to comply with these requirements, and
could be adversely affected if a regulatory authority believed we had failed to comply with applicable
law or regulation. We plan to grow Stonington’s business and, accordingly, expect our regulatory
burden to increase.
Our growth plans could cause one or more of our subsidiaries to become subject to additional
regulation in other jurisdictions. Any failure to comply with applicable laws could result in the
imposition of signiﬁcant restrictions on our ability to do business, and could also result in ﬁnes and
other sanctions, any or all of which could adversely affect our ﬁnancial results and operations.
Retrocessional reinsurance may become unavailable on acceptable terms.
In order to limit the effect of large and multiple losses upon our ﬁnancial condition, we buy
reinsurance for our own account. This type of insurance is known as ‘‘retrocessional reinsurance.’’ Our
primary insurance companies also buy reinsurance from third parties. A reinsurer’s insolvency or
inability to make payments under the terms of its reinsurance treaty with us could have a material
adverse effect on us.
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From time to time, market conditions have limited, and in some cases have prevented, insurers and
reinsurers from obtaining the types and amounts of reinsurance, which they consider adequate for
their business needs. Accordingly, we may not be able to obtain our desired amounts of retrocessional
reinsurance. In addition, even if we are able to obtain such retrocessional reinsurance, we may not be
able to negotiate terms as favorable to us as in the past. This could limit the amount of business we
are willing to write, or decrease the protection available to us as a result of large loss events.
We may be adversely affected by foreign currency ﬂuctuations.
Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar. A portion of our premium is written in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar and a portion of our claims and claim expense reserves are also in non-dollar
currencies. Moreover, we maintain a portion of our cash equivalent investments in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar. Although we generally seek to hedge signiﬁcant non-U.S. dollar positions, we
may, from time to time, experience losses resulting solely from ﬂuctuations in the values of these
foreign currencies, which could cause our consolidated earnings to decrease. In addition, failure to
manage our foreign currency exposures could cause our results to be more volatile.
Consolidation in the insurance industry could adversely impact us.
We believe that many insurance industry participants are seeking to consolidate. These consolidated
entities may try to use their enhanced market power to negotiate price reductions for our products
and services. If competitive pressures reduce our prices, we would expect to write less business. As the
insurance industry consolidates, competition for customers will become more intense and the
importance of acquiring and properly servicing each customer will become greater. We could incur
greater expenses relating to customer acquisition and retention, further reducing our operating
margins. In addition, insurance companies that merge may be able to spread their risks across a
consolidated, larger capital base so that they require less reinsurance. We could also experience more
robust competition from larger, better capitalized competitors.
We may encounter difﬁculties in maintaining the information technology systems necessary to run our
business.
We believe our modeling, underwriting and information technology systems are critical to our
business. Moreover, our proprietary technology has been an important part of our underwriting
process and our ability to compete successfully. We have also licensed certain systems and data from
third parties. We cannot be certain that we will also continue to have access to these, or comparable,
service providers, or that our proprietary technology will continue to operate as intended. Our
business growth strategy will require further development of our technology infrastructure, and any
defect or error in our information technology systems could result in reduced or delayed revenue
growth, higher than expected losses, management distraction, or harm to our reputation.
Some aspects of our corporate structure may discourage third party takeovers and other transactions or
prevent the removal of our current board of directors and management.
Some provisions of our Memorandum of Association and of our Amended and Restated Bye-Laws
have the effect of making more difﬁcult or discouraging unsolicited takeover bids from third parties or
preventing the removal of our current board of directors and management. In particular, our
Bye-Laws prohibit transfers of our capital shares if the transfer would result in a person owning or
controlling shares that constitute 9.9% or more of any class or series of our shares. The primary
purpose of this restriction is to reduce the likelihood that we will be deemed a ‘‘controlled foreign
corporation’’ within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code for U.S. federal tax purposes.
However, this limit may also have the effect of deterring purchases of large blocks of common shares
or proposals to acquire us, even if some or a majority of our shareholders might deem these purchases
or acquisition proposals to be in their best interests.
In addition, our Bye-Laws provide for:
•

a classiﬁed Board, whose size is ﬁxed and whose members may be removed by the
shareholders only for cause upon a 662⁄3% vote;

•

restrictions on the ability of shareholders to nominate persons to serve as directors, submit
resolutions to a shareholder vote and requisition special general meetings;
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•

a large number of authorized but unissued shares which may be issued by the Board without
further shareholder action; and

•

a 662⁄3% shareholder vote to amend, repeal or adopt any provision inconsistent with several
provisions of the Bye-Laws.

These Bye-Law provisions make it more difﬁcult to acquire control of us by means of a tender offer,
open market purchase, proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions are designed to encourage
persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate with our directors, which we believe would
generally best serve the interests of our shareholders. However, these provisions could have the effect
of discouraging a prospective acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain
control of us. In addition, these Bye-Law provisions could prevent the removal of our current board
of directors and management. To the extent these provisions discourage takeover attempts, they could
deprive shareholders of opportunities to realize takeover premiums for their shares or could depress
the market price of the shares.
RenaissanceRe indirectly owns Stonington, Stonington Lloyd’s and Newstead. Our ownership of a
U.S. insurance company such as these can, under applicable state insurance company laws and
regulations, delay or impede a change of control of RenaissanceRe. Under applicable state insurance
regulations, any proposed purchase of 10% or more of our voting securities would require the prior
approval of the relevant insurance regulatory authorities.
Investors may have difﬁculties in serving process or enforcing judgments against us in the U.S.
We are a Bermuda company. In addition, certain of our ofﬁcers and directors reside in countries
outside the U.S. All or a substantial portion of our assets and the assets of these ofﬁcers and directors
are or may be located outside the U.S. Investors may have difﬁculty effecting service of process within
the U.S. on our directors and ofﬁcers who reside outside the U.S. or to recover against us or these
directors and ofﬁcers on judgments of U.S. courts based on civil liabilities provisions of the U.S.
federal securities laws whether or not we appoint an agent in the U.S. to receive service of process.
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GLOSSARY OF SELECTED INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE TERMS
Accident year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Year of occurrence of a loss. Claim payments and reserves for claims
and claim expenses are allocated to the year in which the loss
occurred.
Acquisition expenses . . . . . . . . . . The aggregate expenses incurred by a company acquiring new
business, including commissions, underwriting expenses and
administrative expenses.
Attachment point . . . . . . . . . . . . . The dollar amount of loss (per occurrence or in the aggregate, as the
case may be) above which excess of loss reinsurance becomes
operative.
Backup premiums written . . . . . . The premiums written for additional reinsurance coverage purchased
after a series of catastrophic events has exhausted or signiﬁcantly
reduced the initial and reinstatement limits available under the
original coverages purchased.
Bordereau . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A report providing premium or loss data with respect to identiﬁed
speciﬁc risks. This report is periodically furnished to a reinsurer by
the ceding insurers or reinsurers.
Broker. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . An intermediary who negotiates contracts of insurance or reinsurance,
receiving a commission for placement and other services rendered,
between (1) a policy holder and a primary insurer, on behalf of the
insured party, (2) a primary insurer and reinsurer, on behalf of the
primary insurer, or (3) a reinsurer and a retrocessionaire, on behalf of
the reinsurer.
Capacity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . The percentage of surplus, or the dollar amount of exposure, that an
insurer or reinsurer is willing or able to place at risk. Capacity may
apply to a single risk, a program, a line of business or an entire book
of business. Capacity may be constrained by legal restrictions,
corporate restrictions or indirect restrictions.
Case reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Loss reserves, established with respect to speciﬁc, individual reported
claims.
Casualty insurance or
reinsurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Insurance or reinsurance that is primarily concerned with the losses
caused by injuries to third persons and their property (in other words,
persons other than the policyholder) and the legal liability imposed
on the insured resulting therefrom. Also referred to as liability
insurance.
Catastrophe . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A severe loss, typically involving multiple claimants. Common perils
include earthquakes, hurricanes, hailstorms, severe winter weather,
ﬂoods, ﬁres, tornadoes, explosions and other natural or man-made
disasters. Catastrophe losses may also arise from acts of war, acts of
terrorism and political instability.
Catastrophe excess of loss
reinsurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A form of excess of loss reinsurance that, subject to a speciﬁed limit,
indemniﬁes the ceding company for the amount of loss in excess of a
speciﬁed retention with respect to an accumulation of losses resulting
from a ‘‘catastrophe.’’
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Cede; cedant; ceding company . . When a party reinsures its liability with another, it ‘‘cedes’’ business
and is referred to as the ‘‘cedant’’ or ‘‘ceding company.’’
Claim. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Request by an insured or reinsured for indemniﬁcation by an
insurance company or a reinsurance company for loss incurred from
an insured peril or event.
Claims and claim expense
Ratio, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . The ratio of net claims and claim expenses to net premiums earned
determined in accordance with either SAP or GAAP.
Claim reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Liabilities established by insurers and reinsurers to reﬂect the
estimated costs of claim payments and the related expenses that the
insurer or reinsurer will ultimately be required to pay in respect of
insurance or reinsurance policies it has issued. Claims reserves consist
of case reserves, established with respect to individual reported
claims, and ‘‘IBNR’’ reserves. For reinsurers, loss expense reserves
are generally not signiﬁcant because substantially all of the loss
expenses associated with particular claims are incurred by the primary
insurer and reported to reinsurers as losses.
Combined ratio . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . The combined ratio is the sum of the net claims and claim expense
ratio and the underwriting expense ratio. A combined ratio below
100% generally indicates proﬁtable underwriting prior to the
consideration of investment income. A combined ratio over 100%
generally indicates unproﬁtable underwriting prior to the
consideration of investment income.
Earned Premium. . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1) That part of the premium applicable to the expired part of the
policy period, including the short-rate premium on cancellation, the
entire premium on the amount of loss paid under some contracts, and
the entire premium on the contract on the expiration of the policy,
which is recognized as income during the period.
(2) That portion of the reinsurance premium calculated on a
monthly, quarterly or annual basis which is to be retained by the
reinsurer and recognized as income in the period should their cession
be canceled.
(3) When a premium is paid in advance for a certain time, the
company is said to ‘‘earn’’ the premium as the time advances. For
example, a policy written for three years and paid for in advance
would be one-third earned at the end of the ﬁrst year.
Excess and surplus lines
reinsurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Any type of coverage that cannot be placed with an insurer admitted
to do business in a certain jurisdiction. Risks placed in excess and
surplus lines markets are often substandard as respects adverse loss
experience, unusual, or unable to be placed in conventional markets
due to a shortage of capacity.

45

Excess of loss. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Reinsurance or insurance that indemniﬁes the reinsured or insured
against all or a speciﬁed portion of losses on underlying insurance
policies in excess of a speciﬁed amount, which is called a ‘‘level’’ or
‘‘retention.’’ Also known as non-proportional reinsurance. Excess of
loss reinsurance is written in layers. A reinsurer or group of
reinsurers accepts a layer of coverage up to a speciﬁed amount. The
total coverage purchased by the cedant is referred to as a ‘‘program’’
and will typically be placed with predetermined reinsurers in
pre-negotiated layers. Any liability exceeding the outer limit of the
program reverts to the ceding company, which also bears the credit
risk of a reinsurer’s insolvency.
Exclusions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Those risk, perils, or classes of insurance with respect to which the
reinsurer will not pay loss or provide reinsurance, notwithstanding the
other terms and conditions of reinsurance.
Frequency. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . The number of claims occurring during a given coverage period.
Generally accepted accounting
principles (‘‘GAAP’’) . . . . . . . . . . Accounting principles as set forth in opinions of the Accounting
Principles Board of the American Institute of Certiﬁed Public
Accountants and/or statements of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board and/or their respective successors and which are applicable in
the circumstances as of the date in question. Also referred to as
GAAP.
Gross premiums written . . . . . . . Total premiums for insurance written and assumed reinsurance during
a given period.
Incurred but not reported
(‘‘IBNR’’) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Reserves for estimated losses that have been incurred by insureds and
reinsureds but not yet reported to the insurer or reinsurer including
unknown future developments on losses which are known to the
insurer or reinsurer.
Layer. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . The interval between the retention or attachment point and the
maximum limit of indemnity for which a reinsurer is responsible.
Line of Business . . . . . . . . . . . . . . The general classiﬁcation of insurance written by insurers, i.e., ﬁre,
allied lines, homeowners, among others.
Loss; losses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . An occurrence that is the basis for submission and/or payment of a
claim. Whether losses are covered, limited or excluded from coverage
is dependant on the terms of the policy.
Losses occurring contracts. . . . . . Contracts that cover claims arising from loss events that occur during
the term of the reinsurance contract.
Loss ratio . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Net claims incurred expressed as a percentage of net earned
premiums.
Loss reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . For an individual loss, an estimate of the amount the insurer expects
to pay for the reported claim. For total losses, estimates of expected
payments for reported and unreported claims. May include amounts
for claims expenses.
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Net claims and claim expenses . . The expenses of settling claims net of recoveries, including legal and
other fees and the portion of expenses general expenses allocated to
claim settlement costs (also known as claim adjustment expenses) plus
losses incurred with respect to net claims.
Net premiums earned. . . . . . . . . . The portion of net premiums written during or prior to a given period
that was actually recognized as income during such period.
Net premiums written . . . . . . . . . Gross premiums written for a given period less premiums ceded to
reinsurers and retrocessionaires during such period.
No claims bonus . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A reduction of premiums assumed or ceded if no claims have been
made within a speciﬁed period.
Non-proportional reinsurance. . . See Excess of loss.
Perils . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . This term refers to the causes of possible loss in the property ﬁeld,
such as ﬁre, windstorm, collision, hail, etc. In the casualty ﬁeld, the
term ‘‘hazard’’ is more frequently used.
Premiums; written, earned and
unearned. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . The amount charged during the term on policies and contracts issued,
renewed or reinsured by an insurance company or reinsurance
company. Written premium is premium registered on the books of an
issuer or reinsurer at the time a policy is issued and paid for.
Unearned premium is premium for a future exposure period. Earned
premium is written premium minus unearned premium for an
individual policy.
Property insurance or
reinsurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Insurance or reinsurance that provides coverage to a person with an
insurable interest in tangible property for that person’s property loss,
damage or loss of use.
Property per risk treaty
reinsurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Reinsurance on a treaty basis of individual property risks insured by a
ceding company.
Proportional reinsurance . . . . . . . A generic term describing all forms of reinsurance in which the
reinsurer shares a proportional part of the original premiums and
losses of the reinsured. (Also known as pro rata reinsurance, quota
share reinsurance or participating reinsurance.) In proportional
reinsurance the reinsurer generally pays the ceding company a ceding
commission. The ceding commission generally is based on the ceding
company’s cost of acquiring the business being reinsured (including
commissions, premium taxes, assessments and miscellaneous
administrative expense) and also may include a proﬁt factor. See also
‘‘Quota Share Reinsurance’’ and ‘‘Surplus Share Reinsurance.’’
Quota Share Reinsurance . . . . . . A form of proportional reinsurance in which the reinsurer assumes an
agreed percentage of each insurance being reinsured and shares all
premiums and losses according with the reinsured. See also
‘‘Proportional Reinsurance’’ and ‘‘Surplus Share Reinsurance.’’
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Reinstatement premium . . . . . . . The premium charged for the restoration of the reinsurance limit of a
catastrophe contract to its full amount after payment by the reinsurer
of losses as a result of an occurrence.
Reinsurance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . An arrangement in which an insurance company, the reinsurer, agrees
to indemnify another insurance or reinsurance company, the ceding
company, against all or a portion of the insurance or reinsurance risks
underwritten by the ceding company under one or more policies.
Reinsurance can provide a ceding company with several beneﬁts,
including a reduction in net liability on individual risks and
catastrophe protection from large or multiple losses. Reinsurance also
provides a ceding company with additional underwriting capacity by
permitting it to accept larger risks and write more business than
would be possible without a concomitant increase in capital and
surplus, and facilitates the maintenance of acceptable ﬁnancial ratios
by the ceding company. Reinsurance does not legally discharge the
primary insurer from its liability with respect to its obligations to the
insured.
Retention . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . The amount or portion of risk that an insurer retains for its own
account. Losses in excess of the retention level are paid by the
reinsurer. In proportional treaties, the retention may be a percentage
of the original policy’s limit. In excess of loss business, the retention is
a dollar amount of loss, a loss ratio or a percentage.
Retrocessional reinsurance;
retrocessionaire . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A transaction whereby a reinsurer cedes to another reinsurer, the
retrocessionaire, all or part of the reinsurance that the ﬁrst reinsurer
has assumed. Retrocessional reinsurance does not legally discharge
the ceding reinsurer from its liability with respect to its obligations to
the reinsured. Reinsurance companies cede risks to retrocessionaires
for reasons similar to those that cause primary insurers to purchase
reinsurance: to reduce net liability on individual risks, to protect
against catastrophic losses, to stabilize ﬁnancial ratios and to obtain
additional underwriting capacity.
Risk excess of loss reinsurance. . A form of excess of loss reinsurance that covers a loss of the
reinsured on a single ‘‘risk’’ in excess of its retention level of the type
reinsured, rather than to aggregate losses for all covered risks, as does
catastrophe excess of loss reinsurance. A ‘‘risk’’ in this context might
mean the insurance coverage on one building or a group of buildings
or the insurance coverage under a single policy, which the reinsured
treats as a single risk.
Risks . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A term used to denote the physical units of property at risk or the
object of insurance protection that are not perils or hazards. Also
deﬁned as chance of loss or uncertainty of loss.
Risks attaching contracts . . . . . . . Contracts that cover claims that arise on underlying insurance policies
that incept during the term of the reinsurance contract.
Specialty lines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Lines of insurance and reinsurance that provide coverage for risks
that are often unusual or difﬁcult to place and do not ﬁt the
underwriting criteria of standard commercial products carriers.
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Statutory accounting principles
(‘‘SAP’’) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Recording transactions and preparing ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with the rules and procedures prescribed or permitted by
Bermuda and/or the U.S. state insurance regulatory authorities
including the NAIC, which in general reﬂect a liquidating, rather than
going concern, concept of accounting.
Stop Loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A form of reinsurance under which the reinsurer pays some or all of
a cedant’s aggregate retained losses in excess of a predetermined
dollar amount or in excess of a percentage of premium.
Submission . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . An unprocessed application for (i) insurance coverage forwarded to a
primary insurer by a prospective policyholder or by a broker on
behalf of such prospective policyholder, (ii) reinsurance coverage
forwarded to a reinsurer by a prospective ceding insurer or by a
broker or intermediary on behalf of such prospective ceding insurer
or (iii) retrocessional coverage forwarded to a retrocessionaire by a
prospective ceding reinsurer or by a broker or intermediary on behalf
of such prospective ceding reinsurer.
Surplus share reinsurance . . . . . . A form of pro rata reinsurance (proportional) indemnifying the
ceding company against loss to the extent of the surplus insurance
liability ceded, on a share basis similar to quota share. See also
‘‘Proportional Reinsurance’’ and ‘‘Quota Share Reinsurance.’’
Total Managed Cat Premium . . . The total catastrophe reinsurance premiums written on a gross basis
by our managed catastrophe joint ventures as well as by our wholly
owned subsidiaries.
Treaty . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A reinsurance agreement covering a book or class of business that is
automatically accepted on a bulk basis by a reinsurer. A treaty
contains common contract terms along with a speciﬁc risk deﬁnition,
data on limit and retention, and provisions for premium and duration.
Underwriting . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . The insurer’s or reinsurer’s process of reviewing applications
submitted for insurance coverage, deciding whether to accept all or
part of the coverage requested and determining the applicable
premiums.
Underwriting capacity . . . . . . . . . The maximum amount that an insurance company can underwrite.
The limit is generally determined by the company’s retained earnings
and investment capital. Reinsurance serves to increase a company’s
underwriting capacity by reducing its exposure from particular risks.
Underwriting expense ratio. . . . . The ratio of the sum of the acquisition expenses and operational
expenses to net premiums earned, determined in accordance with
U.S. GAAP.
Underwriting expenses . . . . . . . . The aggregate of policy acquisition costs, including commissions, and
the portion of administrative, general and other expenses attributable
to underwriting operations.
Unearned premium . . . . . . . . . . . The portion of premiums written representing the unexpired portions
of the policies or contracts which the insurer or reinsurer has on its
books as of a certain date.
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION
We maintain a website at http://www.renre.com. The information on our website is not incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the Internet address is included as an inactive
textual reference only.
We make available, free of charge through our website, our ﬁnancial information, including the
information contained in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports ﬁled or furnished pursuant to Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically ﬁle such
material with, or furnish such material to, the SEC. We also make available, free of charge from our
website, our Audit Committee Charter, Compensation/Governance Committee Charter, Corporate
Governance Guidelines and Statement of Policies and Code of Ethics and Conduct (‘‘Code of
Ethics’’). Such information is also available in print for any shareholder who sends a request to the
Investor Relations Department of: RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., P.O. Box HM 2527, Hamilton,
HMGX, Bermuda. Reports ﬁled with the SEC may also be viewed or obtained at the SEC Public
Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the
SEC Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

We lease ofﬁce space in Bermuda, where our executive ofﬁces are located. In addition, Stonington
leases ofﬁce space in Addison, Texas, and our other U.S. based subsidiaries lease ofﬁce space in
Richmond, Virginia and Raleigh, North Carolina. We also lease ofﬁce space in Dublin, Ireland. As we
anticipate additional growth in our businesses, it is likely that we will need to expand into additional
facilities to accommodate this growth.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries are subject in the course of their business to claims
litigation involving, among other things, disputed interpretations of policy coverages. These lawsuits
involving claims on policies issued by our subsidiaries which are typical to the insurance industry in
general and in the normal course of business are considered in our claims and claim expense reserves
which are addressed in the reserve for claims and claim expenses discussion.
In addition to claims litigation, we and our subsidiaries may be subject from time to time to lawsuits
or regulatory actions that do not arise from or directly relate to claims on insurance policies. This type
of potential litigation could include, for example, allegations of underwriting errors or misconduct,
employment claims, regulatory activity or disputes arising from our business ventures. We are not
currently subject to any litigation of this type whose impact is likely to be material to us. We believe
that over the next few years the ultimate outcomes of matters in this category of business litigation
should not have a material adverse effect on our ﬁnancial condition, future operating results or
liquidity, although we believe that litigation of this nature will increase in the future, and it is possible
that an adverse resolution of a number of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations in a particular quarter or ﬁscal year.
See ‘‘Recent Developments’’ for a discussion of recent subpoenas received.
ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of RenaissanceRe’s shareholders during the fourth quarter of
2004.
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PART II.
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER REPURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
PRICE RANGE OF COMMON SHARES
Our common shares began publicly trading on June 27, 1995. Our New York Stock Exchange symbol
is ‘‘RNR’’. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low prices per share
of our common shares as reported in composite New York Stock Exchange trading.
Price Range
of Common Shares
High
Low

Period

2001
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$27.95
25.23
29.64
34.57

$21.18
20.83
22.87
30.47

2002
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

36.35
39.65
39.40
43.24

28.90
33.85
31.30
37.49

2003
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

40.78
46.93
48.69
49.35

34.40
40.07
41.15
44.45

2004
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

54.87
56.34
54.84
52.08

48.51
48.80
48.12
46.82

2005
First Quarter (through March 1, 2005)

51.83

47.62

At March 1, 2005 the last reported sale price for our common shares was $47.99 per share. At
March 1, 2005 there were 132 holders of record of our common shares and approximately 25,000
beneﬁcial holders.
DIVIDEND POLICY
Historically, we have paid dividends on our common shares every quarter, and have increased our
dividend during each of the nine years since our initial public offering. The Board of Directors of
RenaissanceRe declared regular quarterly dividends of $0.19 per share on March 9, June 1,
September 1 and December 3, 2004. The Board of Directors declared regular quarterly dividends of
$0.15 per share on March 3, June 2, September 10 and December 5, 2003. Most recently, on March 8,
2005, our Board declared a dividend of $0.20 per share payable on March 31, 2005 to shareholders of
record on March 15, 2005. The declaration and payment of dividends are subject to the discretion of
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the Board and depend on, among other things, our ﬁnancial condition, general business conditions,
legal, contractual and regulatory restrictions regarding the payment of dividends by us and our
subsidiaries and other factors which the Board may in the future consider to be relevant. See Item 12
for Equity Compensation Plan information.
Below is a summary of stock repurchases for the quarter ended December 31, 2004 which exclusively
represent common stock withholdings from employees surrendered in respect of withholding tax
obligations on the vesting of restricted stock, or in lieu of cash payments for the exercise price of
employee stock options. RenaissanceRe’s Board has authorized a share repurchase program of $150
million. No shares were repurchased under this program in the quarter ended December 31, 2004. See
Note 10 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding RenaissanceRe’s
stock repurchase plan.

Total
number of
shares
purchased

Beginning shares available to be
repurchased
October 1 — 31, 2004
November 1 — 30, 2004
December 1 — 31, 2004
Total

Average
price paid
per share

Total number of
shares purchased as
part of publicly
announced plans or
programs
(in thousands)

Maximum number of
shares that may be
purchased for approximate
dollar values under the
publicly announced plans
or programs available for
repurchase (1)
(in millions)

—
$48.81
48.09
—

—
—
—
—

$150.0
150.0
150.0
150.0

—

—

$150.0

—
451(2)
1,833(2)
—
2,284

(1) The Company publicly announced its share repurchase program of $150 million on August 7,
2003. No expiration date has been established for this program.
(2) These repurchases exclusively represent withholdings from employees surrendered in respect of
withholding tax obligations on the vesting of restricted stock, or in lieu of cash payments for the
exercise price of employee stock options.
ITEM 6.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected ﬁnancial data and other ﬁnancial information at the end of
and for each of the years in the ﬁve-year period ended December 31, 2004. The historical ﬁnancial
information was prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The statement of income data for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000 and the balance sheet data at December 31,
2004, 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were derived from our consolidated ﬁnancial statements. You should
read the selected ﬁnancial data in conjunction with our consolidated ﬁnancial statements and related
notes thereto and ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations’’ included in this ﬁling and all other information appearing elsewhere or incorporated into
this ﬁling by reference.
See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the restated amounts.
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Year ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Income Data:
Gross premiums written
Net premiums written
Net premiums earned
Net investment income
Net realized gains (losses) on sales of investments
Net claims and claim expenses incurred
Acquisition costs
Operational expenses
Income before taxes and change in accounting principle
Net income available to common shareholders
Earnings per common share — diluted (1)
Dividends per common share
Weighted average common shares outstanding

2004

2003
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

2001
(Restated)

2000

$1,544,157
1,349,287
1,338,227
162,722
23,442
1,096,299
244,930
56,361
168,245
133,108
1.85
0.76
71,774

$1,382,209
1,154,776
1,118,525
129,542
80,504
369,181
194,140
67,397
624,775
605,992
8.53
0.60
71,002

$1,173,049
925,964
763,970
102,686
10,177
314,525
95,644
49,159
364,135
342,879
4.88
0.57
70,211

$501,321
342,341
334,518
75,156
18,096
129,917
45,359
39,466
200,636
184,956
2.96
0.53
62,391

$433,002
293,303
267,681
77,868
(7,151)
108,604
38,530
37,954
131,876
127,228
2.17
0.50
58,728

At December 31,
(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Total investments
Total assets
Reserve for claims and claim expenses
Reserve for unearned premiums
Debt
Subordinated obligation to capital trust
Company obligated mandatorily redeemable capital
securities of a subsidiary trust holding solely junior
subordinated debentures of RenaissanceRe
Preferred shares
Total shareholders’ equity attributable to common
shareholders
Common shares outstanding

2004

2003

2002
(Restated)

2001
(Restated)

2000

$4,826,249
5,526,318
1,459,398
365,335
350,000
103,093

$4,159,081
4,729,702
977,892
349,824
350,000
103,093

$3,077,901
3,747,173
804,795
331,985
275,000
—

$2,054,715
2,670,089
572,877
125,053
183,500
—

$ 964,305
1,468,989
403,611
112,541
50,000
—

—
500,000

—
250,000

84,630
150,000

87,630
150,000

87,630
—

2,144,042
71,029

2,084,643
70,399

1,490,690
69,750

1,095,614
67,893

700,818
58,863

(1) Earnings per common share — diluted was calculated by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the
number of weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding. Common share equivalents are
calculated on the basis of the treasury stock method.
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands, except ratios)
Segment Information:
Reinsurance
Gross premiums written (1)
Net premiums written
Income (2)
Net claims and claim expense ratio
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined ratio
Individual Risk
Gross premiums written
Net premiums written
Income (loss) (2)
Net claims and claim expense ratio
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined ratio

2004

2003
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

2001
(Restated)

2000

$1,066,065
930,946
46,389

$935,485
792,022
455,777

$890,470
698,863
286,713

$451,364
329,474
82,971

$382,816
287,941
150,003

79.0%
16.1%
95.1%

$ 478,092
418,341
(105,752)
89.0%
37.9%
126.9%

25.9%
18.0%
43.9%

$446,724
362,754
32,030
51.7%
37.8%
89.5%

40.9%
16.4%
57.3%

$282,579
227,101
17,929
43.2%
37.5%
80.7%

40.5%
22.4%
62.9%

$ 49,957
12,867
(1,469)
(30.9%)
149.6%
118.7%

40.4%
26.8%
67.2%

$ 50,186
5,362
(4,406)
47.0%
98.1%
145.1%

(1) Excludes $18.8 million, $20.8 million and $22.2 million of premium assumed from the Individual Risk segment in the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
(2) Income (loss) for the Reinsurance and Individual Risk segments represents net underwriting income. Net underwriting
income consists of net premiums earned less claims and claim expenses, acquisition costs and operational expenses.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following is a discussion and analysis of our results of operations for the year ended December
31, 2004 compared with the years ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002. The following
also includes a discussion of our ﬁnancial condition at December 31, 2004. This discussion and analysis
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated ﬁnancial statements and related notes
included in this ﬁling. This ﬁling contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from the results described or implied by these
forward-looking statements (see ‘‘Note on Forward-Looking Statements’’).
OVERVIEW
RenaissanceRe was established in 1993 to write property catastrophe reinsurance. By pioneering the
use of sophisticated computer models to construct our portfolio, we have become one of the world’s
largest and most successful catastrophe reinsurers. Recently, we have leveraged our expertise and
established growing franchises in additional selected areas of insurance and reinsurance.
Since a substantial portion of the reinsurance and insurance we write provides protection from
damages relating to natural and man-made catastrophes, our results depend to a large extent on the
frequency and severity of such catastrophic events, and the coverages we offer to clients impacted by
these events. Currently, we conduct our business through two reportable segments, Reinsurance and
Individual Risk.
Our revenues are principally derived from three sources: 1) net premiums earned from the
reinsurance and insurance policies we sell; 2) net investment income and realized gains and losses
from the investment of our capital funds and the investment of the cash we receive on the policies
which we sell; and 3) other income received from our joint ventures and various other items.
Our expenses primarily consist of: 1) net claims and claim expenses incurred on the policies of
reinsurance and insurance we sell; 2) acquisition costs which typically represent a percentage of the
premiums we write; 3) operational expenses which primarily consist of personnel expenses, rent and
other operating expenses; and 4) interest and dividend costs related to our debt, preference shares and
subordinated obligation to our capital trust. We are also subject to taxes in certain jurisdictions in
which we operate; however, since the majority of our income is currently earned in Bermuda, a
non-taxable jurisdiction, the tax impact to our operations has historically been minimal.
The operational results, also known as the underwriting results, of an insurance or reinsurance
company are discussed frequently by reference to its net claims and claim expense ratio, underwriting
expense ratio, and combined ratio. The net claims and claim expense ratio is calculated by dividing
net claims and claim expenses incurred by net premiums earned. The underwriting expense ratio is
calculated by dividing underwriting expenses (acquisition expenses and operational expenses) by net
premiums earned. The combined ratio is the sum of the net claims and claim expense ratio and the
underwriting expense ratio. A combined ratio below 100% generally indicates proﬁtable underwriting
prior to the consideration of investment income. A combined ratio over 100% generally indicates
unproﬁtable underwriting prior to the consideration of investment income. We also discuss our net
claims and claim expense ratio on an accident year basis. This ratio is calculated by taking net claims
and claim expenses, excluding development on net claims and claim expenses from events that took
place in prior years, divided by net premiums earned.
Modeling
We have developed a proprietary, computer-based pricing and exposure management system,
Renaissance Exposure Management System (REMS©). REMS© has analytic and modeling capabilities
that help us to assess the risk and return of each incremental reinsurance contract in relation to our
overall portfolio of reinsurance contracts. Before we bind any risk, exposure data is gathered from
clients and this exposure data is input into REMS© modeling system. The REMS© modeling system
enables us to measure each policy on a consistent basis and provides us with a measurement of an
appropriate price to charge for each policy based upon the risk that is assumed. We combine the
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analyses generated by REMS© with other information available to us, including our own knowledge of
the client submitting the proposed program. While REMS© is most developed in analyzing
catastrophe risks, it is also used for analyzing other classes of risk.
REMS© combines computer-generated simulations that estimate event probabilities with exposure and
coverage information on each client’s reinsurance contract to produce an estimate of expected claims
for reinsurance programs submitted to us. We have also customized REMS© by including additional
perils, risks and geographic areas that are not captured in the commercially available models.
RESTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As previously disclosed, in the fourth quarter of 2004 we engaged Boies Schiller to complete a review
of the Company’s business practices in light of the industry-wide investigations by the New York
Attorney General and other government authorities into a wide range of practices in the insurance
and reinsurance industry. Supervision of this review was subsequently taken over by the Board of
Directors, with Boies Schiller reporting directly to the independent members of the Board of
Directors. See ‘‘Business - Recent Developments.’’ This review has led to the restatement of the
Company’s audited ﬁnancial statements for the ﬁscal years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
to correct accounting errors associated with reinsurance ceded by the Company. These restatements
arose out of the transactions described below.
Certain of the restatement corrections are attributable to an Aggregate Excess of Loss Reinsurance
contract and an Assignment Agreement, each entered into by Renaissance Reinsurance with
Inter-Ocean in 2001. The Aggregate Excess of Loss Reinsurance contract initially provided for $45.0
million of maximum limit over a three-year period in exchange for annual premium of $7.3 million.
This agreement was subsequently amended to provide for $30.0 million of maximum limit for the
same annual premium. The Assignment Agreement provided for the sale by Renaissance Reinsurance
to Inter-Ocean of $50.0 million face amount of reinsurance recoverables for $30.0 million. In prior
ﬁnancial statements, the Company accounted for the Aggregate Excess of Loss Reinsurance contract
as traditional reinsurance and for the Assignment Agreement as a sale of reinsurance recoverables. In
connection with the aforementioned review, the Company concluded that these contracts, based on
the totality of the surrounding facts and circumstances, should have been treated as a single
transaction and, when so treated, lacked the necessary risk transfer to be accounted for as transactions
involving ceded reinsurance and a sale of reinsurance recoverables.
The remaining restatement corrections are attributable to four multi-year ceded reinsurance contracts.
The adjustments correct for an error in the amortization period resulting in the amortization of future
contractual premium beginning at the end of the third quarter of 2001 rather than beginning at the
end of the fourth quarter of 2001.
The aggregate net effect of the corrections is to increase 2003 net income by $1.3 million; to decrease
2002 net income by $21.9 million; and to increase 2001 net income by $20.6 million. The amounts
reﬂect: (1) the timing of the recognition of Inter-Ocean reinsurance recoverables (with the impact of
decreasing net income by $1.4 million in 2003; decreasing net income by $25.0 million in 2002; and
increasing net income by $26.4 million in 2001), and (2) the timing of premium ceded on multi-year
contracts (with the impact of increasing net income by $2.7 million in 2003; increasing net income by
$3.1 million in 2002; and decreasing net income by $5.8 million in 2001). These restatements only
affect the Reinsurance segment. See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
The independent members of the Board of Directors, in connection with the aforementioned review,
have concluded that certain members of senior management (James N. Stanard, Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer; William I. Riker, President; John M. Lummis, Chief Operating Ofﬁcer/Chief Financial Ofﬁcer;
Michael W. Cash, Senior Vice President; and Martin J. Merritt, Controller) made mistakes and in
some instances lacked due care in connection with the original accounting for the Inter-Ocean
transactions that led to the restatement. The independent members of the Board of Directors plan to
discuss their ﬁndings directly with each of the aforementioned executives. The independent members
of the Board of Directors also concluded that, since 2001, the Company has made signiﬁcant
improvements in its internal controls, including controls over ﬁnancial reporting. These improvements
include:
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•

signiﬁcantly increasing the number of accounting professionals dedicated to ﬁnancial
reporting;

•

hiring a general counsel and developing a legal department, including legal resources
dedicated to the Company’s reinsurance underwriting function;

•

hiring an internal auditor and developing an internal audit function;

•

designing and implementing controls related to accounting for complex reinsurance
contracts; and

•

developing training programs regarding the contractual features contained within reinsurance
contracts that may require an accounting review in accordance with the Company’s policies
and procedures.

During the last two ﬁscal years, the Company has also formalized its internal control environment
over ﬁnancial reporting in connection with its compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
SUMMARY OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Claims and Claim Expense Reserves
We believe that the most signiﬁcant accounting judgment made by management is our estimate of
claims and claim expense reserves. Claims reserves represent estimates, including actuarial and
statistical projections at a given point in time, of the ultimate settlement and administration costs of
claims incurred. Our estimates are not precise in that, among other things, they are based on
predictions of future developments and estimates of future trends and other variable factors such as
inﬂation. It is likely that the ultimate liability will be greater or less than such estimates and that, at
times, this variance will be material. Also, reserving for our Reinsurance and Individual Risk
businesses can involve uncertainty because of the dependence on information from ceding companies,
the time lag inherent in reporting information from the primary insurer to us, and differing reserving
practices among ceding companies. The information received from ceding companies is typically in the
form of bordereaux, broker notiﬁcations of loss and/or discussions with ceding companies or their
brokers. This information can be received on a monthly, quarterly or transactional basis and normally
includes estimates of paid and incurred losses and may sometimes also include an estimate of incurred
but not reported reserves (‘‘IBNR’’).
For our property catastrophe reinsurance business, which is characterized by loss events of low
frequency and high severity, reporting of claims in general tends to be prompt (as compared to
reporting of claims for ‘‘long-tail’’ products, which tends to be slower). However, the timing of claims
reporting also varies depending on various factors, including: whether the claims arise under
reinsurance of primary companies or reinsurance of other reinsurance companies; the nature of the
events (e.g., hurricanes or earthquakes); the geographic area involved; and the quality of each
customer’s claims management and reserving practices. Management’s judgments as regards to these
factors are reﬂected in management’s reserve estimates. Because the events from which claims arise
under policies written by our property catastrophe reinsurance business are typically prominent, public
occurrences such as hurricanes and earthquakes, we are often able to use independent reports of such
events to augment our loss reserve estimation process. However, based upon the amount and timing
of the reported claims from any one or more catastrophic event, such reserve estimates may change
signiﬁcantly from one quarter to another. Once we receive a notice of loss under a catastrophe
reinsurance contract, we are generally able to process such claims promptly.
For our property catastrophe reinsurance operations, we initially set our claims reserves based on case
reserves reported by insureds and ceding companies. We then add to these case reserves our estimates
for additional case reserves, and an estimate for IBNR. In addition to the loss information and
estimates communicated by cedants, we also utilize industry information which we gather and retain in
our REMS© modeling system. When property catastrophe losses do occur, the information stored in
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our REMS© modeling system enables us to analyze each of our policies against such loss and compare
our estimate of the loss with those reported by our policyholders. The REMS© modeling system also
allows us to compare and analyze individual losses reported by policyholders affected by the same loss
event. Although the REMS modeling system assists with the analysis of the underlying loss, and
provides us with the information and ability to perform increased analysis, the estimation of claims
resulting from catastrophic events is inherently difﬁcult because of the variability and uncertainty
associated with property catastrophe claims and the unique characteristics of each loss. During 2003,
with the accumulation of 10 years of historical information on our claims and claim expenses, we
adopted a new system to reassess our property catastrophe reserves on our older accident years.
During 2003 our Individual Risk segment began issuing insurance policies for certain commercial
liability coverages, including general, automobile and professional liability risks. The claim reporting
and claim development periods of these risks are generally expected to be longer than the reporting
and development periods for our property risks, and accordingly there is normally greater uncertainty
in the estimation of the reserves associated with these policies.
The loss estimation for the coverages we offer through our specialty reinsurance and Individual Risk
operations is different than that for property catastrophe oriented coverages because these coverages
are potentially subject to greater uncertainties, relating to factors such as long-term inﬂation and
changes in the social and legal environment. Moreover, in reserving for our specialty reinsurance and
Individual Risk coverages we do not have the beneﬁt of a signiﬁcant amount of our own historical
experience in these lines. We estimate our IBNR for these coverages by utilizing an actuarial method
known as the Bornhuetter-Ferguson technique. The utilization of the Bornhuetter-Ferguson technique
requires us to estimate an ultimate claims and claim expense ratio and select an estimated loss
reporting pattern. We select our estimates of the ultimate claims and claim expense ratios and
estimated loss reporting patterns by reviewing industry standards and adjusting these standards based
upon the terms of the coverages we offer. The estimated claims and claim expense ratio may be
modiﬁed to the extent that reported losses at a given point in time differ from what would be
expected based on the selected loss reporting pattern. For the Company’s specialty and Individual
Risk lines we also considered estimating reserves utilizing paid and incurred development methods.
We elected to utilize the Bornhuetter-Ferguson technique because this method allows for weight to be
applied to expected results, and hence is less susceptible to the potential pitfall of being excessively
swayed by one year or one quarter of paid and/or reported loss data.
The Company’s reserving methodology for each line of business, as discussed above, utilizes a loss
reserving model that calculates a point estimate for the Company’s ultimate losses as opposed to a
methodology that develops a range of estimates. The Company then utilizes this point estimate, along
with paid and incurred data, to record its estimate of IBNR. The Company does not utilize sensitivity
analysis in calculating reserves and therefore does not make any speciﬁc quantitative assumptions in
connection with such an analysis. See ‘‘Reserves for Claims and Claim Expenses’’ for a breakdown of
our case reserves and IBNR by line of business.
Because any reserve estimate is simply an insurer’s estimate of its ultimate liability, and because there
are numerous factors which affect reserves but cannot be determined with certainty in advance, our
ultimate payments will vary, perhaps materially, from our initial estimate of reserves. Therefore,
because of these inherent uncertainties, we have developed a reserving philosophy which attempts to
incorporate prudent assumptions and estimates. In 2005, assuming future reported and paid claims
activity is consistent with that of recent quarters, and barring unforeseen circumstances, we believe
that, as our reserves on older accident years continue to age, we may experience further reductions to
our older accident year reserves.
All of our estimates are reviewed annually with an independent actuarial ﬁrm. We also review certain
assumptions and methodologies on a quarterly basis. If we determine that adjustments to an earlier
estimate are appropriate, such adjustments are recorded in the quarter in which they are identiﬁed.
Adjustments to our prior year estimated claims reserves will impact our current year net income by
increasing our net income if the prior year estimated claims reserves are determined to be overstated,
or by reducing our net income if the prior year estimated claims reserves prove to be insufﬁcient.
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During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, changes to prior year estimated claims
reserves had the following impact: for 2004, prior year estimated claims reserves were reduced by
$140.3 million; for 2003, prior year estimated claims reserves were reduced by $93.6 million; and for
2002, prior year estimated claims reserves were increased by $23.0 million; and in each year there was
a corresponding increase or decrease to net income. Although we believe we are cautious in our
assumptions, and in the application of our methodologies, we cannot be certain that our ultimate
payments will not vary, perhaps materially, from the estimates we have made. (Also see – ‘‘Reserves
for Claims and Claim Expenses.’’)
Losses Recoverable
We enter into reinsurance agreements in order to help reduce our exposure to large losses. Amounts
recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claims and claim expense
reserves associated with the underlying reinsured policies. For multi-year retrospectively rated
contracts, we accrue amounts (either assets or liabilities) that are due to or from assuming companies
based on estimated contract experience. If we determine that adjustments to earlier estimates are
appropriate, such adjustments are recorded in the quarter in which they are determined.
The estimate of losses recoverable can be more subjective than estimating the underlying claims and
claim expense reserves as discussed under the heading ‘‘Claims and Claim Expense Reserves’’ above.
In particular, losses recoverable may be affected by deemed inuring reinsurance, industry losses
reported by various statistical reporting services, and other factors. In addition, the level of IBNR
reserves has a signiﬁcant impact on losses recoverable. These factors can impact the amount of the
losses recoverable to be recorded as well as delay the recognition of losses recoverable to reporting
periods that are different from the underlying loss.
The amount of losses recoverable ultimately collected is also open to uncertainty due to insolvency,
contractual dispute and various other reasons. Amounts estimated to be uncollectible are reﬂected in
a valuation allowance that reduces losses recoverable and net income. We estimate the valuation
allowance by applying speciﬁc percentages against each losses recoverable balance based on the
counterparty’s credit rating. The percentages applied are based on historical industry default statistics
developed by major rating agencies and are then adjusted by us based on industry knowledge. We
also apply case speciﬁc valuation allowances against certain losses recoverables that we deem unlikely
to be able to recover in full. The valuation allowance against losses recoverable was $13.1 million at
December 31, 2004 (2003 - $11.6 million).
Premiums
We recognize premiums as revenue over the terms of the related contracts and policies. Our written
premiums are based on policy and contract terms and include estimates based on information received
from both insureds and ceding companies. The information received is typically in the form of a
bordereau, broker notiﬁcations and/or discussions with ceding companies or their broker. This
information can be received on a monthly, quarterly or transactional basis and normally includes
estimates of written premium (including adjustment and reinstatement premium), earned premium,
acquisition costs and ceding commissions.
Consistent with industry practice, we recognize premium on the date the contract is bound, even if the
contract provides for an effective date prior to the date the contract is bound, thus preventing
premature revenue recognition. The date the contract is bound is the date we are on risk for the
policy and this is generally the date on which the reinsurance slip is signed. The signing of the
reinsurance contract normally occurs after the date the slip is signed.
We book premiums on non-proportional contracts in accordance with the contract terms. Premiums
written on losses occurring contracts are typically earned over the contract period. Premiums on risks
attaching contracts are generally earned as reported by the cedants, which may be over a period more
than twice as long as the contract period. For multi-year policies, only the initial annual premium is
included as written at policy inception. The remaining annual premiums are included as written at
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each successive anniversary date within the multi-year term. Management is required to make
estimates based on judgment and historical experience for periods during which information has not
yet been received.
In our Individual Risk business, it is often necessary to estimate portions of premiums written from
quota-share contracts and by program managers and the related commission expense. Management
estimates these amounts based on discussions with ceding companies and program managers, together
with historical experience and judgment. Total premiums written estimated in our Individual Risk
business at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $30.1 million, $103.7 million and $74.6 million,
respectively. The large accrual at December 31, 2003 was primarily due to one large contract where
there was a delay in reporting actual ﬁgures to us and accordingly we accrued our best estimate of the
premiums written as at December 31, 2003 on this contract. At December 31, 2004, there was no such
delay on this contract and accordingly there was a corresponding reduction in our year-end premium
accruals for our Individual Risk business. Total commissions estimated at December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 were $9.1 million, $32.3 million and $20.1 million, respectively. Management tracks the actual
premium received and commissions incurred and compares this to the estimates previously booked.
Such estimates are subject to adjustment in subsequent periods when actual ﬁgures are recorded. To
date such subsequent adjustments have not been material.
Since premiums for our Reinsurance segment are contractually driven and the reporting lag for such
premiums is minimal, estimates for premiums written for this segment are usually not signiﬁcant. The
minimum and deposit premiums on excess policies are usually set forth in the language of the contract
and are utilized to record premiums on these policies. Actual premiums are determined in subsequent
periods based on actual exposures and any adjustments are recorded in the period in which they are
identiﬁed.
Reinstatement premiums are recorded after the occurrence of a loss and are calculated in accordance
with the contract terms based upon paid losses and case reserves reported in the period.
Reinstatement premiums are earned when written.
Ceded premiums are also recognized on the date the contract is bound and are deducted from gross
written premium, to arrive at net premiums written. Ceded premiums are earned over the terms of the
related contracts and policies, and are reﬂected as a reduction to gross premiums earned to arrive at
net premiums earned.
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SUMMARY OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR 2004, 2003 AND 2002
The following tables present our consolidated results by segment.
Year ended December 31, 2004
(in thousands)

Reinsurance

Individual
Risk
Eliminations (1)
$(18,831)

Other

Gross premiums written

$1,084,896

$ 478,092

Net premiums written

$ 930,946

$ 418,341

— $1,349,287

Net premiums earned
Net claims and claim expenses incurred
Acquisition expenses
Operational expenses
Underwriting income (loss)

$ 944,527
746,010
117,145
34,983
$ 46,389

$ 393,700
350,289
127,785
21,378
$(105,752)

— $1,338,227
— 1,096,299
—
244,930
—
56,361
—
(59,363)

Net investment income
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated ventures
Other income
Other items, net
Interest and preferred share dividends
Minority interest — DaVinciRe
Net realized gains on investments
Net income available to common shareholders
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — current accident
year
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — prior years
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — total

$

Total

— $1,544,157

162,722
31,081
18,903
(27,995)
(57,102)
41,420
23,442
$192,471 $
$ 859,842
(113,832)
$ 746,010

$ 376,723
(26,434)
$ 350,289

162,722
31,081
18,903
(27,995)
(57,102)
41,420
23,442
133,108

$1,236,565
(140,266)
$1,096,299

Net claims and claim expense ratio — accident year

91.0%

95.7%

92.4%

Net claims and claim expense ratio — calendar year
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined ratio

79.0%
16.1%
95.1%

89.0%
37.9%
126.9%

81.9%
22.5%
104.4%

(1) Represents premium ceded from the Individual Risk segment to the Reinsurance segment.
Year ended December 31, 2003 (Restated)
(in thousands)

Reinsurance

Individual
Risk
Eliminations (1)
$(20,772)

Other

Gross premiums written

$956,257

$446,724

Net premiums written

$792,022

$362,754

— $1,154,776

Net premiums earned
Net claims and claim expenses incurred
Acquisition expenses
Operational expenses
Underwriting income

$812,142
210,634
93,227
52,504
$455,777

$306,383
158,547
100,913
14,893
$ 32,030

— $1,118,525
—
369,181
—
194,140
—
67,397
—
487,807

Net investment income
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated ventures
Other income
Other items, net
Interest, preferred share dividends, Capital Securities
minority interest
Minority interest — DaVinciRe
Net realized gains on investments
Net income available to common shareholders
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — current accident
year
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — prior years
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — total

$

Total

— $1,382,209

129,542
21,167
5,903
(2,394)

129,542
21,167
5,903
(2,394)

(44,523)
(44,523)
(72,014)
(72,014)
80,504
80,504
$118,185 $ 605,992
$279,334
(68,700)
$210,634

$183,482
(24,935)
$158,547

$ 462,816
(93,635)
$ 369,181

Net claims and claim expense ratio — accident year

34.4%

59.9%

41.4%

Net claims and claim expense ratio — calendar year
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined ratio

25.9%
18.0%
43.9%

51.7%
37.8%
89.5%

33.0%
23.4%
56.4%

(1) Represents premium ceded from the Individual Risk segment to the Reinsurance segment.
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Year ended December 31, 2002 (Restated)
(in thousands)

Reinsurance

Individual
Risk
Eliminations (1)
$(22,225)

Other

Gross premiums written

$912,695

$282,579

Net premiums written

$698,863

$227,101

— $ 925,964

Net premiums earned
Net claims and claim expenses incurred
Acquisition expenses
Operational expenses

$670,991
274,316
70,698
39,264

$ 92,979
40,209
24,946
9,895

— $ 763,970
—
314,525
—
95,644
—
49,159

Underwriting income

$286,713

$ 17,929

—

Net investment income
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated ventures
Other income
Other items, net
Interest, preferred share dividends, Capital Securities
minority interest
Minority interest — DaVinciRe
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
Net realized gains on investments
Net income available to common shareholders

$

Total

— $1,173,049

304,642

102,686
22,339
10,482
(10,351)

102,686
22,339
10,482
(10,351)

(32,858)
(55,051)
(9,187)
10,177

(32,858)
(55,051)
(9,187)
10,177

$ 38,237 $ 342,879

Net claims and claim expenses incurred — current accident
year
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — prior years

$254,387
19,929

$ 37,133
3,076

$ 291,520
23,005

Net claims and claim expenses incurred — total

$274,316

$ 40,209

$ 314,525

Net claims and claim expense ratio — accident year

37.9%

39.9%

38.2%

Net claims and claim expense ratio — calendar year
Underwriting expense ratio

40.9%
16.4%

43.2%
37.5%

41.2%
19.0%

57.3%

80.7%

60.2%

Combined ratio

(1) Represents premium ceded from the Individual Risk segment to the Reinsurance segment.

Summary Overview
Our 2004 net income was $133.1 million compared to net income of $606.0 million in 2003. The
substantial decline in net income results from the four large hurricanes, Charley, Frances, Jeanne and
Ivan, that occurred during the third quarter of 2004, which together caused a negative impact of
$570.2 million to our 2004 results. This impact is reﬂected in the following items: net losses of $725.5
million, plus the reversal of previously accrued proﬁt commission of $12.6 million, which is reﬂected as
an increase to acquisition expenses of the Reinsurance segment, less reinstatement premiums earned
of $30.1 million and less minority interest offset of $137.8 million. These amounts are based on
management’s estimates following a review of our potential exposures and discussions with our
counterparties. Given the magnitude of these loss events and due to delays in receiving claims data,
these results are subject to change based on developments including new or revised data received
from our counterparties. Additionally, depending on the ultimate level of the industry losses from
these events, it is possible that in future periods additional recoveries from certain of our
retrocessional coverages may be triggered and result in a reduction to our net losses from these
events. Changes to these estimates will be recorded in the period in which they occur.
Other signiﬁcant items affecting 2004 net income include a reduction of prior years estimated ultimate
net claims reserves of $140.3 million, an increase in investment income of $33.2 million, and
reductions in net realized gains on investments of $57.1 million. The reduction in prior years’
estimated ultimate net claims reserves was primarily due to a re-estimation of our ultimate losses
associated with six large catastrophe events, which produced a reduction of approximately $31.3
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million, a $23.0 million reduction in reserves from numerous smaller catastrophe events, $46.8 million
in reductions from our specialty book of business, and $26.4 million in reductions from our Individual
Risk book of business. The reductions in our reserves for the smaller catastrophe events, the reserves
for the specialty book of business and the reserves for our Individual Risk book of business were
driven by the application of our formulaic reserving methodology used for these books of business
and is primarily due to the actual paid and reported loss activity being better than what we had
anticipated when setting the initial ultimate claims and claim expense ratios and the initial loss
reporting patterns. The increase in investment income was largely due to $46.9 million of income and
appreciation related to investments in hedge funds, private equity funds and other alternative
investments recorded during 2004 compared to $25.9 million recorded during 2003. The increase in
investment income and appreciation was due to both higher returns and a greater level of investment
in these other investments in 2004 compared to 2003.
Our net income increased to $606.0 million in 2003 from $342.9 million in 2002, primarily due to an
increase in our net premiums earned of $354.6 million and an increase in net realized gains on
investments of $70.3 million. The increase in net premiums earned was primarily due to improved
market conditions associated with the dislocation which occurred after the World Trade Center
disaster, and the signiﬁcant losses stemming from this event. These losses caused an imbalance in the
supply and demand for our insurance and reinsurance products, and as a result, we increased our
written premiums, in both our established property catastrophe line and our specialty reinsurance line,
and also increased our premiums in our Individual Risk operations. Contributing to the increase in
Individual Risk operations during 2003 was the continued growth of: 1) our program manager
distribution channel, where we write primary insurance through specialized program managers; and 2)
our quota share reinsurance distribution channel, where we write quota share reinsurance with
primary insurers (see below for underwriting results by segment). Also, net income for 2003 was
positively affected by a reduction of prior years estimated ultimate net claims reserves of $93.6 million
and by a reduced level of catastrophe loss events occurring in 2003.
Underwriting Results by Segment
We conduct our business through two reportable segments, Reinsurance and Individual Risk. Our
Reinsurance segment provides reinsurance through our catastrophe reinsurance and specialty
reinsurance business units and through Ventures. Our Individual Risk segment provides primary
insurance and quota share reinsurance.
Our underwriting results by segment are provided below:
Reinsurance Segment
Our Reinsurance operations are comprised of three business units: 1) property catastrophe
reinsurance, primarily written through Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci; 2) specialty reinsurance,
primarily written through Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci; and 3) certain activities of Ventures.
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The following table summarizes the underwriting results and ratios for the Reinsurance segment for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:
Reinsurance segment overview
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2004

2003
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

Property catastrophe premium (1)
Renaissance
DaVinci
Total property catastrophe premium
Specialty premium
Renaissance
DaVinci
Total specialty premium
Total Reinsurance gross premium written

$ 533,339
149,840
683,179

$488,124
155,541
643,665

$455,628
187,822
643,450

351,261
31,625
382,886
$1,066,065

268,506
23,314
291,820
$935,485

247,020
—
247,020
$890,470

Net premium written

$ 930,946

$792,022

$698,863

Net premium earned — property catastrophe
Net premium earned — specialty
Total net premium earned
Net claims and claim expenses incurred
Acquisition expenses
Operational expenses
Underwriting income

$ 576,049
368,478
944,527
746,010
117,145
34,983
$ 46,389

$501,529
310,613
812,142
210,634
93,227
52,504
$455,777

$465,536
205,455
670,991
274,316
70,698
39,264
$286,713

Net claims and claim expenses incurred — current accident
year
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — prior years
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — total

$ 859,842
(113,832)
$ 746,010

$279,334
(68,700)
$210,634

$254,387
19,929
$274,316

Net claims and claim expense ratio — accident year

91.0%

34.4%

37.9%

Net claims and claim expense ratio
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined ratio

79.0%
16.1
95.1%

25.9%
18.0
43.9%

40.9%
16.4
57.3%

(1) Excludes combined premium assumed from the Individual Risk segment of $18.8 million, $20.8 million and $22.2 million
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Premiums
Property catastrophe – The $39.5 million increase in property catastrophe premiums was mainly due to
reinstatement premiums of $30.1 million and premiums for back-up covers of $27.4 million written as
a result of the third quarter hurricanes. Excluding these premiums, which in the absence of a major
catastrophe we would not expect to recur, our property catastrophe premiums declined slightly from
2003.
During 2003 our consolidated property catastrophe premiums remained ﬂat, primarily due to
increased competition and due to some softening of prices in the market, where we accordingly chose
not to renew certain policies.
During 2005, we are currently anticipating a decline in our property catastrophe premiums. (See
‘‘Current Outlook’’ for additional disclosure.)
Specialty reinsurance – During 2004 and 2003 our consolidated specialty reinsurance written premiums
increased by $91.1 million and $44.8 million, respectively. These increases were primarily due to our
continued focus on a few targeted areas of this market where we believe we can leverage our
expertise, including surety, casualty, property and terrorism-speciﬁc classes of reinsurance. The areas
representing the majority of the 2003 increase were catastrophe exposed workers’ compensation and
terrorism-speciﬁc reinsurance.
During 2005, we currently expect our specialty reinsurance premium to grow modestly. However, our
expectations for this business remain prone to potential volatility as this business is characterized by a
relatively small number of large transactions. (See ‘‘Current Outlook’’ for additional disclosure.)
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Gross Premiums Written by Geographic Region
The following is a summary of our reinsurance premiums by geographic region:
Reinsurance segment gross written premium
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2004

2003

2002

Property catastrophe
United States and Caribbean
Europe
Worldwide
Australia and New Zealand
Worldwide (excluding U.S) (1)
Other
Specialty reinsurance (2)

$ 338,315
141,385
90,607
28,614
63,529
20,729
382,886

$297,954
156,156
126,541
26,588
14,968
21,458
291,820

$310,090
86,461
169,790
2,127
56,628
18,354
247,020

Total reinsurance gross premiums written (3)

$1,066,065

$935,485

$890,470

(1) The category ‘‘Worldwide (excluding U.S.)’’ consists of contracts that cover more than one geographic region (other than
the U.S.). The exposure in this category for gross written premiums written to date is predominantly from Europe and
Japan.
(2) The category specialty reinsurance consists of contracts that are predominantly exposed to U.S. risks, with a small portion
of the risks being Worldwide.
(3) Excludes $18.8 million, $20.8 million and $22.2 million of total premium assumed by the Reinsurance segment from the
Individual Risk segment in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Ceded Premiums Written
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Ceded premiums written — Reinsurance
segment

2004

2003

2002

$135,119

$143,463

$191,607

Because of the potential volatility of the property catastrophe reinsurance business, we purchase
reinsurance to reduce our exposure to large losses. We use our REMS© modeling system to evaluate
how each purchase interacts with our portfolio of reinsurance contracts we write, and with the other
ceded reinsurance contracts we purchase, to determine the appropriateness of the pricing of each
contract. During 2004 and 2003, we reduced the level of reinsurance purchased because of the
reduction in the availability of appropriately priced coverages.
Although we would remain liable to the extent that any of our reinsurers fail to pay our claims,
before placing reinsurance we evaluate the ﬁnancial condition of our reinsurers. At December 31,
2004, the majority of the $217.8 million of net losses recoverable relates to outstanding claims reserves
on our books (as distinguished from claims that we have already paid), and, in accordance with the
terms of the policies, we generally must wait to collect from our reinsurers until we pay the underlying
claims. We expect to collect the recorded net balance of the losses recoverable.
To the extent that appropriately priced coverage is available, we anticipate continued use of
reinsurance to reduce the potential volatility of our results.
Underwriting Results
The 2004 underwriting results for the Reinsurance segment decreased to $46.4 million of underwriting
income, compared to underwriting income of $455.8 million in 2003. The signiﬁcant decline is
primarily attributable to the $549.7 million negative impact from the four large hurricanes that
occurred during the third quarter. This impact is reﬂected in the following items: net losses of $581.8
million, plus the reversal of previously accrued proﬁt commission of $12.6 million, which is reﬂected as
an increase to acquisition expenses of the reinsurance segment, less reinstatement premiums earned of
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$44.7 million. Because we do not include minority interest in our summary of underwriting income in
the table above, the $549.7 million referred to above does not reﬂect the $137.8 million offset for the
minority interest of the 74.75% shareholders of DaVinciRe, which, when considered, would result in
the net $411.9 million total effect to the reinsurance segment.
Offsetting the effect of the hurricanes above was a reduction of prior years estimated ultimate net
claims reserves of $113.8 million. The reduction in prior years’ estimated ultimate net claims reserves
was primarily due to a re-estimation of our ultimate losses associated with six large catastrophe
events, which produced a reduction of approximately $31.3 million, a $23.0 million reduction in
reserves from numerous smaller catastrophe events, and $46.8 million in reductions from our specialty
book of business. The reductions in our reserves for the smaller catastrophe events and the reserves
for the specialty book of business were driven by the application of our formulaic reserving
methodology used for these books of business and were primarily due to the actual paid and reported
loss activity being better than what we had anticipated when estimating the initial ultimate claims and
claims expense ratios and the initial loss reporting patterns.
The increase in our 2003 net underwriting income from our Reinsurance segment, compared to 2002,
was primarily the result of three factors: 1) the comparably low level of property catastrophe losses
during 2003 which reduced our net claims and claim expenses by approximately $40.0 million; 2)
favorable development on prior period reserves which contributed $68.7 million of a reduction in net
claims and claim expenses; and 3) the increase in our net reinsurance premiums earned during 2003,
as a result of our increase in gross written property catastrophe premiums in 2002 and the increase in
our gross written specialty reinsurance premiums in 2002 and 2003.
Losses from our property catastrophe reinsurance and specialty reinsurance policies can be infrequent,
but severe, as demonstrated in the variation of our results during 2004 as compared to 2003 and 2002.
During periods with benign property catastrophe loss activity, such as 2003 and 2002, we have the
potential to produce a low level of losses and a related increase in underwriting income.
Also during 2004 and 2003, as discussed under the ‘‘Premiums’’ heading above, we have continued to
increase our specialty reinsurance premiums written. This increase in specialty reinsurance premiums
will normally produce higher net claims and claim expenses than the property catastrophe reinsurance
business which will generally cause the combined ratio of our Reinsurance segment to increase in
years with normal cat loss activity.
Our underwriting expenses consist of acquisition expenses and operational expenses. Acquisition
expenses consist of costs to acquire premiums and are principally comprised of broker commissions
and excise taxes. Acquisition expenses are driven by contract terms and are normally a set percentage
of premiums and, accordingly, these costs will normally ﬂuctuate in line with the ﬂuctuation in
premiums. Operational expenses consist of salaries and other general and administrative expenses.
Our reinsurance business operates with a limited number of employees and we have the ability to
grow our written premiums without proportionally increasing our operating expenses. The decrease in
our operational expenses in 2004 by $17.5 million was primarily due to a reduction of $20.1 million in
executive compensation and bonus and incentive compensation due to changes in the compensation
structure of certain executives and also due to the reduction in underwriting proﬁt in 2004 (see –
‘‘Capital Resources’’ below). The increase in underwriting expenses during 2003 was primarily due to
an increase in acquisition costs on our specialty reinsurance business, which is attributable to
commission costs related to certain quota share premiums written in 2003 which typically carry higher
acquisition costs than our excess of loss contracts.
We have entered into joint ventures and specialized quota share cessions of our book of business. In
accordance with the joint venture and quota share agreements, we are entitled to certain fee income
and proﬁt commissions. We record these fees and proﬁt commissions as a reduction in acquisition
expenses or operating expenses and, accordingly, these fees have also contributed to the reduction in
our expense ratio.
During 2005, given the magnitude of the hurricane losses of 2004 and due to delays in receiving claims
data and the likelihood of receiving new or revised data from our counterparties, the estimates of
hurricane losses and related recoveries are likely to change. Changes in these estimates will be
recorded in the period in which they occur.
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Also during 2005, as discussed in our critical accounting policies, because our reserve estimate is
simply our estimate of our ultimate liability, and since there are numerous factors which affect
reserves but cannot be determined with certainty in advance, our ultimate payments will vary, perhaps
materially, from our initial estimate of reserves. In response to these inherent uncertainties, we have
developed a reserving philosophy which attempts to incorporate prudent assumptions and estimates.
Accordingly, if actual paid losses and incurred losses reported to us are below those utilized to
establish initial IBNR reserves, we would reﬂect positive development in our prior year reserves, as
has occurred in our 2003 and 2004 results. During 2005, assuming future reported and paid net claims
activity is consistent with that of recent quarters, and barring unforeseen circumstances, we believe
that, as our reserves on older accident years continue to age, we may experience further reductions to
our older accident year reserves. There can be no assurance, however, that this will occur, and if our
actual paid and incurred losses exceed our estimates, we would instead reﬂect adverse rather than
positive development.
Individual Risk Segment
We deﬁne our Individual Risk segment to include underwriting that involves understanding the
exposure characteristics of the original underlying insurance policy. Our principal products include: 1)
commercial and homeowners property coverages, including catastrophe-exposed lines; 2) commercial
liability coverages, including general, automobile, professional and various specialty lines; and 3)
reinsurance to other insurers on a quota share basis. We operate through the Glencoe Group of
companies, whose principal operating subsidiaries are Glencoe, Stonington and Lantana.
The following table summarizes the underwriting results and ratios for the Individual Risk segment for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002:
Individual Risk segment
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2004

2003

2002

Gross premium written

$ 478,092

$446,724

$282,579

Net premium written

$ 418,341

$362,754

$227,101

Net premium earned
Net claims and claim expenses incurred
Acquisition expenses
Operational expenses
Underwriting income (loss)

$ 393,700
350,289
127,785
21,378
$(105,752)

$306,383
158,547
100,913
14,893
$ 32,030

$ 92,979
40,209
24,946
9,895
$ 17,929

Net claims and claim expenses incurred — current
accident year
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — prior years
Net claims and claim expenses incurred — total

$ 376,723
(26,434)
$ 350,289

$183,482
(24,935)
$158,547

$ 37,133
3,076
$ 40,209

Net claims and claim expense ratio — accident year
Net claims and claim expense ratio
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined ratio

95.7%

59.9%

39.9%

89.0%
37.9
126.9%

51.7%
37.8
89.5%

43.2%
37.5
80.7%

Premiums
The increase in gross premiums written from our Individual Risk operations of $31.4 million in 2004
was primarily the result of our addition of new programs and expansion of existing programs
compared to the prior year. The 2004 growth in individual risk premiums is below our expectations
due to later inceptions of certain programs than previously anticipated.
The increase in our premiums from our Individual Risk operations in 2003 was as a result of an
improving market environment due primarily to: 1) the increase in demand for insurance and
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reinsurance protection, and the withdrawal of supply, as a result of the substantial losses stemming
from the World Trade Center disaster in 2001; 2) the ongoing increase to prior year reserves for many
companies with asbestos and environmental liabilities; and 3) the continuing increases to prior year
reserves for companies who participated in the casualty market of the late 1990’s. As a result of these
items, many insurance companies in the U.S. withdrew from the U.S. insurance market, and many
insurance companies had their credit ratings substantially reduced. In response to these dislocations,
we received numerous opportunities to partner with program managers who were looking for high
quality, stable companies with which to do business. Also, because of our ﬁnancial strength and our
strong ratings, we received increasing opportunities to work with existing insurance companies on a
quota share basis.
During 2005, we expect that certain new programs will incept in the ﬁrst half of the year. Assuming
we are correct, and assuming our estimate for growth in other existing areas of the Individual Risk
business is also correct, we expect gross written premium growth for this segment to grow signiﬁcantly
in 2005.
Ceded Premiums Written
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Ceded premiums written — Individual Risk
segment (1)

2004

2003

2002

$59,751

$83,970

$55,478

(1) Includes $18.8 million, $20.8 million and $22.2 million of premium ceded to Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

We purchase reinsurance to reduce our exposure to large losses. With the continued growth in the
gross written premiums of our Individual Risk segment, we continued to look for opportunities to
purchase appropriately priced reinsurance coverage.
Underwriting Results
The 2004 underwriting results for the Individual Risk segment decreased to an underwriting loss of
$105.8 million, compared to underwriting income of $32.0 million in 2003. The signiﬁcant decline is
primarily attributable to the $158.3 million of negative impact from the four large hurricanes that
occurred during the third quarter. This impact is reﬂected in the following items: net losses of $143.7
million plus reinstatement premiums ceded of $14.6 million.
Offsetting the effect of the hurricanes above was a reduction of prior years estimated ultimate net
claims reserves of $26.4 million. The reduction in prior years’ estimated ultimate net claims reserves
was driven by the application of our formulaic reserving methodology used for the Individual Risk
book of business and is primarily due to the actual paid and reported loss activity being better than
what we had anticipated when estimating the initial ultimate claims and claims expense ratios and the
initial loss reporting patterns
The increase in the 2003 net underwriting income of our Individual Risk segment was primarily due to
the growth in net earned premiums by $213.4 million (as discussed above).
Our underwriting expenses consist of acquisition expenses and operational expenses. Acquisition
expenses consist of costs to acquire premiums and are comprised of fees and expenses paid to: 1)
program managers, who source primary insurance premiums for us through specialized programs; 2)
primary insurers, with whom we write quota share reinsurance; and 3) broker commissions and excise
taxes paid to brokers, who source insurance for us on a risk-by-risk basis. Acquisition expenses are
driven by contract terms and are generally determined based on a set percentage of premiums.
Operational expenses consist of compensation and other general and administrative expenses. Our
Individual Risk business operates with a limited number of employees and, accordingly, we outsource
much of the administration of our Individual Risk business to program managers and third party
administrators.
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During 2003 we began issuing insurance policies for certain commercial liability coverages, including
general, automobile and professional liability risks. The claim reporting and claim development
periods of these risks are longer than the reporting and development periods for our property risks,
and accordingly there is normally greater uncertainty in the estimation of the reserves associated with
these policies.
During 2005, given the magnitude of the hurricane losses of 2004 and due to delays in receiving claims
data and the likelihood of receiving new or revised data from our counterparties, the estimates of
hurricane losses and related recoveries are likely to change. Changes in these estimates will be
recorded in the period in which they occur.
Net Investment Income
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Net investment income

2004

2003

2002

$162,722

$129,542

$102,686

The increase in investment income in 2004 was largely as a result of increased income from hedge
funds, private equity funds and other alternative investments, both as a result of higher returns and a
higher level of investment over 2003. Net income on these investments, which includes net unrealized
appreciation, was $46.9 million in 2004. During 2003, we recorded $25.9 million of net investment
income from these other investments (2002 - $0.4 million loss), which were largely responsible for the
increase in net investment income during 2003. These investments are carried at fair value, with
interest, dividend income and realized and unrealized gains (losses) included in investment income.
Other Income and Equity in Earnings of Other Ventures
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Fee income
Other items
Total other income
Equity in earnings of other ventures
Total

2004

2003

2002

$ 6,765
12,138

$ 7,655
(1,752)

$ 3,882
6,600

18,903
31,081

5,903
21,167

10,482
22,339

$49,984

$27,070

$32,821

Fee income was essentially ﬂat comparing 2004 to 2003 and primarily consisted of fees related to
services provided to Platinum. The increase in other items primarily reﬂects the recording of $27.4
million in unrealized gains on the Platinum warrant, which was recorded in the income statement at
fair value commencing in the fourth quarter of 2004 as the result of the expiration of a lockup
provision, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. This was partially offset by
$12.5 million of losses recognized by the Company from short positions in credit derivatives generally
used to hedge potential credit-related exposures of the Company. The increase in equity in earnings of
other ventures was primarily due to $9.8 million of equity pickup from our investment in Channel Re,
which incepted in 2004.
During 2003, the majority of our equity in earnings of other ventures was generated from our 50%
equity ownership in Top Layer Re. The increase in fee income during 2003 was primarily due to the
$4.0 million annual fee we receive related to services provided to Platinum. The reduction in other
items is primarily related to the derivative income we received in 2002 related to derivative
instruments under which recoveries are triggered by an industry loss index or geological or physical
variables, which did not repeat in 2003.
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Corporate Expenses
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Corporate expenses

2004

2003

2002

$17,609

$16,043

$14,327

Corporate expenses include expenses related to legal and certain consulting expenses, costs for
research and development, and other miscellaneous costs associated with operating as a publicly
traded company. The increase in corporate expenses during 2004, primarily related to increases in fees
to comply with recently adopted regulations of the SEC, including those related to complying with the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, including Section 404, and an increase in various legal expenses.
The increase in corporate expenses during 2003 primarily related to an increase in the cost for
directors’ and ofﬁcers’ insurance and increases in fees to comply with recently adopted regulations of
the SEC, including those related to complying with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Interest, Capital Securities and Preferred Share Dividends
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2004

2003

2002

Interest — revolving credit facilities
Interest — $150 million 7.0% Senior Notes
Interest — $100 million 5.875% Senior Notes
Interest — $103.1 million subordinated
obligation to Capital Trust

$ 2,366
10,500
5,875

$ 2,318
10,500
5,434

$ 2,569
10,500
—

7,227

—

—

Total interest expense
Dividends — $103.1 million Capital Securities
Dividends — $150 million 8.1% Series A
Preference Shares
Dividends — $100 million 7.3% Series B
Preference Shares
Dividends — $250 million 6.08% Series C
Preference Shares

25,968
—

18,252
7,470

13,069
7,605

12,150

12,150

12,184

7,300

6,651

—

11,684

—

—

$57,102

$44,523

$32,858

Total interest and Capital Securities and
preferred share dividends

Our interest payments and preferred dividends increased during 2004, primarily as a result of the
issuance of $250 million 6.08% Series C Preference Shares in March 2004. Our interest payments and
preferred dividends increased during 2003, primarily as a result of the issuance of $100 million 5.875%
Senior Notes and the issuance of $100 million 7.3% Series B Preference Shares. This capital was raised
to support the growth in our insurance and reinsurance operations.
Income Tax Expense (Beneﬁt)
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Income tax expense (beneﬁt)

2004

2003

2002

$4,003

$(18)

$(115)

During 2004, our U.S. operations did not generate taxable income and, accordingly, we increased the
valuation allowance on our deferred tax asset by $4.0 million so that our valuation allowance is now
equal to our net deferred tax asset. During 2003 and 2002 we wrote a limited amount of business in
our U.S. operations and therefore the related tax impact for 2003 and 2002 was minimal.
We currently plan to continue to increase the business written by our U.S. tax-paying insurance
subsidiaries. If, as a result, our U.S. operations begin to generate taxable income, the appropriateness
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of the valuation allowance will be reassessed and, accordingly, potential proﬁts from our U.S.
operations would possibly not have a corresponding offset for tax expenses, up to the $38.2 million
valuation allowance recorded at December 31, 2004.
Net Realized Gains on Investments
Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Net realized gains on investments

2004

2003

2002

$23,442

$80,504

$10,177

Our investment portfolio is structured to preserve capital and provide us with a high level of liquidity.
A large majority of our investments are invested in the ﬁxed income markets and, therefore, our
realized holding gains and losses on investments are highly correlated to ﬂuctuations in interest rates.
Therefore, as interest rates decline, we will tend to have realized gains from the turnover of our
investment portfolio, and as interest rates increase, we will tend to have realized losses from the
turnover of our investment portfolio, although the actual amount of realized gains (losses) on sales of
investments can be reduced depending on which speciﬁc securities we choose to sell.
The amount of the realized gains or realized losses that will be recorded in the future will be
dependent upon the level of our investments, the changes in the interest rate environment and how
quickly or slowly we choose to turn over our investment portfolio.
Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle - Goodwill
Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’)
Statement No. 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,’’ (‘‘FAS 142’’). In the second quarter of
2002, the Company completed its initial impairment review in compliance with the transition
provisions of FAS 142 and, as a result, the Company decided to record goodwill at zero value, the low
end of an estimated range of values, and wrote off the balance of its goodwill during the second
quarter of 2002, which totaled $9.2 million. In accordance with the provisions of FAS 142, this is
required to be recorded as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the consolidated
statement of income and is required to be recorded retroactive to January 1, 2002.
Financial Condition
RenaissanceRe is a holding company, and we therefore rely on dividends from our subsidiaries and
investment income to make principal and interest payments on our debt and capital securities, and to
make dividend payments to our preference and common shareholders.
The payment of dividends by our Bermuda subsidiaries is, under certain circumstances, limited under
U.S. statutory regulations and Bermuda insurance law, which require our Bermuda insurance
subsidiaries to maintain certain measures of solvency and liquidity. At December 31, 2004, the
statutory capital and surplus of our Bermuda insurance subsidiaries was $2.3 billion, and the amount
of capital and surplus required to be maintained was $520.6 million. During 2004, Renaissance
Reinsurance, DaVinci and Glencoe declared aggregate cash dividends of $234.4 million, $3.2 million
and $55.0 million, respectively, compared with $322.3 million, $81.6 million and $18.0, respectively, in
2003.
Our U.S. insurance subsidiary Stonington is also required to maintain certain measures of solvency
and liquidity. This is determined using risk based capital tests, which determines the threshold that
constitutes the authorized control level. If Stonington’s statutory capital and surplus falls below the
authorized control level, the commissioner is authorized to take whatever regulatory actions are
considered necessary to protect policyholders and creditors. At December 31, 2004, the statutory
capital and surplus of Stonington was $57.5 million. Because of the accumulated deﬁcit in earned
surplus from prior operations, Stonington currently cannot pay an ordinary dividend.
In the aggregate, our operating subsidiaries have historically produced sufﬁcient cash ﬂows to meet
their expected claims payments and operational expenses and to provide dividend payments to us.
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Our subsidiaries also maintain a concentration of investments in high quality liquid securities, which
management believes will provide additional liquidity for extraordinary claims payments should the
need arise. Additionally, we maintain a $500 million revolving credit facility to meet additional
liquidity and capital requirements, if necessary.
Cash Flows
Cash ﬂows from operating activities for 2004 were $518.1 million, which principally consisted of net
income of $164.2 million (prior to dividends on preference shares), plus $412.9 million for increases to
net reserves for claims and claim expenses. The 2004 cash ﬂows from operations were primarily used
to increase the investment portfolio, including ﬁxed income securities, other investments and
investments in other ventures.
We have generated cash ﬂows from operations in 2004, 2003 and 2002 signiﬁcantly in excess of our
operating commitments. Because a large portion of the coverages we provide typically can produce
losses of high severity and low frequency, it is not possible to accurately predict our future cash ﬂows
from operating activities. As a consequence, cash ﬂows from operating activities may ﬂuctuate,
perhaps signiﬁcantly, between individual quarters and years.
Reserves for Claims and Claim Expenses
Our gross case reserves and IBNR by line of business at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
At December 31, 2004
(in thousands)

Property catastrophe reinsurance
Specialty reinsurance

Case Reserves (1)

IBNR

Total

$263,541
107,090

$330,744
419,917

$ 594,285
527,007

370,631
138,285

750,661
199,821

1,121,292
338,106

$508,916

$950,482

$1,459,398

$196,477
88,899

$238,021
256,630

$ 434,498
345,529

285,376
95,930

494,651
101,935

780,027
197,865

$381,306

$596,586

$ 977,892

Total Reinsurance
Individual Risk
Total
At December 31, 2003

Property catastrophe reinsurance
Specialty reinsurance
Total Reinsurance
Individual Risk
Total

(1) Case reserves include our estimate of case reserves for insurance policies, case reserves reported by our counterparties for
reinsurance contracts, and additional case reserves for reinsurance contracts, which represent additional case reserves
established by management.

Of the total case reserve amounts above, the amount reported by ceding insurers and insureds was
$326.8 million at December 31, 2004 and $244.0 million at December 31, 2003. The remaining balance
represents additional case reserve estimates established by management.
At December 31, 2004, our total gross reserves for claims and claim expenses was $1,459.4 million and
our estimated IBNR reserves were $950.5 million. A 5% change in such IBNR reserves would equate
to a $47.5 million adjustment to net claims and claim expenses incurred, which would represent 28.9%
of our 2004 net income and 1.8% of shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2004.
As discussed in the Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates, the most signiﬁcant
accounting judgment made by management is the estimation of the claims and claim expense reserves.
Because of the variability and uncertainty associated with loss estimation, it is possible that our
individual case reserves are incorrect, possibly materially.
A large portion of our coverages provide protection from natural and man-made catastrophes which
are generally infrequent, but can be signiﬁcant, such as losses from hurricanes and earthquakes. Our
71

claims and claim expense reserves will generally ﬂuctuate, sometimes materially, based upon the
occurrence of a signiﬁcant natural or man-made catastrophic loss for which we provide reinsurance.
Our claims reserves will also ﬂuctuate based on the payments we make for these large loss events.
The timing of our payments on loss events can be affected by the event causing the loss, the location
of the loss, and whether our losses are from policies with insurers or reinsurers.
During 2003 and 2004 we increased our specialty reinsurance and Individual Risk gross written
premiums (see ‘‘Premiums’’). The addition of these lines of business adds complexity to our claims
reserving process and therefore adds uncertainty to our claims reserve estimates as the reporting of
information, the setting of initial reserves and the loss settlement process for these lines of business
vary from our traditional property catastrophe line of business.
For our Reinsurance and Individual Risk operations, our estimates of claims reserves include case
reserves reported to us as well as our estimate of appropriate additional case reserves and IBNR. Our
case reserves, additional case reserves, and our estimates for IBNR reserves are based on 1) claims
reports from insureds and program managers, 2) our underwriters’ experience in setting claims
reserves; 3) the use of computer models where applicable; and 4) historical industry claims experience.
For some classes of business we also use statistical and actuarial methods to estimate ultimate
expected claims and claim expenses. We review our claims reserves on a regular basis. (Also see
‘‘Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates’’.)
Capital Resources
Our total capital resources at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
At December 31,
(in thousands)

Common shareholders’ equity
Preference shares
Total shareholders’ equity
7.0% Senior Notes
8.54% subordinated obligation to Capital Trust
5.875% Senior Notes
DaVinci revolving credit facility — borrowed
Revolving credit facility — unborrowed
Total capital resources

2004

2003

$2,144,042
500,000

$2,084,643
250,000

2,644,042
150,000
103,093
100,000
100,000
500,000

2,334,643
150,000
103,093
100,000
100,000
400,000

$3,597,135

$3,187,736

During 2004, our capital resources increased primarily as a result of three items: 1) our net income
available to common shareholders of $133.1 million; 2) the issuance of $250.0 million of Series C
preference shares; and 3) an increase in our revolving credit facility by $100.0 million.
In March 2004, we raised $250 million through the issuance of 10 million Series C preference shares,
in February 2003, we raised $100 million through the issuance of 4 million Series B preference shares,
and in November 2001, we raised $150 million through the issuance of 6 million Series A preference
shares. The Series C, Series B and Series A preference shares may be redeemed at $25 per share at
our option on or after March 23, 2009, February 4, 2008 and November 19, 2006, respectively;
however, we have no current intentions to redeem the shares. Dividends on the Series C, Series B and
Series A preference shares are cumulative from the date of original issuance and are payable
quarterly in arrears at 6.08%, 7.3% and 8.1%, respectively, when, if, and as declared by the Board of
Directors. If RenaissanceRe submits a proposal to our shareholders concerning an amalgamation or
submits any proposal that, as a result of any changes to Bermuda law, requires approval of the holders
of RenaissanceRe preference shares to vote as a single class, RenaissanceRe may redeem the Series C,
Series B and Series A preference shares prior to March 23, 2009, February 4, 2008 and November 19,
2006, respectively, at $26 per share. The preference shares have no stated maturity and are not
convertible into any other of our securities.
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In January 2003, we issued $100 million of 5.875% Senior Notes due February 15, 2013, with interest
on the notes payable on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing August 15, 2003. In
July 2001, we issued $150 million of 7.0% Senior Notes due July 15, 2008 with interest on the notes
payable on January 15 and July 15 of each year. The notes can be redeemed by us prior to maturity
subject to payment of a ‘‘make-whole’’ premium; however, we have no current intentions of calling the
notes. The notes, which are senior obligations, contain various covenants, including limitations on
mergers and consolidations, restrictions as to the disposition of stock of designated subsidiaries and
limitations on liens on the stock of designated subsidiaries. RenaissanceRe was in compliance with the
related covenants at December 31, 2004 and 2003.
Our Capital Trust has issued Capital Securities which pay cumulative cash distributions at an annual
rate of 8.54%, payable semi-annually. During 2004 and 2003, RenaissanceRe did not purchase any of
the Capital Securities. RenaissanceRe has purchased an aggregate $15.4 million of the Capital
Securities since their issuance in 1997. The sole asset of the Capital Trust consists of our junior
subordinated debentures. The Indenture relating to these junior subordinated debentures contains
certain covenants, including a covenant prohibiting us from the payment of dividends if we are in
default under the Indenture. We were in compliance with all of the covenants of the Indenture at
December 31, 2004 and 2003. The Capital Securities mature on March 1, 2027.
Effective December 31, 2003, we adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46, ‘‘Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities – an interpretation of ARB No. 51’’ (‘‘FIN 46’’). FIN 46 requires consolidation of all
Variable Interest Entities (‘‘VIE’’) by the investor that will absorb a majority of the VIE’s expected
losses or residual returns. As further discussed in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
the Capital Trust was determined to be a VIE under FIN 46 and the Company has been determined
not to be the primary beneﬁciary of the Capital Trust. Accordingly, the Capital Trust has been
deconsolidated effective December 31, 2003. As a result, the accounts of the Capital Trust, principally
the Capital Securities previously classiﬁed as minority interest, are not included in our consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2004 or 2003. Our $103.1 million subordinated obligation to the Capital
Trust, previously eliminated in consolidation, is recorded on our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 as a liability.
During May 2004, DaVinciRe amended and restated its credit agreement providing for a $100 million
committed revolving credit facility and maintained as outstanding the full $100 million available under
this facility. Neither RenaissanceRe nor Renaissance Reinsurance is a guarantor of this facility and the
lenders have no recourse against us or our subsidiaries other than DaVinciRe and its subsidiary under
the DaVinciRe facility. Pursuant to the terms of the $500 million facility maintained by
RenaissanceRe, a default by DaVinciRe in its obligations will not result in a default under the
RenaissanceRe facility. Interest rates on the facility are based on a spread above LIBOR, and
averaged approximately 2.32% during 2004 (2003 – 2.09%). As amended, the credit agreement
contains certain covenants requiring DaVinciRe to maintain a debt to capital ratio of not more than
30% and a minimum net worth of $250 million. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, DaVinciRe was in
compliance with the covenants under this agreement. The amended and restated agreement extended
the term of the facility to May 25, 2007.
Under the terms of certain reinsurance contracts, our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries and joint
ventures may be required to provide letters of credit to reinsureds in respect of reported claims and/or
unearned premiums. Our principal letter of credit facility is a syndicated secured facility which accepts
as collateral shares issued by our subsidiary RIHL. Our participating operating subsidiaries and our
managed joint ventures have pledged (and must maintain) RIHL shares issued to them with a
sufﬁcient collateral value to support their respective obligations under the facility, including
reimbursement obligations for outstanding letters of credit. The participating subsidiaries and joint
ventures also have the option to post alternative forms of collateral. In addition, for liquidity
purposes, in order to be permitted to pledge RIHL shares as collateral, each participating subsidiary
and joint venture must maintain additional unpledged RIHL shares that have a net asset value at least
equal to 15% of its facility usage, and RIHL shares having an aggregate net asset value equal to at
least 15% of the net asset value of all outstanding RIHL shares must remain unencumbered. In the
case of a default under the facility, or in other circumstances in which the rights of our lenders to
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collect on their collateral may be impaired, the lenders may exercise certain remedies under the
facility agreement, in accordance with and subject to its terms, including redemption of pledged shares
and conversion of the collateral into cash or eligible marketable securities. The redemption of shares
by the collateral agent takes priority over any pending redemption of unpledged shares by us or other
holders. Between January 2004 and November 2004, this facility was increased to $1.0 billion from
$385 million, and as of January 18, 2005, the facility was reduced to $850 million. In November 2004,
the term of this facility was extended through April 30, 2005 and in March 2005, the reimbursement
agreement was amended to conform certain default provisions of the agreement to comparable
provisions in existing credit agreements of the Company and DaVinciRe. Subject to certain conditions,
the size of the facility may be increased to $1.3 billion. At December 31, 2004, we had outstanding
letters of credit under the facility aggregating $548.4 million.
Our subsidiary Stonington has provided a letter of credit in the amount of $68.7 million to one
counterparty which is secured by cash and eligible marketable securities. Also, in connection with our
Top Layer Re joint venture, we have committed $37.5 million of collateral to support a letter of credit
and are obligated to make a mandatory capital contribution of up to $50.0 million in the event that a
loss reduces Top Layer Re’s capital below a speciﬁed level.
During August 2004, we amended and restated our committed revolving credit agreement to increase
the facility from $400 million to $500 million, to extend the term to August 6, 2009 and to make
certain other changes. The interest rates on this facility are based on a spread above LIBOR. No
balance was outstanding at December 31, 2004 or 2003. As amended, the agreement contains certain
ﬁnancial covenants. These covenants generally provide that consolidated debt to capital shall not
exceed the ratio (the ‘‘Debt to Capital Ratio’’) of 0.35:1 and that the consolidated net worth (the ‘‘Net
Worth Requirements’’) of RenaissanceRe and Renaissance Reinsurance shall equal or exceed $1
billion and $500 million, respectively, subject to certain adjustments under certain circumstances in the
case of the Debt to Capital Ratio and certain grace periods in the case of the Net Worth
Requirements, all as more fully set forth in the agreement. We have the right, subject to certain
conditions, to increase the size of this facility to $600 million.
Shareholders’ Equity
During 2004, shareholders’ equity increased by $309.4 million to $2.6 billion at December 31, 2004,
from $2.3 billion at December 31, 2003. The signiﬁcant components of the change in shareholders’
equity included net income available to common shareholders of $133.1 million and the issuance of
$250.0 million Series C preference shares.
In the future, we may return capital to our shareholders through share repurchases. In August 2003,
the Board authorized a share repurchase program of $150 million. This authorization includes the
remaining amounts available under prior authorizations. No shares were repurchased during 2004 or
2003 under this program. In the future, we may purchase shares under our current authorization, or
increase the size of our repurchase program. Any such determination will be subject to market
conditions and other factors.
In August 2004, the Company’s shareholders approved the RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. 2004 Stock
Option Incentive Plan (the ‘‘Premium Option Plan’’) under which 6,000,000 common shares were
reserved for issuance upon the exercise of options granted under the Premium Option Plan.
As described in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to the required shareholder vote, ﬁled with
the SEC in July 2004, the Premium Option Plan provides for, among other things, mandatory
premium pricing such that options can generally only be issued thereunder with a strike price at a
minimum of 150% of the fair market value on the date of grant, minimum 4-year cliff vesting, and no
discretionary repricing. The Premium Option Plan includes a dividend protection feature that reduces
the strike price for extraordinary dividends and a change in control feature that reduces the strike
price based on a pre-established formula in the event of change in control. Grantees under the
Premium Option Plan must satisfy performance criteria which is determined by the Company’s
Compensation Committee. As at December 31, 2004, 3,956,000 options were outstanding under the
Premium Option Plan with an exercise price of $74.24 per share, and 1,250,000 options were
outstanding with an exercise price of $98.98 per share.
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Investments
At December 31, 2004, we held investments totaling $4.8 billion, compared to $4.2 billion in 2003.
The table below shows the aggregate amounts of our invested assets:
At December 31,
(in thousands)

Fixed maturities investments available for sale, at fair value
Short-term investments, at cost
Other investments, at fair value
Total managed investment portfolio
Equity investments in reinsurance company, at fair value
Investments in other ventures, under equity method
Total investments

2004

2003

$3,223,292
608,292
684,590

$2,947,841
660,564
369,242

4,516,174
150,519
159,556

3,977,647
145,535
35,899

$4,826,249

$4,159,081

The $667.2 million growth in our portfolio of invested assets for the year ended December 31, 2004
resulted primarily from net cash provided by operating activities of $518.1 million and the issuance of
$250 million Series C preference shares, partially offset by dividends to common and preference
shareholders of $53.8 million and $31.1 million, respectively.
Because our coverages include substantial protection for damages resulting from natural and
man-made catastrophes, we may become liable for substantial claim payments on short notice.
Accordingly, our investment portfolio is structured to preserve capital and provide a high level of
liquidity. The large majority of our investment portfolio consists of highly rated ﬁxed income
securities, including U.S. Treasuries, highly-rated sovereign and supranational securities, high-grade
corporate securities and mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities. At December 31, 2004, our
invested asset portfolio of ﬁxed maturities and short term investments had a dollar weighted average
rating of AA (2003 – AA), an average duration of 2.2 years (2003 – 2.0 years) and an average yield to
maturity of 3.3% (2003 – 2.7%). As noted in our discussion of our cash ﬂows above, our future cash
ﬂows from operations will be negatively impacted by losses we will be required to pay related to the
recent third quarter hurricanes.
The equity investments in reinsurance company relate to our November 1, 2002 purchase of 3,960,000
common shares of Platinum in a private placement transaction. In addition, we received a ten-year
warrant to purchase up to 2.5 million additional common shares of Platinum for $27.00 per share. We
purchased the common shares and warrant for an aggregate price of $84.2 million. At December 31,
2004, we owned (exclusive of the warrant) 9.2% of Platinum’s outstanding common shares. We have
recorded our investment in Platinum at fair value, and at December 31, 2004 the aggregate fair value
was $150.5 million (2003 - $145.5 million). The fair value of the common shares is based on the
market price of Platinum’s shares as of the balance sheet date. The fair value of the warrant is
estimated by the Company using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The aggregate unrealized
gain on the Platinum common shares of $38.9 million (2003 - $34.6 million) is included in accumulated
other comprehensive income. During the fourth quarter of 2004, a lockup provision on the warrant
expired and as a result the warrant met the deﬁnition of a derivative under FAS 133 and therefore
changes in the fair value of the warrant were recorded prospectively in other income from November,
2004. At December 31, 2004, $27.4 million was recorded in other income representing the unrealized
gain on the warrant. This includes a $23.8 million one-time reclassiﬁcation from other comprehensive
income to other income which occurred during the fourth quarter of 2004 with the $3.6 million
remainder being the increase in fair value from November 2004. At December 31, 2003, the aggregate
unrealized gain on the Platinum warrant was $26.7 million which was included in other comprehensive
income.
At December 31, 2004, $265.3 million (2003 - $182.4 million) of cash and cash equivalents and
investments were invested in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, which represented 5.4% (2003 –
4.3%) of our cash and cash equivalents and invested assets.
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A portion of our investment assets is directly held by our subsidiary RIHL, a Bermuda company we
organized for the primary purpose of holding the investments in high quality marketable securities for
RenaissanceRe, our operating subsidiaries and certain of our joint venture afﬁliates. We believe that
RIHL permits us to consolidate and substantially facilitate our investment management operations.
RenaissanceRe and each of our participating operating subsidiaries and afﬁliates have transferred to
RIHL marketable securities or other assets, in return for a subscription of RIHL equity interests.
Each RIHL share is redeemable by the subscribing companies for cash or in marketable securities.
Over time, the subsidiaries and joint ventures which participate in RIHL are expected to both
subscribe for additional shares and redeem outstanding shares, as our and their respective liquidity
needs change. RIHL is currently rated AAAf/S2 by S&P.
Other Investments
The table below shows our portfolio of other investments:
At December 31,
(in thousands)

Type of investment
Hedge funds
Senior secured bank loan fund
European high yield credit fund
Private equity partnerships
Medium term note representing an interest in a pool of
European ﬁxed income securities
Non-US convertible fund
Miscellaneous other investments
Total other investments

2004

2003

$293,462
116,560
87,689
82,381

$170,116
77,249
38,333
24,169

50,000
28,214
26,284

30,000
—
29,375

$684,590

$369,242

Fair values of certain of the other investments noted above are generally established on the basis of
the net valuation criteria established by the managers of the investments. These net valuations are
determined based upon the valuation criteria established by the governing documents of such
investments. Such valuations may differ signiﬁcantly from the values that would have been used had
ready markets existed for the shares, partnership interests or notes. Many of the investments are
subject to restrictions on redemptions and sales which are determined by the governing documents
and limit the Company’s ability to liquidate these investments in the short term. Due to a lag in the
valuations reported by the fund managers, the majority of our hedge fund and private equity
partnership valuations are reported on a one month or one quarter lag. Interest income, income
distributions and realized and unrealized gains and losses on other investments are included in net
investment income and totaled $46.9 million (2003 – $25.9 million) of which $24.4 million (2003 –
$21.2 million) was related to net unrealized gains.
The hedge funds are engaged in various investment strategies, including event driven, diversiﬁed
arbitrage, distressed, US long/short, global long/short and sector long/short with original capital
contributed by us, generally in the range of $5 million to $15 million per fund, although we have
committed to invest up to $60 million in one hedge fund. The loan fund primarily invests in senior
secured ﬂoating rate loans. The European high yield credit fund is denominated in Euros and
primarily invests in unlisted and listed ﬁxed and ﬂoating rate debt securities issued by entities that are
domiciled in or have a substantial portion of their total assets or operations in a European country.
The private equity partnerships are primarily engaged in U.S. private equity, real estate, distressed
securities and secondary investment strategies with initial capital commitments ranging from $1.5
million to $15 million, although we have committed to invest up to $30 million in one partnership.
The medium term note was issued by an investment company which invests predominantly in
investment-grade European ﬁxed income securities and passes through a variable U.S. dollar return
on the note based on the performance of the underlying securities. The non-U.S. convertible fund is
denominated in Euros and primarily invests in unlisted and listed non-U.S. convertible securities.
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Included in miscellaneous other investments are catastrophe bonds, that generally include variable
rate notes where the return is contingent upon climatical or geological events.
We have committed capital to private equity partnerships of $260.2 million, of which $83.2 million has
been contributed at December 31, 2004.
Non-Indemnity Index Transactions
We have assumed risk through securities and derivative instruments under which losses could be
triggered by an industry loss index or geological or physical variables. During 2004, 2003 and 2002 we
recorded income (loss) on non-indemnity catastrophe index transactions of ($0.1) million, $0.8 million
and $7.2 million. We report income (loss) from these transactions in other income.
Effects of Inﬂation
The potential exists, after a catastrophe loss, for the development of inﬂationary pressures in a local
economy. The anticipated effects on us are considered in our catastrophe loss models. The effects of
inﬂation are also considered in pricing and in estimating reserves for unpaid claims and claim
expenses. The actual effects of this post-event inﬂation on our results cannot be accurately known
until claims are ultimately settled.
Off Balance Sheet and Special Purpose Entity Arrangements
At December 31, 2004, we have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements, as deﬁned by
ITEM 303 (a)(4) of Regulation S-K.
New Accounting Pronouncements
On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued revised FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004),
‘‘Share-Based Payment’’ (‘‘FAS 123(R)’’). FAS 123(R) replaces FASB Statement No. 123
‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation’’ (‘‘FAS 123’’) and supersedes APB opinion No.25
‘‘Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees’’. The statement requires all entities to recognize
compensation expense in an amount equal to the fair value of share-based payments granted to
employees and is effective as of the beginning of the ﬁrst interim or annual reporting period that
begins after June 15, 2005. Because FAS 123(R) must be applied not only to new awards but also to
previously granted awards that are not fully vested on the effective date, and because we adopted
FAS 123 using the prospective transition method (which applied only to awards granted, modiﬁed or
settled after the adoption date), compensation costs for some previously granted awards that were not
recognized under FAS 123 will be recognized under FAS 123(R). We estimate that the additional
compensation expense related to unvested grants that were issued prior to January 1, 2003 will not be
material upon adoption of FAS 123(R). Had we adopted FAS 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of
that standard would have approximated the impact of FAS 123 as described in the transitional
disclosure provisions of FASB Statement No. 148, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation –
Transition and Disclosure’’ (‘‘FAS 148’’). In accordance with the transitional disclosure provisions of
FAS 148, the following table sets out the effect on the Company’s net income and earnings per share
for all reported periods had the compensation cost been calculated based upon the fair value method
recommended in FAS 123:
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Year ended December 31,
(in thousands except per share data)

Net income available to common
shareholders, as reported
add: stock-based employee
compensation cost included in
determination of net income
less: fair value compensation cost
under FAS 123

2004

2003
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

$133,108

$605,992

$342,879

16,982

13,892

8,243

(19,533)

(19,151)

(22,307)

Pro forma net income available to
common shareholders

$130,557

$600,733

$328,815

Earnings per share
Basic — as reported
Basic — pro forma

$
$

1.90
1.87

$
$

8.78
8.70

$
$

5.08
4.87

$
$

1.85
1.82

$
$

8.53
8.46

$
$

4.88
4.68

Diluted — as reported
Diluted — pro forma
Current Outlook

We currently anticipate the following developments in our business:
Reinsurance segment
Since 2001, there has been an increase in the number of traditional reinsurance companies dedicating
capital to the property catastrophe reinsurance market. This increase, combined with more recent
capital additions from newer, non-traditional market participants, has resulted in an excess of supply
over demand in certain sectors of the market and, correspondingly, has caused deterioration in pricing
and in terms and conditions. Therefore, we expect that a growing number of transactions will not
meet our hurdle rates and we estimate that our property catastrophe reinsurance premium will decline
during 2005. We also note that during 2004, we recorded $30.1 million of reinstatement premiums and
$27.4 million of premiums on back-up covers related to the third quarter Florida hurricanes. If there is
an absence of similar catastrophic events during 2005, we anticipate that such premiums will not recur
and, therefore, the decline in property catastrophe reinsurance premiums in 2005 will be more
pronounced.
We are currently seeing some softening in the specialty reinsurance market; however, due to the
strength of our organization and our relationships with both our brokers and our customers, we
believe there are still adequate opportunities for us to grow this line of business modestly during 2005.
Our premiums from this line of business are attributable to a relatively small number of large deals
and the amount of the premiums can ﬂuctuate signiﬁcantly between quarters and between years
depending upon the number of, and nature of, the transactions that we complete.
Individual Risk segment
During 2005, we expect to see continued softening in the commercial property markets. We also
expect additional program manager relationships to come on line during 2005. Based upon this, we
expect our premiums from our Individual Risk segment to grow signiﬁcantly in 2005.
New Business
We believe that the current market environment may create more opportunities for the creation of
joint ventures and strategic investments. We have established RenaissanceRe Ventures Ltd. to
facilitate strategic investments. In evaluating joint ventures and strategic investments, we may consider
opportunities in other areas of the insurance and reinsurance markets, or in other ﬁnancial markets,
either through organic growth, the formation of new joint ventures, or the acquisition of other
companies or books of business of other companies. We are currently in the process of reviewing
78

certain opportunities and periodically engage in discussions regarding possible transactions, although
there can be no assurance that we will complete any such transactions or that any such transaction
would contribute materially to our results of operations or ﬁnancial condition.
Contractual Obligations
At December 31,
(in thousands)

Long-term debt obligations (1)
7.0% Senior Notes
5.875% Senior Notes
Capital Securities
DaVinciRe revolving credit facility (2)
Private equity commitments
Operating lease obligations
Obligations under derivative contracts
Reserve for claims and claim expenses (3)
Total Contractual Obligations

Total

Less than
1 year

1-3 years

3-5 years

More than
5 years

$ 187,167
147,740
289,260
105,562
204,887
53,696
21,496
1,459,399

$ 10,500
5,875
8,540
2,320
204,887
3,545
4,848
511,475

$ 21,000
11,750
17,080
103,242
—
7,284
9,695
476,800

$155,667
11,750
17,080
—
—
7,388
6,953
171,546

$

$2,469,207

$751,990

$646,851

$370,384

$699,982

—
118,365
246,560
—
—
35,479
—
299,578

(1) Includes contractual interest and dividend payments.
(2) The interest on this facility is based on a spread above LIBOR. We have reﬂected the interest due
in 2005 and 2006 based upon the current interest rate on the facility.
(3) We caution the reader that the information provided above related to estimated future payment
dates of our reserves for claims and claim expenses is not prepared or utilized for internal
purposes and that we currently do not estimate the future payment dates of claims and claim
expenses. Because of the nature of the coverages that we provide, the amount and timing of the
cash ﬂows associated with our policy liabilities will ﬂuctuate, perhaps signiﬁcantly, and therefore
are highly uncertain. In order to estimate the payment dates of our contractual obligations for our
reserve for claims and claim expense, we have utilized the work of an outside consulting actuarial
ﬁrm.
This ﬁrm has based their estimate of future claim payments upon benchmark payment patterns
constructed internally by their ﬁrm, drawing upon available relevant sources of loss and allocated
loss adjustment expense development data. These benchmarks are revised periodically as new
trends emerge. It is likely that this benchmark data will not be predictive of our future claim
payments and that material ﬂuctuations can occur due to the nature of the losses which we insure
and the coverages which we provide.
In certain circumstances many of our contractual obligations may be accelerated to dates other than
those reﬂected in the table, due to defaults under the agreements governing those obligations
(including pursuant to cross-default provisions in such agreements) or in connection with certain
changes in control of the Company, if applicable. In addition, in connection with any such default
under the agreement governing these obligations, in certain circumstances these obligations may bear
an increased interest rate or be subject to penalties as a result of such a default.
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ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are principally exposed to four types of market risk: interest rate risk; foreign currency risk; equity
price risk; and credit risk. The Company’s investment guidelines permit, subject to approval,
investments in derivative instruments such as futures, options, foreign currency forward contracts and
swap agreements, which may be used to assume risks or for hedging purposes.
Interest Rate Risk
Our investment portfolio includes ﬁxed maturity investments available for sale and short-term
investments, whose market values will ﬂuctuate with changes in interest rates. We attempt to maintain
adequate liquidity in our ﬁxed maturities investment portfolio to fund operations, pay reinsurance and
insurance liabilities and claims and provide funding for unexpected events. We seek to manage our
interest rate risk by monitoring the duration and structure of our investment portfolio.
The aggregate hypothetical loss generated from an immediate adverse parallel shift in the treasury
yield curve of 100 basis points would cause a decrease in market value of 2.2%, which equated to a
decrease in market value of approximately $84.3 million on a portfolio valued at $3,831.6 million at
December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2003, the decrease in market value would have been 2.0%,
which equated to a decrease in market value of approximately $72.2 million on a portfolio valued at
$3,608.4 million. The foregoing reﬂects the use of an immediate time horizon, since this presents the
worst-case scenario. Credit spreads are assumed to remain constant in these hypothetical examples.
Foreign Currency Risk
Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar. We write a substantial portion of our business in currencies
other than U.S. dollars and may, from time to time, experience exchange gains and losses and incur
underwriting losses in currencies other than U.S. dollars, which will in turn affect our consolidated
ﬁnancial statements.
Our foreign currency policy with regard to our underwriting operations is generally to hold foreign
currency assets, including cash, investments and receivables that approximate the foreign currency
liabilities, including claims and claim expense reserves and reinsurance balances payable. When
necessary, the Company will use foreign currency forward and option contracts to minimize the effect
of ﬂuctuating foreign currencies on the value of non-U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities
associated with our underwriting operations. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had notional
exposure of $30.0 million (2003 - $nil) related to foreign currency forward and option contracts
purchased.
For our investment operations, we are exposed to currency ﬂuctuations through our investments in
non-U.S. Dollar bonds and Euro denominated ﬁxed income funds. As of December 31, 2004, our
combined investment in these bonds and funds was $236.6 million. To hedge our exposure to currency
ﬂuctuations from these funds, we have entered into foreign currency forward and option contracts
with notional exposure of $191.9 million. In the future, we may choose to increase our exposure to
non-dollar investments. Foreign exchange gains or losses arising from certain non-U.S. dollar
investments are recorded in other comprehensive income or realized gains (losses); the foreign
exchange gains (losses) associated with our hedging of these non-U.S. dollar assets are recorded
through foreign exchange gains (losses) in our statements of income.
Our foreign currency and option contracts are recorded at fair value, which is determined principally
by obtaining quotes from independent dealers and counterparties. The fair value of these contracts as
of December 31, 2004 was a loss of $14.7 million (2003 - $nil). All changes in exchange rates are
recognized currently in our statements of income.
Equity Risk
We are exposed to equity price risk principally due to our investment in the common shares and
warrant to purchase additional common shares of Platinum (see Summary of Results of Operations
for 2004, 2003 and 2002 - Other Investments), which we carry on our balance sheet at fair value. The
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risk is the potential for loss in fair value resulting from adverse changes in the price of Platinum’s
common stock. The aggregate fair value of this investment in Platinum was $150.5 million at
December 31, 2004 compared to $145.5 million at December 31, 2003. A hypothetical 10 percent
decline in the price of Platinum stock, holding all other factors constant, would have resulted in a
$12.3 million decline in the fair value of the stock and a $6.2 million decline in the fair value of the
warrant (assuming no other changes to the inputs to the Black-Scholes option valuation model that we
use). The decline in the fair value of the stock would be recorded in net unrealized gains (losses) on
securities and included in other comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity. The decline in the fair
value of the warrant would be recorded in other income. We are also indirectly exposed to equity
market risk through our investments in: 1) some hedge funds that have net long equity positions; and
2) private equity partnerships whose exit strategies often depend on the equity markets. Such
investments totaled $375.8 million at December 31, 2004 (2003 - $194.3 million).
Credit Risk
Our exposure to credit risk is primarily due to our ﬁxed maturity investments available for sale and
short term investments, and to a lesser extent, reinsurance premiums receivable and ceded reinsurance
balances.At December 31, 2004 and 2003, our invested asset portfolio had a dollar weighted average
rating of AA. From time to time we purchase credit default swaps to hedge our exposures in the
insurance industry and to assist in managing the credit risk associated with ceded reinsurance. At
December 31, 2004, the maximum payments we were obligated to make under credit default swaps
was $21.5 million (2003 - $7.1 million). We account for these credit derivatives at fair value and
record them on our consolidated balance sheet as other assets or other liabilities depending on the
rights or obligations. The fair value of these credit derivatives, as recognized in other liabilities in our
balance sheet, at December 31, 2004 was a liability of $12.6 million (2003 - $3.5 million). During
2004, we recorded losses of $12.5 million (2003 - $4.2 million) in our consolidated statement of
income, including the $12.6 million liability on the balance sheet at December 31, 2004 (2003 - $3.5
million). The fair value of the credit derivatives are determined using industry valuation models. The
fair value of these credit derivatives can change based on a variety of factors including changes in
credit spreads, default rates and recovery rates, the correlation of credit risk between the referenced
credit and the counterparty, and market rate inputs such as interest rates.
ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Reference is made to Item 15(a) of this Report for the Consolidated Financial Statements of
RenaissanceRe and the Notes thereto, as well as the Schedules to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls: We have designed various disclosure controls and
procedures (as deﬁned in Rules 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), to help
ensure that information required to be disclosed in our periodic Exchange Act reports, such as this
annual report, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely and accurate basis. Our
disclosure controls and procedures are also designed with the objective of ensuring that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our senior management, including our Chief
Executive Ofﬁcer and Chief Financial Ofﬁcer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. Our internal control over ﬁnancial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnancial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and
includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in
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reasonable detail accurately and fairly reﬂect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
issuer; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of ﬁnancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the issuer are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the issuer; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the issuer’s assets that could have a
material effect on ﬁnancial statements.
Limitations on the effectiveness of controls: Our Board of Directors and management, including our
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and Chief Financial Ofﬁcer, do not expect that our disclosure controls and
procedures or internal control over ﬁnancial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. Controls, no
matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that
the objectives of the controls are met. Further, we believe that the design of prudent controls must
reﬂect appropriate resource constraints, such that the beneﬁts of controls must be considered relative
to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all controls, there can be no absolute assurance
that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, applicable to us have been or will be detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and
that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some individuals, by collusion of more than one person, or by
management override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time,
control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective
control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
Evaluation: An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s management, including our Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and Chief Financial Ofﬁcer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as
required by Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, the
Company’s management, including our Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and Chief Financial Ofﬁcer, concluded,
subject to the limitations noted above, that at December 31, 2004, the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures were effective in ensuring that all material information required to be ﬁled in this
Report has been made known to them in a timely fashion. In the course of preparing for providing
certiﬁcation of its compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Company has
made certain enhancements in its internal control over ﬁnancial reporting which are not speciﬁcally
identiﬁed in this report in reliance upon guidance provided by the SEC. During the fourth quarter of
2004, the Company’s management discovered errors in the timing of the recognition of premium on
multi-year ceded reinsurance contracts. As a result of these errors, management determined that there
was a signiﬁcant deﬁciency in the Company’s control environment. The Company’s management has
subsequently enhanced its controls over recording premium on multi-year and complex reinsurance
contracts and has corrected this signiﬁcant deﬁciency. Except for the preceding items, there has been
no change in the Company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting during the year ended December
31, 2004 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF RENAISSANCERE

The information required by this item is included under the caption ‘‘Directors and Executive Ofﬁcers
of the Company’’ in our Deﬁnitive Proxy Statement to be ﬁled in respect of our 2005 Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders (the ‘‘Proxy Statement’’) and is hereby incorporated in this Annual Report
by reference.
RenaissanceRe has adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to its directors and executive ofﬁcers. The
Code of Ethics is available free of charge on our website http://www.renre.com. We intend to disclose
any amendments to our waivers of our Code of Ethics by posting such information on our website.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is included under the caption ‘‘Executive Ofﬁcer and Director
Compensation’’ in our Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated in this Annual Report by
reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this item is included under the caption ‘‘Security Ownership of Certain
Beneﬁcial Owners, Management and Directors’’ in our Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated in
this Annual Report by reference.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is included under the caption ‘‘Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions’’ in our Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated in this Annual Report by
reference.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is included under the caption ‘‘Proposal 2’’ in our Proxy
Statement and is hereby incorporated in this Annual Report by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.
(a)
1.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits.
Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and related Notes thereto are
listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and are ﬁled as part of this
Report.
2.

Financial Statement Schedules

The Schedules to the Consolidated Financial Statements of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. are listed in
the accompanying Index to Schedules to Consolidated Financial Statements and are ﬁled as a part of
this Report.
3.

Exhibits

3.1

Memorandum of Association.(1)

3.2

Amended and Restated Bye-Laws.(13)

3.3

Memorandum of Increase in Share Capital of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.(11)

4.4

Specimen Common Share certiﬁcate.(1)

10.1

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. Restricted Stock Plan.(1)

10.2

Sixth Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2004, between
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and James N. Stanard.(19)

10.3

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2004, between
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and John M. Lummis.(19)

10.4

Employment Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2003, between RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.
and William I. Riker.(14)

10.5

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2003, between
Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd. and John D. Nichols, Jr.(14)

10.6

Employment Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2003, between RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.
and David Eklund.(14)

10.7

Letter of Resignation of David A. Eklund, dated June 22, 2004.

10.8

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2004, among
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., the Lenders named therein, Deutsche Bank AG New York
Branch, as LC Issuer and Co-Documentation Agent, HSBC Bank US, National Association,
as Co-Documentation Agent, Citibank, N.A. and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as
Co-Syndication Agents, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Bank of
America Securities LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Book Manager.(21)

10.9

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2004, among DaVinciRe
Holdings Ltd., as borrower, the Lenders named therein, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as
sole lead arranger and book manager, and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent for the
Lenders.(19)

10.10

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. Second Amended and Restated 1993 Stock Incentive Plan.

10.11

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan.(3)
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(19)

(4)

10.12

Form of Option Grant Notice and Agreement pursuant to which option grants are made
under the RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. (21)

10.13

Form of Restricted Stock Grant Notice and Agreement pursuant to which Restricted Stock
grants are made under the RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. (21)

10.14

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. 2004 Stock Option Incentive Plan.

10.15

Amendment No. 1 to the RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. 2004 Stock Option Incentive Plan.

10.16

Option Agreement pursuant to which option grants are made under the RenaissanceRe
Holdings Ltd. 2004 Stock Option Incentive Plan to James N. Stanard. (20)

10.17

Form of Option Agreement pursuant to which option grants are made under the
RenaissanceRe Holdings 2004 Stock Option Incentive Plan to executive ofﬁcers (excluding
grants to Mr. Stanard). (20)

10.18

Amended and Restated RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. Non-Employee Director Stock Plan.(2)

10.19

Form of Grant Agreement for Directors.

10.20

Board Compensation Summary.

10.21

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of RenaissanceRe Capital Trust, dated as of
March 7, 1997, among RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., as Sponsor, The Bank of New York, as
Property Trustee, The Bank of New York (Delaware), as Delaware Trustee, and the
Administrative Trustees named therein.(5)

10.22

Indenture, dated as of March 7, 1997, among RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., as Sponsor, and
The Bank of New York, as Debenture Trustee.(5)

10.23

Series A Capital Securities Guarantee Agreement, dated as of March 7, 1997, between
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and The Bank of New York, as Trustee.(5)

10.24

Master Standby Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2001,
between Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd. and Fleet National Bank. Glencoe Insurance Ltd. and
Timicuan Reinsurance Ltd. have each become a party to this agreement pursuant to an
accession agreement, and DaVinci Reinsurance Ltd. has entered in a substantially similar
agreement with Fleet National Bank.(16)

10.25

Certiﬁcate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of 8.10% Series A Preference Shares.(6)

10.26

Certiﬁcate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of 7.30% Series B Preference Shares.(10)

10.27

Certiﬁcate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of 6.08% Series C Preference Shares.(17)

10.28

Senior Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2001, between RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., as Issuer,
and Bankers Trust Company, as Trustee.(7)

10.29

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 17, 2001, to the Indenture, dated as of July 1,
2001, between RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., as Issuer, and Bankers Trust Company, as
Trustee.(7)

10.30

Second Supplemental Indenture, by and between RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas (f/k/a Bankers Trust Company), dated as of January 31,
2003.(9)

10.31

First Amended and Restated Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2004, by and
among Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd., Renaissance Reinsurance of Europe, Glencoe

(20)

(24)
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Insurance Ltd., DaVinci Reinsurance Ltd., RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd, Wachovia Bank,
National Association, as issuing bank, administrative agent, and collateral agent for the
lenders, certain co-documentation agents and certain lender parties thereto.(18)
10.32

First Amendment to First Amended and Restated Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of
November 18, 2004, by and among Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd., Renaissance Reinsurance
of Europe, Glencoe Insurance Ltd., DaVinci Reinsurance Ltd., RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.,
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as issuing bank, administrative agent, and collateral
agent for the lenders, certain co-documentation agents and certain lender parties thereto. (22)

10.33

Notice of Reduction of the L/C Commitments, effective January 18, 2005, to First Amended
and Restated Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of November 18, 2004, by and among
Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd., Renaissance Reinsurance of Europe, Glencoe Insurance Ltd.,
DaVinci Reinsurance Ltd., RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., Wachovia Bank, National
Association, as issuing bank, administrative agent, and collateral agent for the lenders, certain
co-documentation agents and certain lender parties thereto.

10.34

Second Amendment to First Amended and Restated Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of
March 11, 2005, by and among Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd., Renaissance Reinsurance of
Europe, Glencoe Insurance Ltd., DaVinci Reinsurance Ltd., RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.,
the banks and ﬁnancial institutions parties thereto, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as
issuing bank, administrative agent, and collateral agent for the lenders, and certain
co-documentation agents. (24)

10.35

Investment Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2002, by and among RenaissanceRe
Holdings Ltd., Platinum Underwriters Holdings, Ltd. and The St. Paul Companies, Inc.(8)

10.36

First Amendment to the Investment Agreement by and among Platinum Holdings Ltd., The
St. Paul Companies, and RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., dated as of November 1, 2002.(8)

10.37

Amended and Restated Option Agreement, between Platinum Underwriters Holdings, Ltd.
and RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., dated as of November 18, 2004.

10.38

Transfer Restrictions, Registration Rights and Standstill Agreement between Platinum
Underwriters Holdings, Ltd. and RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., dated as of November 1,
2002.(8)

10.39

Services and Capacity Reservation Agreement between Platinum Underwriters Holdings, Ltd.
and RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd., dated as of November 1, 2002.(8)

10.40

Form of Director Retention Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2002, entered into by each
of the non-employee directors of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.(23)

21.1

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young.

31.1

Certiﬁcation of James N. Stanard, Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.,
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

31.2

Certiﬁcation of John M. Lummis, Chief Financial Ofﬁcer of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.,
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

32.1

Certiﬁcation of James N. Stanard, Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
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32.2

Certiﬁcation of John M. Lummis, Chief Financial Ofﬁcer of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

(1)

Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of RenaissanceRe
Holdings Ltd. (Registration No. 33-70008) which was declared effective by the Commission
on July 26, 1995.

(2)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8
(Registration No. 333-90758) dated June 19, 2002.

(3)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8
(Registration No. 333-90758) dated June 19, 2002.

(4)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8
(Registration No. 333-90758) dated June 19, 2002.

(5)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on March 19, 1997, relating to certain events which occurred on
March 7, 1997 (SEC File Number 000-26512).

(6)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on November 16, 2001, relating to certain events which occurred
on November 14, 2001.

(7)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on July 17, 2001, relating to certain events which occurred on July
12, 2001.

(8)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on November 6, 2002, relating to certain events which occurred on
November 1, 2002.

(9)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on January 31, 2003, relating to certain events which occurred on
January 28, 2003.

(10)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on February 2, 2003, relating to certain events which occurred on
January 30, 2003.

(11)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended March 31, 1998, ﬁled with the Commission on May 14, 1998 (SEC File
Number 000-26512).

(12)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended June 30, 1998, ﬁled with the Commission on August 14, 1998 (SEC File
Number 000-26512).

(13)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended June 30, 2002, ﬁled with the Commission on August 14, 2002.

(14)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended June 30, 2003, ﬁled with the Commission on August 14, 2003.

(15)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 1998, ﬁled with the Commission on March 31, 1999 (SEC
File Number 000-26512).
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(16)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2001 ﬁled with the Commission on April 1, 2002.

(17)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on March 18, 2004.

(18)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended March 31, 2004, ﬁled with the Commission on May 10, 2004.

(19)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended June 30, 2004, ﬁled with the Commission on August 9, 2004.

(20)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on September 2, 2004.

(21)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended September 30, 2004, ﬁled with the Commission on November 9, 2004.

(22)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on November 24, 2004.

(23)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2002, ﬁled with the Commission on March 31, 2003 (SEC
File Number 001-14428).

(24)

Incorporated by reference to RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
ﬁled with the Commission on March 14, 2005.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in Hamilton, Bermuda on March 31, 2005.
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD.
By: /s/ James N. Stanard
James N. Stanard
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Signature

Title

Date

Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and
Chairman of the Board of
Directors

March 31, 2005

President, President and Chief
Executive Ofﬁcer, Glencoe
Group, Director

March 31, 2005

March 31, 2005

John M. Lummis

Executive Vice President,
Chief Operating Ofﬁcer and
Chief Financial Ofﬁcer
(Principal Accounting Ofﬁcer)

/s/ Thomas A. Cooper

Director

March 31, 2005

Director

March 31, 2005

Director

March 31, 2005

Director

March 31, 2005

Director

March 31, 2005

Director

March 31, 2005

Director

March 31, 2005

/s/ James N. Stanard
James N. Stanard
/s/ William I. Riker
William I. Riker
/s/ John M. Lummis

Thomas A. Cooper
/s/ Edmund B. Greene
Edmund B. Greene
/s/ Brian R. Hall
Brian R. Hall
/s/ William F. Hecht
William F. Hecht
/s/ W. James MacGinnitie
W. James MacGinnitie
/s/ Scott E. Pardee
Scott E. Pardee
/s/ Nicholas L. Trivisonno
Nicholas L. Trivisonno

89

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Page

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 . .
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

F-1

F-2
F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6
F-7
F-8
F-9

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management at RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. (the ‘‘Company’’) is responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as deﬁned in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Company’s internal control
over ﬁnancial reporting was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnancial statements for external purposes in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and to reﬂect management’s
judgments and estimates concerning effects of events and transactions that are accounted for or
disclosed. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any controls. Controls, no matter how
well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance that their objectives are met. No
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if
any, within the Company have been detected.
Management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and Chief Financial Ofﬁcer,
assessed its internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on this
assessment, management believes that the Company maintained effective internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004.
Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, has been audited by Ernst & Young, the Independent Registered Public
Accountants who also audited the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements. Ernst & Young’s
attestation report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over ﬁnancial
reporting appears on page F-4 hereof.

F-2

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF RENAISSANCERE
HOLDINGS LTD.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income,
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash ﬂows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004. These ﬁnancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ﬁnancial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
ﬁnancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signiﬁcant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall ﬁnancial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated ﬁnancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated ﬁnancial position of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and Subsidiaries at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash ﬂows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 30, 2005 expressed an unqualiﬁed opinion thereon.
As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, in 2003 the Company changed its
method of accounting for stock compensation.
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, the Company has restated its 2003
and 2002 consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
/s/ Ernst & Young
Hamilton, Bermuda
March 30, 2005

F-3

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF RENAISSANCERE
HOLDINGS LTD.
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. maintained effective
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over ﬁnancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal
control over ﬁnancial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over ﬁnancial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnancial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over ﬁnancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reﬂect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of ﬁnancial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the ﬁnancial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over ﬁnancial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. maintained effective
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in
shareholders’ equity, and cash ﬂows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2004 of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and our report dated March 30, 2005 expressed an unqualiﬁed
opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young
Hamilton, Bermuda
March 30, 2005
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RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
At December 31, 2004 and 2003
(in thousands of United States Dollars, except per share amounts)

Assets
Fixed maturity investments available for sale, at fair value
(Amortized cost $3,181,664 and $2,895,795 at December 31,
2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively) (Note 4)
Short term investments, at cost
Other investments, at fair value (Note 4)
Equity investments in reinsurance company, at fair value
(Note 4) (Cost $84,199 at December 31, 2004 and 2003)
Investments in other ventures, under equity method
Total investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Premiums receivable
Ceded reinsurance balances
Losses recoverable (Note 5)
Accrued investment income
Deferred acquisition costs
Other assets
Total assets

December 31, 2004

December 31, 2003

$3,223,292
608,292
684,590

$2,947,841
660,564
369,242

150,519
159,556

145,535
35,899

4,826,249
66,740
206,813
61,303
217,788
30,060
70,933
46,432

4,159,081
63,397
167,996
56,852
149,201
22,793
75,261
35,121

$5,526,318

$4,729,702

$1,459,398
365,335
350,000
103,093
188,564
68,092

$ 977,892
349,824
350,000
103,093
131,629
52,123

2,534,482

1,964,561

347,794

430,498

500,000

250,000

328,896
78,960
1,736,186

314,414
113,382
1,656,847

2,644,042

2,334,643

$5,526,318

$4,729,702

Liabilities, Minority Interest and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities
Reserve for claims and claim expenses (Note 6)
Reserve for unearned premiums
Debt (Note 7)
Subordinated obligation to capital trust (Note 8)
Reinsurance balances payable
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Minority Interest — DaVinci (Note 9)
Shareholders’ Equity (Note 10)
Preference Shares: $1.00 par value — 20,000,000 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2004 (2003 — 10,000,000)
Common shares and additional paid-in capital: $1.00 par value
— 71,028,711 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2004 — (2003 — 70,398,699 shares)
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities, minority interest, and shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands of United States Dollars, except per share amounts)
2004

2003
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

$1,544,157

$1,382,209

$1,173,049

$1,349,287
(11,060)

$1,154,776
(36,251)

$ 925,964
(161,994)

Net premiums earned
Net investment income (Note 4)
Net foreign exchange gains (losses)
Equity in earnings of other ventures (Note 4)
Other income
Net realized gains on investments (Note 4)

1,338,227
162,722
(6,383)
31,081
18,903
23,442

1,118,525
129,542
13,631
21,167
5,903
80,504

763,970
102,686
3,861
22,339
10,482
10,177

Total revenues

1,567,992

1,369,272

913,515

1,096,299
244,930
56,361
17,609
25,968

369,181
194,140
67,397
16,043
18,252

314,525
95,644
49,159
14,327
13,069

1,441,167

665,013

486,724

126,825

704,259

426,791

—
41,420

(7,470)
(72,014)

(7,605)
(55,051)

168,245
(4,003)

624,775
18

364,135
115

Revenues
Gross premiums written
Net premiums written
Increase in unearned premiums

Expenses
Net claims and claim expenses incurred (Note 6)
Acquisition expenses
Operational expenses
Corporate expenses
Interest expense
Total expenses
Income before minority interests, taxes and change in
accounting principle
Minority interest — mandatorily redeemable capital
securities of a subsidiary trust holding solely junior
subordinated debentures of the Company (Note 8)
Minority interest — DaVinci (Note 9)
Income before taxes and change in accounting
principle
Income tax beneﬁt (expense) (Note 15)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
(Note 13)

—

Net income
Dividends on preference shares (Note 10)

—

164,242
(31,134)

Net income available to common shareholders
Net income available to common shareholders per
Common Share — basic
Net income available to common shareholders per
Common Share — diluted

624,793
(18,801)

355,063
(12,184)

$ 133,108

$ 605,992

$ 342,879

$

1.90

$

8.78

$

5.08

$

1.85

$

8.53

$

4.88

See accompanying notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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(9,187)

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands of United States Dollars)

Preference shares
Balance — January 1
Issuance of shares
Balance — December 31
Common shares and additional paid-in capital
Balance — January 1
Exercise of options, and issuance of restricted stock
awards (Note 18)
Offering expenses
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
unearned stock grant compensation (Note 18)
Stock dividend
Balance — December 31
Unearned stock grant compensation
Balance — January 1
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
unearned stock grant compensation (Note 18)
Net stock grants awarded, cancelled
Amortization
Balance — December 31
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Balance — January 1
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities, net of
adjustment (see disclosure below)
Balance — December 31

2004

2003
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

$ 250,000
250,000
500,000

$ 150,000
100,000
250,000

$ 150,000
—
150,000

314,414

320,936

264,623

22,664
(8,182)

15,096
(3,150)

10,675
(73)

—
—
328,896

(18,468)
—
314,414

—
45,711
320,936

—

(18,468)

(20,163)

—
—
—
—

18,468
—
—
—

—
(7,607)
9,302
(18,468)

113,382

95,234

16,295

(34,422)
78,960

18,148
113,382

78,939
95,234

Retained earnings
Balance — January 1
Net income
Dividends paid on common shares
Dividends paid on preference shares
Stock dividend
Balance — December 31
Total Shareholders’ Equity

1,656,847
164,242
(53,769)
(31,134)
—
1,736,186
$2,644,042

1,092,988
624,793
(42,133)
(18,801)
—
1,656,847
$2,334,643

834,859
355,063
(39,039)
(12,184)
(45,711)
1,092,988
$1,640,690

Comprehensive income
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income

$ 164,242
(34,422)
$ 129,820

$ 624,793
18,148
$ 642,941

$ 355,063
78,939
$ 434,002

Disclosure regarding net unrealized gains (losses)
Net unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during
the year
Net realized gains included in net income
Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities

$ (10,980)
(23,442)
$ (34,422)

$

$

98,652
(80,504)
$ 18,148

See accompanying notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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89,116
(10,177)
$ 78,939

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands of United States Dollars)
2004

Cash ﬂows provided by operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities
Amortization and depreciation
Equity in undistributed earnings of other
ventures
Net unrealized losses (gains) included in net
investment income
Net unrealized gains (losses) included in other
income
Net realized investment gains
Minority interest in undistributed net income of
DaVinci
Change in:
Premiums receivable
Ceded reinsurance balances
Deferred acquisition costs
Reserve for claims and claim expenses, net
Reserve for unearned premiums
Reinsurance balances payable
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash ﬂows used in investing activities
Proceeds from sales of investments available for
sale
Purchases of investments available for sale
Net sales (purchases) of short-term investments
Net purchases of other investments
Net sales (purchases) of investments in other
ventures
Equity investments in reinsurance company
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities

$

$

624,793

$

355,063

13,091

19,041

(6,629)

1,228

(12,677)

(24,568)

(21,230)

1,412

(14,771)
(23,442)

(3,319)
(80,504)

7,108
(10,177)

(41,420)

72,014

55,051

(38,817)
(4,451)
4,328
412,919
15,511
56,935
1,416
518,113

31,453
16,508
(19,408)
223,429
17,839
(17,885)
(36,562)
821,447

(97,247)
(21,780)
(50,015)
231,236
186,124
27,700
87,587
778,426

17,099,111
(17,374,824)
52,272
(290,780)

12,507,381
(13,155,414)
(90,067)
(216,039)

5,775,865
(6,727,950)
166,428
—

(118,653)
—
—
(632,874)

(1,038)
—
—
(955,177)

—
(84,199)
(23,495)
(893,351)

241,818
(38,811)
(53,769)
(31,134)
—
—
—
118,104

96,850
—
(42,133)
(18,801)
99,144
(25,000)
—
110,060

—
—
(39,039)
(12,184)
100,000
(8,500)
22,000
62,277

3,343
63,397
66,740

(23,670)
87,067
63,397

(52,648)
139,715
87,067

$

$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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2002
(Restated)

16,860

Cash ﬂows provided by ﬁnancing activities
Issuance of preference shares, net of expenses
DaVinciRe Share Repurchase
Dividends paid — Common Shares
Dividends paid — Preference Shares
Issuance of debt, net of expenses
Payment of bank loan
Net increase in minority interests
Net cash provided by ﬁnancing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

164,242

2003
(Restated)

$

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2004 (amounts in tables expressed in thousands of United States dollars, except per
share amounts)
NOTE 1.

ORGANIZATION

RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. (‘‘RenaissanceRe’’, or the ‘‘Company’’), was formed under the laws of
Bermuda on June 7, 1993. Through its subsidiaries, the Company provides reinsurance and insurance
to a broad range of customers.
•

Renaissance Reinsurance Ltd. (‘‘Renaissance Reinsurance’’) is the Company’s principal subsidiary
and provides property catastrophe and specialty reinsurance coverage to insurers and reinsurers
on a worldwide basis.

•

The Company also manages property catastrophe reinsurance written on behalf of joint ventures,
principally including Top Layer Reinsurance Ltd. (‘‘Top Layer Re’’) and DaVinci Reinsurance
Ltd. (‘‘DaVinci’’). The results of DaVinci, and the results of DaVinci’s parent, DaVinciRe
Holdings Ltd. (‘‘DaVinciRe’’), are consolidated in the Company’s ﬁnancial statements (Note 9).
Renaissance Underwriting Managers, Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary, acts as exclusive
underwriting manager for these joint ventures in return for fee-based income and proﬁt
participation.

•

The Company’s Individual Risk operations include direct insurance written on both an admitted
basis through Stonington Insurance Company (‘‘Stonington’’) and on an excess and surplus lines
basis through Glencoe Insurance Ltd. (‘‘Glencoe’’) and Lantana Insurance Ltd. (‘‘Lantana’’), and
also provide reinsurance coverage, principally on a quota share basis, which is analyzed on an
individual risk basis.

NOTE 2.

RESTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company’s previously issued consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2002 and 2001 and
consolidated statements of income and statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and cash ﬂows
for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, have been restated to correct
accounting errors associated with reinsurance ceded by the Company. The aggregate net effect of
these corrections is to increase 2003 net income by $1.3 million; decrease 2002 net income by $21.9
million; and to increase 2001 net income by $20.6 million.The amounts reﬂect: (1) the timing of the
recognition of reinsurance recoverables with respect to an aggregate excess of loss reinsurance
agreement and an assignment agreement entered into with Inter-Ocean Reinsurance Company, Ltd. in
2001 (with the impact of decreasing net income by $1.4 million in 2003; decreasing net income by
$25.0 million in 2002; and increasing net income by $26.4 million in 2001), and (2) the timing of
premium ceded on multi-year contracts (with the impact of increasing net income by $2.7 million in
2003; increasing net income by $3.1 million in 2002; and decreasing net income by $5.8 million in
2001). These restatements only affect the Reinsurance segment.
The effect of this restatement on the consolidated statements of income and consolidated statements
of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and on the
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are shown in the tables below (in
thousands, except per share amounts):
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Year ended December 31, 2003

Net premiums written
Increase in unearned premiums
Net premiums earned
Total revenues
Net claims and claim expenses incurred
Total expenses
Income before minority interests and taxes
Income before taxes
Net income
Net income available to common shareholders
Net income available to common shareholders per
Common Share — basic
Net income available to common shareholders per
Common Share — diluted
Retained earnings — balance January 1, 2003
Total shareholders’ equity
Comprehensive income
Net claims and claim expense ratio — calendar year
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined ratio
Year ended December 31, 2002

Net premiums written
Increase in unearned premiums
Net premiums earned
Total revenues
Net claims and claim expenses incurred
Total expenses
Income before minority interests, taxes and change in
accounting principle
Income before taxes and change in accounting
principle
Net income
Net income available to common shareholders
Net income available to common shareholders per
Common Share — basic
Net income available to common shareholders per
Common Share — diluted
Other assets
Total assets
Reinsurance balances payable
Total liabilities
Retained earnings — balance January 1, 2002
Retained earnings — balance December 31, 2002
Total shareholders’ equity
Comprehensive income
Net claims and claim expense ratio — calendar year
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined ratio
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Originally
reported

Restatement
adjustment

Restated

$1,152,523
(36,780)
1,115,743
1,366,490
367,744
663,576
702,914
623,430
623,448
604,647

$ 2,253
529
2,782
2,782
1,437
1,437
1,345
1,345
1,345
1,345

$1,154,776
(36,251)
1,118,525
1,369,272
369,181
665,013
704,259
624,775
624,793
605,992

8.76
8.52
1,094,333
2,334,643
641,596
33.0%
23.4%
56.4%

0.02
0.01
(1,345)
—
1,345
—
—
—

8.78
8.53
1,092,988
2,334,643
642,941
33.0%
23.4%
56.4%

Originally
reported

Restatement
adjustment

Restated

$ 923,711
(162,806)
760,905
910,450
289,525
461,724

$ 2,253
812
3,065
3,065
25,000
25,000

$ 925,964
(161,994)
763,970
913,515
314,525
486,724

448,726

(21,935)

426,791

386,070
376,998
364,814

(21,935)
(21,935)
(21,935)

364,135
355,063
342,879

5.40

(0.32)

5.08

5.20
62,829
3,745,736
146,732
1,655,525
814,269
1,094,333
1,642,035
455,937
38.1%
19.0%
57.1%

(0.32)
1,437
1,437
2,782
2,782
20,590
(1,345)
(1,345)
(21,935)
3.1%
—
3.1%

4.88
64,266
3,747,173
149,514
1,658,307
834,859
1,092,988
1,640,690
434,002
41.2%
19.0%
60.2%

Year ended December 31, 2001

Net premiums written
Increase in unearned premiums
Net premiums earned
Total revenues

Originally
reported

Restatement
adjustment

Restated

$ 339,547
(6,482)
333,065
440,894

$ 2,794
(1,341)
1,453
1,453

$ 342,341
(7,823)
334,518
442,347

Net claims and claim expenses incurred
Operational expenses
Total expenses

149,917
38,603
252,613

(20,000)
863
(19,137)

129,917
39,466
233,476

Income before minority interests and taxes
Income before taxes
Net income
Net income available to common shareholders

188,281
180,046
165,784
164,366

20,590
20,590
20,590
20,590

208,871
200,636
186,374
184,956

2.76

0.35

3.11

2.63

0.33

2.96

Other assets
Total assets
Reinsurance balances payable
Total liabilities

57,264
2,643,652
115,967
1,056,047

26,437
26,437
5,847
5,847

83,701
2,670,089
121,814
1,061,894

Retained earnings — balance December 31, 2001
Total shareholders’ equity

814,269
1,225,024

20,590
20,590

834,859
1,245,614

175,248

20,590

195,838

Net income available to common shareholders per
Common Share — basic
Net income available to common shareholders per
Common Share — diluted

Comprehensive income
Net claims and claim expense ratio — calendar year
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined ratio
NOTE 3.

45.0%
25.2%
70.2%

(6.2%)
0.2%
(6.0%)

38.8%
25.4%
64.2%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (‘‘GAAP’’) and include the accounts of RenaissanceRe and its
wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries and DaVinciRe, which are collectively referred to
herein as the ‘‘Company.’’ All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation. Certain prior year comparatives have been reclassiﬁed to conform to current
presentations. Minority interest represents the interests of external parties in respect of net income
(loss) and shareholders’ equity of DaVinciRe, and, for periods prior to December 31, 2003, the
interests of external parties in respect of net income and shareholders’ equity of RenaissanceRe
Capital Trust (the ‘‘Capital Trust’’) (Note 8).
USE OF ESTIMATES IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The preparation of ﬁnancial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported and disclosed amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the ﬁnancial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially
from those estimates. The most signiﬁcant accounting judgment made by management is the
estimation of reserves for claims and claim expense. Other material accounting judgments made by
management include the estimation of certain written premiums, losses recoverable under ceded
reinsurance contracts and the fair value of other investments.
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PREMIUMS AND RELATED EXPENSES
Premiums are recognized as income, net of any applicable retrocessional coverage purchased, over the
terms of the related contracts and policies. Premiums written are based on contract and policy terms
and include estimates based on information received from both insureds and ceding companies.
Subsequent differences arising on such estimates are recorded in the period in which they are
determined. Reserve for unearned premiums represents the portion of premiums written that relate to
the unexpired terms of contracts and policies in force. Such reserves are computed by pro-rata
methods based on statistical data or reports received from ceding companies. Reinstatement premiums
are recorded after the occurrence of a loss and are calculated in accordance with the contract terms
based upon paid losses and case reserves reported in the period. Reinstatement premiums are earned
when written.
Acquisition costs, consisting principally of commissions and brokerage expenses incurred at the time a
contract or policy is issued, are deferred and amortized over the period in which the related premiums
are earned. Deferred policy acquisition costs are limited to their estimated realizable value based on
the related unearned premiums. Anticipated claims and claim expenses, based on historical and
current experience, and anticipated investment income related to those premiums are considered in
determining the recoverability of deferred acquisition costs.
CLAIMS AND CLAIM EXPENSES
The reserve for claims and claim expenses includes estimates for unpaid claims and claim expenses on
reported losses as well as an estimate of losses incurred but not reported. The reserve is based on
individual claims, case reserves and other reserve estimates reported by insureds and ceding
companies as well as management estimates of ultimate losses. Inherent in the estimates of ultimate
losses are expected trends in claim severity and frequency and other factors which could vary
signiﬁcantly as claims are settled. Also, during the past few years the Company has increased its
specialty reinsurance and Individual Risk premiums, but does not have the beneﬁt of a signiﬁcant
amount of its own historical experience in these lines of business. Accordingly, the setting and
reserving for incurred losses in these lines of business could be subject to greater variability.
Ultimate losses may vary materially from the amounts provided in the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements. These estimates are reviewed regularly and, as experience develops and new information
becomes known, the reserves are adjusted as necessary. Such adjustments, if any, are reﬂected in the
consolidated statement of income in the period in which they become known and are accounted for as
changes in estimates.
REINSURANCE
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability
associated with the reinsured policies. For multi-year retrospectively rated contracts, the Company
accrues amounts (either assets or liabilities) that are due to or from assuming companies based on
estimated contract experience. If the Company determines that adjustments to earlier estimates are
appropriate, such adjustments are recorded in the quarter in which they are determined. The
Company evaluates the ﬁnancial condition of its reinsurers through internal evaluation by senior
management.
INVESTMENTS, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Investments in ﬁxed maturities are classiﬁed as available for sale and are reported at fair value.
Investment transactions are recorded on the trade date with balances pending settlement reﬂected in
the balance sheet as a component of other assets or other liabilities. Net investment income includes
interest and dividend income together with amortization of market premiums and discounts and is net
of investment management and custody fees. The amortization of premium and accretion of discount
for ﬁxed maturity securities is computed using the interest method. Fair values of investments are
based on quoted market prices, or when such prices are not available, by reference to broker or
underwriter bid indications and/or internal pricing valuation techniques. The net unrealized
appreciation or depreciation on these investments is included in accumulated other comprehensive
income.
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Realized gains or losses on the sale of investments are determined on the basis of the average cost
method and include adjustments to the cost basis of investments for declines in value that are
considered to be other-than-temporary. The Company routinely assesses whether declines in fair value
of its available for sale investments represent impairments that are other than temporary. There are
several factors that are considered in the assessment of a security, which include (i) the time period
during which there has been a signiﬁcant decline below cost, (ii) the extent of the decline below cost,
(iii) the Company’s intent and ability to hold the security, (iv) the potential for the security to recover
in value, (v) an analysis of the ﬁnancial condition of the issuer and (vi) an analysis of the collateral
structure and credit support of the security, if applicable. Where the Company has determined that
there is an other than temporary decline in the fair value of the security, the cost of the security is
written down to the fair value and the unrealized loss at the time the determination is charged to
income.
Short term investments, which are managed as part of the Company’s investment portfolio and have a
maturity of one year or less when purchased, are carried at cost which approximates fair value. Cash
equivalents include money market instruments with a maturity of ninety days or less when purchased.
Other investments are carried at fair value with interest and dividend income, income distributions
and realized and unrealized gains and losses included in net investment income. The fair value of
other investments is generally established on the basis of the net valuation criteria established by the
managers of the investments. These net valuations are determined based upon the valuation criteria
established by the governing documents of such investments. Such valuations may differ signiﬁcantly
from the values that would have been used had ready markets existed for the shares, partnership
interests or notes of the other investments.
Equity investments in reinsurance company consist of publicly-traded shares of Platinum Underwriters
Holdings, Ltd. (‘‘Platinum’’) and a warrant to purchase additional shares of Platinum. These are
reported at fair value. The net unrealized appreciation or depreciation on the publicly-traded shares is
included in accumulated other comprehensive income. The net unrealized appreciation on the warrant
was recorded in other comprehensive income until the fourth quarter of 2004, when a lockup
provision on the warrant expired and as a result the warrant met the deﬁnition of a derivative under
Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) Statement No. 133, ‘‘Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities’’ (‘‘FAS 133’’), and the changes in fair value were recorded in
other income from that time.
Investments in which the Company has signiﬁcant inﬂuence over the operating and ﬁnancial policies
of the investee are classiﬁed as investments in other ventures, under equity method, and are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the Company records its
proportionate share of income or loss from such investments in its results for the period. Any decline
in value of investments in other ventures, under equity method considered by management to be
other than temporary is charged to income in the period in which it is determined.
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is based on weighted average common shares and excludes any dilutive
effects of options and restricted stock. Diluted earnings per share assumes the exercise of all dilutive
stock options and restricted stock grants.
FOREIGN EXCHANGE
The Company’s functional currency is the United States dollar. Revenues and expenses denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the prevailing exchange rate at the transaction date. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates in effect at the
balance sheet date, which may result in the recognition of exchange gains or losses which are included
in the determination of net income.
VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES
Effective December 31, 2003, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46, ‘‘Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities – an interpretation of ARB No. 51’’ (‘‘FIN 46’’). FIN 46 requires
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consolidation of all Variable Interest Entities (‘‘VIE’’) by the investor that will absorb a majority of
the VIE’s expected losses or residual returns. As further discussed in Note 8, the Capital Trust was
determined to be a VIE under FIN 46 and has been deconsolidated effective December 31, 2003. This
has resulted in reclassifying certain balances. The adoption of FIN 46 did not have a material impact
on the Company’s ﬁnancial condition and results of operations.
STOCK INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLANS
For the year ended December 31, 2002 and for the prior years, the Company followed Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, ‘‘Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees’’ (‘‘APB 25’’), and
related interpretations in accounting for its employee stock compensation. Effective January 1, 2003,
the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123, ‘‘Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation’’ (‘‘FAS 123’’), for all stock-based employee compensation granted,
modiﬁed or settled after January 1, 2003 under the prospective method described in FASB Statement
No. 148, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure’’ (‘‘FAS 148’’).
Under the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123, the Company estimates the fair value of
employee stock options and other stock-based compensation on the date of grant and amortizes this
value as an expense over the vesting period (see Note 18).
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options
granted to employees and expects to continue to use this acceptable option valuation model upon the
required adoption of FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), ‘‘Share-Based Payment’’ (‘‘FAS
123(R)’’) on July 1, 2005. Because FAS 123(R) must be applied not only to new awards but also to
previously granted awards that are not fully vested on the effective date, and because the Company
adopted FAS 123 using the prospective transition method (which applied only to awards granted,
modiﬁed or settled after the adoption date), compensation costs for some previously granted awards
that were not recognized under FAS 123 will be recognized under FAS 123(R). The Company
estimates that the additional compensation expense related to unvested grants that were issued prior
to January 1, 2003 will not be material upon adoption of FAS 123(R). Had the Company adopted
FAS 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that standard would have approximated the impact of FAS
123 as described in the transitional disclosure provisions of FASB Statement No. 148, ‘‘Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure’’ (‘‘FAS 148’’). In accordance with the
transitional disclosure provisions of FAS 148, the following table sets out the effect on the Company’s
net income and earnings per share for all reported periods had the compensation cost been calculated
based upon the fair value method recommended in FAS 123:
Year ended December 31,

Net income available to common shareholders, as
reported
add: stock-based employee compensation cost
included in determination of net income
less: fair value compensation cost under FAS 123

2004

2003
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

$133,108

$605,992

$342,879

16,982
(19,533)

13,892
(19,151)

8,243
(22,307)

Pro forma net income available to common
shareholders

$130,557

$600,733

$328,815

Earnings per share
Basic — as reported
Basic — pro forma

$
$

1.90
1.87

$
$

8.78
8.70

$
$

5.08
4.87

$
$

1.85
1.82

$
$

8.53
8.46

$
$

4.88
4.68

Diluted — as reported
Diluted — pro forma

During 2003, as a result of the Company’s adoption of FAS 123, the value of the restricted stock
grants awarded are no longer reﬂected as unearned stock grant compensation as a separate
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component of shareholders’ equity. Accordingly the balance of unearned stock grant compensation of
$18.5 million at January 1, 2003 has been reclassiﬁed from its separate account in shareholders’ equity
and reﬂected as a reduction in additional paid-in capital.
TAXATION
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method,
deferred income taxes reﬂect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for ﬁnancial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
A valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset is provided for if and when the Company
believes that a portion or all of the deferred tax asset may not be realized in the near term.
NOTE 4.

INVESTMENTS

The amortized cost, fair value and related unrealized gains and losses on ﬁxed maturity investments
are as follows:
At December 31, 2004

U.S. treasuries and agencies
Non-U.S. government
Corporate
Mortgage-backed
Asset-backed

At December 31, 2003

U.S. treasuries and agencies
Non-U.S. government
Corporate
Mortgage-backed
Asset-backed

Amortized cost

Gross unrealized
gains

Gross unrealized
losses

Fair value

$ 920,332
199,642
1,144,773
560,810
356,107

$ 2,355
10,922
36,072
1,660
617

$(3,674)
(580)
(3,166)
(920)
(1,658)

$ 919,013
209,984
1,177,679
561,550
355,066

$3,181,664

$51,626

$(9,998)

$3,223,292

Amortized cost

Gross unrealized
gains

Gross unrealized
losses

Fair value

$ 797,229
281,231
810,078
213,491
793,766

$ 2,385
9,726
39,027
2,350
3,556

$ (303)
(600)
(2,729)
(478)
(888)

$ 799,311
290,357
846,376
215,363
796,434

$2,895,795

$57,044

$(4,998)

$2,947,841

The following table presents an analysis of the continuous periods during which the Company has
held ﬁxed maturity investment positions which were carried at an unrealized loss as of December 31,
2004 and 2003:
0-6
Months

6 - 12
Months

> 12
Months

Total

Fixed maturity investments:
Number of positions
Market value
Amortized cost

384
$1,431,546
1,437,672

303
$276,453
279,534

137
$63,046
63,837

824
$1,771,045
1,781,043

Gross unrealized loss

$

$ (3,081)

$ (791)

$

At December 31, 2004
(in thousands, except number of positions)

(6,126)
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(9,998)

0-6
Months

6 - 12
Months

> 12
Months

Total

Fixed maturity investments:
Number of positions
Market value
Amortized cost

355
$392,451
395,014

68
$114,003
115,956

7
$2,850
3,332

430
$509,304
514,302

Gross unrealized loss

$ (2,563)

$ (1,953)

$ (482)

$ (4,998)

At December 31, 2003

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recorded $1.2 million (2003 — $0.2 million)
in other than temporary impairment charges.
Contractual maturities of ﬁxed maturity securities are shown below. Expected maturities will differ
from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or
without call or prepayment penalties.
At December 31, 2004

Amortized cost

Fair value

Due in less than one year
Due after one through ﬁve years
Due after ﬁve through ten years
Due after ten years
Mortgage-backed
Asset-backed

$ 74,250
1,490,581
520,573
179,343
560,810
356,107

$ 77,746
1,495,073
539,040
194,817
561,550
355,066

Total

$3,181,664

$3,223,292

Net Investment Income
The components of net investment income are as follows:
Year ended December 31,

Fixed maturities
Short term investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Dividends on equity investments in reinsurance
company
Other investments
Investment expenses
Net investment income

2004

2003

2002

$109,285
11,156
838

$100,666
8,158
1,852

$ 91,784
11,137
3,238

1,267
46,908

950
25,920

169,454
6,732

137,546
8,004

105,776
3,090

$162,722

$129,542

$102,686

—
(383)

The analysis of realized gains (losses) and the change in unrealized gains on investments is as follows:
Year ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Gross realized gains
Gross realized losses

$ 78,271
(54,829)

$114,834
(34,330)

$ 67,294
(57,117)

Net realized gains on investments
Change in unrealized gains (losses)
Total realized and change in unrealized gains (losses)
on investments

23,442
(34,422)

80,504
18,148

10,177
78,939

$(10,980)

$ 98,652

$ 89,116

At December 31, 2004, $51.6 million of cash and investments at fair value were on deposit with, or in
trust accounts for the beneﬁt of, various regulatory authorities as required by law (2003 — $37.2
million).
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Other Investments
The table below shows the Company’s portfolio of other investments:
At December 31,

Type of investment
Hedge funds
Senior secured bank loan fund
European high yield credit fund
Private equity partnerships
Medium term note representing an interest in a pool of
European ﬁxed income securities
Non-US convertible fund
Miscellaneous other investments
Total other investments

2004

2003

$293,462
116,560
87,689
82,381

$170,116
77,249
38,333
24,169

50,000
28,214
26,284

30,000
—
29,375

$684,590

$369,242

Many of the other investments are subject to restrictions on redemptions or sales which are
determined by the governing documents and limit the Company’s ability to liquidate these investments
in the short term. Due to a lag in the valuations reported by the fund managers, the majority of our
hedge fund and private equity partnership valuations are reported on a one month or one quarter lag.
Interest income, income distributions and realized and unrealized gains and losses on other
investments are included in net investment income and totaled $46.9 million (2003 — $25.9 million) of
which $24.4 million (2003 –$21.2 million) was related to net unrealized gains.
The Company has committed capital to private equity partnerships of $260.2 million, of which $83.2
million has been contributed at December 31, 2004.
Equity Investments in Reinsurance Company
On November 1, 2002, the Company purchased 3,960,000 common shares of Platinum in a private
placement transaction and received a ten-year warrant to purchase up to 2.5 million additional
common shares of Platinum for $27.00 per share. The Company purchased the common shares and
warrant for an aggregate price of $84.2 million. At December 31, 2004, the Company owned
(exclusive of the warrant) 9.2% of Platinum’s outstanding common shares. The Company records its
investments in Platinum at fair value, and at December 31, 2004 the aggregate fair value was $150.5
million (2003 — $145.5 million). The fair value of the common shares is based on the market price of
Platinum’s shares as of the balance sheet date. The fair value of the warrant is estimated by the
Company using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The aggregate unrealized gain on the
Platinum common shares of $38.9 million (2003 — $34.6 million) is included in accumulated other
comprehensive income. During the fourth quarter of 2004, a lockup provision on the warrant expired
and as a result the warrant met the deﬁnition of a derivative under FAS 133 and therefore changes in
the fair value of the warrant were recorded prospectively in other income from November 2004. At
December 31, 2004, $27.4 million was recorded in other income representing the unrealized gain on
the warrant. This includes a $23.8 million one-time reclassiﬁcation from other comprehensive income
to other income which occurred during the fourth quarter of 2004 with the $3.6 million remainder
being the increase in fair value from November 2004. At December 31, 2003, the aggregate unrealized
gain on the Platinum warrant was $26.7 million which was included in other comprehensive income.
Investments in Other Ventures, under Equity Method
Investments in other ventures, under equity method includes the Company’s investment in ChannelRe
Holdings Ltd. (‘‘Channel Re’’) of $128.5 million (2003 — $1.0 million), which is carried using the
equity method. The Company invested $118.7 million in Channel Re in 2004 (2003 — $1.0 million)
and the Company’s earnings from Channel Re, which are reported one quarter in arrears, totaled $9.8
million in 2004 (2003 — $nil) and are included in other income. Investments in other ventures, under
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equity method also includes the Company’s investment in Top Layer Re of $31.1 million (2003 —
$34.9 million), which is 50% owned by Renaissance Reinsurance and is carried using the equity
method. The Company’s earnings from Top Layer Re totaled $17.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (2003 — $21.2 million) and are included in other income. In addition, in 2004 the
Company invested in a joint venture focused on trading weather-sensitive commodities and securities,
the earnings from which were included in other income through the end of the second quarter of
2004. As a result of the restructuring of the joint venture as at July 1, 2004, the balance of the
investment was reclassiﬁed to other investments and the income from the investment was recorded in
net investment income for the remainder of the year. The earnings from this investment recorded in
other income totaled $3.9 million in 2004 (2003 — $nil).
NOTE 5.

CEDED REINSURANCE

The Company uses reinsurance to reduce its exposure to large losses. The Company currently has in
place contracts that provide for recovery from reinsurers of a portion of certain claims and claim
expenses in excess of various retentions. The Company would remain liable to the extent that any
reinsurance company fails to meet its obligations. The earned reinsurance premiums ceded were
$190.4 million, $239.9 million and $205.2 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The effect of reinsurance and retrocessional activity on premiums written and earned for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was as follows:
Year ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

Direct
Assumed
Ceded

$ 240,385
1,303,772
(194,870)

$ 103,916
1,278,293
(227,433)

$

Net

$1,349,287

$1,154,776

$ 925,964

Direct
Assumed
Ceded

$ 154,430
1,374,216
(190,419)

$

$

Net

$1,338,227

$1,118,525

Premiums written
81,499
1,091,550
(247,085)

Premiums earned
83,637
1,274,830
(239,942)

53,898
915,263
(205,191)

$ 763,970

Other than loss recoveries, certain of the Company’s ceded reinsurance contracts also provide for
recoveries of additional premiums, reinstatement premiums and lost no claims bonuses, which are
incurred when losses are ceded to reinsurance contracts. Total recoveries netted against net claims and
claim expenses incurred were $173.7 million, $20.2 million and $38.0 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. At December 31, 2004, the Company had a $13.1 million valuation allowance against
losses recoverable (2003 — $11.6 million).
NOTE 6.

RESERVE FOR CLAIMS AND CLAIM EXPENSES

For the Company’s Reinsurance operations, estimates of claims and claim expenses are based in part
upon the estimation of claims resulting from catastrophic events. Estimation by the Company of
claims resulting from catastrophic events is inherently difﬁcult because of the potential severity of
property catastrophe claims. Additionally, the Company has recently increased its Individual Risk and
specialty reinsurance premiums but does not have the beneﬁt of a signiﬁcant amount of its own
historical experience in these lines. Therefore, the Company uses both proprietary and commercially
available models, as well as historical reinsurance industry property catastrophe claims experience, for
purposes of evaluating future trends and providing an estimate of ultimate claims costs.
For both the Company’s Reinsurance and Individual Risk operations, the Company uses statistical and
actuarial methods to estimate ultimate expected claims and claim expenses. The period of time from
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the reporting of a loss to the Company and the settlement of the Company’s liability may be several
years. During this period, additional facts and trends will be revealed. As these factors become
apparent, case reserves will be adjusted, sometimes requiring an increase or decrease in the overall
reserves of the Company, and at other times requiring a reallocation of incurred but not reported
(‘‘IBNR’’) reserves to speciﬁc case reserves. These estimates are reviewed regularly, and such
adjustments, if any, are reﬂected in results of operations in the period in which they become known
and are accounted for as changes in estimates. Adjustments to the Company’s claims and claim
expense reserves can impact current year net income by either increasing net income if the estimates
of prior year claims and claim expense reserves prove to be overstated or by decreasing net income if
the estimates of prior year claims and claim expense reserves prove to be insufﬁcient.
Activity in the liability for unpaid claims and claim expenses is summarized as follows:
Year ended December 31,

Net reserves as of January 1
Net reserves assumed (released) in acquisition (sale)
of subsidiary

2004

2003
(Restated)

2002
(Restated)

$ 828,691

$605,262

$355,321

—

(2,090)

33,579

Net incurred related to:
Current year
Prior years

1,236,565
(140,266)

462,816
(93,635)

291,520
23,005

Total net incurred

1,096,299

369,181

314,525

Net paid related to:
Current year
Prior years

619,239
64,141

61,770
81,892

10,017
88,146

Total net paid

683,380

143,662

98,163

Total net reserves as of December 31
Losses recoverable as of December 31

1,241,610
217,788

828,691
149,201

605,262
199,533

Total gross reserves as of December 31

$1,459,398

$977,892

$804,795

The prior year favorable reserve development in 2004 of $140.3 million included $113.9 million
attributable to the Reinsurance segment and $26.4 million attributable to the Individual Risk segment.
The reduction in prior years’ estimated ultimate claims reserves in the Reinsurance segment was
primarily due to a re-estimation of our ultimate losses associated with six large catastrophe events,
which produced a reduction of approximately $31.3 million, a $23.0 million reduction in reserves from
numerous smaller catastrophe events and $46.8 million in reductions from our specialty book of
business. The reductions in the Company’s reserves for the smaller catastrophe events, the reserves for
the specialty book of business and the reserves for our Individual Risk segment were driven by the
application of the Company’s formulaic methodology used for these books of business and is primarily
due to the actual paid and reported loss activity being better than what the Company anticipated
when setting the initial IBNR reserves.
As at December 31, 2003, the prior year net favorable reserve development in 2003 of $93.6 million
was primarily due to favorable reserve development of $68.7 million in the Company’s Reinsurance
segment and $24.9 million in the Company’s Individual Risk segment. Within the Reinsurance segment
the Company’s property catastrophe line of business recorded $60.6 million in favorable reserve
development. This was driven by reductions in the estimated losses on relatively small catastrophes
due to a reduced level of payment and loss activity during the 1999 through 2002 accident years. The
largest net favorable reserve development on a single event was $5.1 million which related to the
reduction in the ultimate cost to settle net claims arising from the European ﬂoods of 2002. The
Company’s specialty line of business within the Reinsurance segment had favorable reserve
development of $8.1 million in 2003 which was principally driven by reductions from the 2002 accident
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year. The Company’s Individual Risk segment had favorable reserve development of $24.9 million in
2003 which was driven by favorable reserve development in the 2002 accident year associated with the
Company’s Bermuda-based property business.
Net claims and claim expenses incurred were reduced by $0.8 million during 2004 (2003 — $23.0
million) related to income earned on assumed reinsurance contracts that were classiﬁed as deposit
contracts with underwriting risk only. Other income was reduced by $1.1 million during 2004 (2003 —
$nil) related to losses incurred on assumed reinsurance contracts that were classiﬁed as deposit
contracts with timing risk only. A deposit liability of $109.3 million is included in reinsurance balances
payable at December 31, 2004 (2003 — $80.0 million) and a deposit asset of $6.3 million is included in
other assets at December 31, 2004 (2003 — $nil).
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NOTE 7. DEBT
In January 2003, the Company issued $100 million of 5.875% Senior Notes due February 15, 2013,
with interest on the notes payable on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing August
15, 2003. In July 2001, the Company issued $150 million of 7.0% Senior Notes due July 15, 2008 with
interest on the notes payable on January 15 and July 15 of each year. The notes can be redeemed by
the Company prior to maturity subject to payment of a ‘‘make-whole’’ premium; however, the
Company has no current intentions of calling the notes. The notes, which are senior obligations,
contain various covenants, including limitations on mergers and consolidations, restrictions as to the
disposition of stock of designated subsidiaries and limitations on liens on the stock of designated
subsidiaries. The Company was in compliance with the related covenants at December 31, 2004 and
2003. At December 31, 2004, the fair value of the 5.875% Senior Notes was $104.7 million (2003 $103.1 million) and the fair value of the 7.0% Senior Notes was $163.7 million (2003 - $167.7 million).
During May 2004, DaVinciRe amended and restated its credit agreement providing for a $100 million
committed revolving credit facility and maintained as outstanding the full $100 million available under
this facility. Neither RenaissanceRe nor Renaissance Reinsurance is a guarantor of this facility and the
lenders have no recourse against the Company or its subsidiaries other than DaVinciRe and its
subsidiary under the DaVinciRe facility. Pursuant to the terms of the $500 million facility maintained
by RenaissanceRe, a default by DaVinciRe in its obligations will not result in a default under the
RenaissanceRe facility. Interest rates on the facility are based on a spread above LIBOR, and
averaged approximately 2.32% during 2004 (2003 - 2.09%). As amended, the credit agreement contains
certain covenants requiring DaVinciRe to maintain a debt to capital ratio of not more than 30% and a
minimum net worth of $250 million. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, DaVinciRe was in compliance
with the covenants under this agreement. The amended and restated agreement extended the term of
the facility to May 25, 2007.
During August 2004, the Company amended and restated its committed revolving credit agreement to
increase the facility from $400 million to $500 million, to extend the term to August 6, 2009 and to
make certain other changes. The interest rates on this facility are based on a spread above LIBOR.
No balance was outstanding at December 31, 2004 or 2003. As amended, the agreement contains
certain ﬁnancial covenants. These covenants generally provide that consolidated debt to capital shall
not exceed the ratio (the ‘‘Debt to Capital Ratio’’) of 0.35:1 and that the consolidated net worth (the
‘‘Net Worth Requirements’’) of RenaissanceRe and Renaissance Reinsurance shall equal or exceed $1
billion and $500 million, respectively, subject to certain adjustments under certain circumstances in the
case of the Debt to Capital Ratio and certain grace periods in the case of the Net Worth
Requirements, all as more fully set forth in the agreement. The Company has the right, subject to
certain conditions, to increase the size of this facility to $600 million.
Cash interest paid on the above debt totaled $26.0 million, $15.9 million and $11.9 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Interest expense in 2004 includes interest
on the subordinated obligation to the Capital Trust which was previously reﬂected as minority interest
(see Note 8).
NOTE 8. SUBORDINATED OBLIGATION TO CAPITAL TRUST (CAPITAL SECURITIES)
In March 1997, the Company issued $100 million aggregate liquidation amount of mandatorily
redeemable capital securities (‘‘Capital Securities’’) through a subsidiary trust holding solely $103.1
million of the Company’s 8.54% junior subordinated debentures due March 1, 2027. The Capital
Securities pay cumulative cash distributions at an annual rate of 8.54%, payable semi-annually. The
Capital Trust is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and was consolidated into the Company’s
consolidated ﬁnancial statements up until the Company’s adoption of FIN 46 at December 31, 2003.
For periods prior to the adoption of FIN 46, the Capital Securities and the related dividends are
reﬂected in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements as a minority interest. The Company’s guarantee of
the distributions on the Capital Securities issued by the Capital Trust, when taken together with the
Company’s obligations under an expense reimbursement agreement with the Capital Trust, provides
full and unconditional guarantee of amounts due on the Capital Securities issued by the Capital Trust.
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Upon the adoption of FIN 46 at December 31, 2003, the Capital Trust was determined to be a
variable interest entity and the Company was determined not to be the primary beneﬁciary of the
Capital Trust. Accordingly the Capital Trust was deconsolidated from the Company’s consolidated
ﬁnancial statements at December 31, 2003. As a result, the balance of the Capital Securities,
previously classiﬁed as minority interest, has been reclassiﬁed in the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet at December 31, 2003 and the $103.1 million subordinated obligation to the Capital Trust is
recognized on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003 as a liability. In
addition, equity interests in the Capital Trust and purchased Capital Securities held by the Company
are included in investments at December 31, 2003. These investments include $15.4 million of Capital
Securities purchased by the Company and $3.1 million of common stock issued by the Capital Trust to
the Company in March 1997, both of which are eliminated on consolidation for periods prior to the
adoption of FIN 46 on December 31, 2003. The adjustments required to deconsolidate the Capital
Trust represent reclassiﬁcations and there was no impact on consolidated net income.
During 2004 and 2003, the Company did not purchase any Capital Securities. The Company has
purchased an aggregate $15.4 million of the Capital Securities since their issuance in 1997.
NOTE 9. MINORITY INTEREST
In October 2001, the Company formed DaVinciRe and DaVinci with other equity investors.
RenaissanceRe owns a minority economic interest in DaVinciRe; however, because RenaissanceRe
controls a majority of DaVinciRe’s outstanding voting rights, the consolidated ﬁnancial statements of
DaVinciRe are included in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the Company. The 74.75% portion
of DaVinciRe’s earnings and shareholders’ equity held by third parties is recorded in the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements as minority interest.
NOTE 10. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
The aggregate authorized capital of the Company is 325,000,000 shares consisting of 225,000,000
common shares and 100,000,000 preference shares. The Company’s 225,000,000 authorized $1.00 par
value common shares consist of three separate series with differing voting rights as follows:
At December 31, 2004

Full Voting Common Shares
(includes all shares registered and available to the public)
Diluted Voting Class I Common Shares
Diluted Voting Class II Common Shares

Remaining authorized

Outstanding

125,626,621
10,224,185
185,532

69,193,611
1,835,100
—

136,036,338

71,028,711

In March 2004, the Company raised $250 million through the issuance of 10,000,000 Series C
preference shares at $25 per share, in February 2003, the Company raised $100 million through the
issuance of 4,000,000 Series B preference shares at $25 per share, and in November 2001, the
Company raised $150 million through the issuance of 6,000,000 Series A preference shares at $25 per
share. The Series C, Series B and Series A preference shares may be redeemed at $25 per share at the
Company’s option on or after March 23, 2009, February 4, 2008 and November 19, 2006, respectively.
Dividends on the Series C, Series B and Series A preference shares are cumulative from the date of
original issuance and are payable quarterly in arrears at 6.08%, 7.3% and 8.1%, respectively, when, if,
and as declared by the Board of Directors. If the Company submits a proposal to its shareholders
concerning an amalgamation or submits any proposal that, as a result of any changes to Bermuda law,
requires approval of the holders of these preference shares to vote as a single class, the Company may
redeem the Series C, Series B and Series A preference shares prior to March 23, 2009, February 4,
2008 and November 19, 2006, respectively, at $26 per share. The preference shares have no stated
maturity and are not convertible into any other securities of the Company.
The Diluted Voting shareholders vote together with the common shareholders. The Diluted Voting I
Shares are limited to a ﬁxed voting interest in the Company of up to 9.9% on most corporate matters.
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The Diluted Voting shareholders are entitled to the same rights, including receipt of dividends and the
right to vote on certain signiﬁcant corporate matters, and are subject to the same restrictions as the
common shareholders. The Company currently does not intend to register or list the Diluted Voting
Shares on the New York Stock Exchange.
In August 2003, the Board authorized a share repurchase program of $150 million. This authorization
includes the remaining amounts available under prior authorizations. The Company’s decision to
repurchase common shares will depend on, among other matters, the market price of the common
shares and the capital requirements of the Company. No shares were repurchased during 2004, 2003 or
2002 under this program. Common shares repurchased by the Company are normally cancelled and
retired.
NOTE 11. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The Company uses FASB Statement No. 128, ‘‘Earnings per Share’’ to account for its weighted
average shares. The numerator in both the Company’s basic and diluted earnings per share
calculations is identical. The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the denominator from
basic to diluted weighted average shares outstanding (in thousands of per share amounts):
Year ended December 31,
(thousands of shares)

2004

2003

2002

Weighted average shares — basic
Per share equivalents of employee stock options and
restricted shares

69,874

69,039

67,555

1,900

1,963

2,656

Weighted average shares — diluted

71,774

71,002

70,211

NOTE 12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS
During 2004, the Company received distributions from Top Layer Re of $21.2 million (2003 - $22.4
million), and a management fee of $2.8 million (2003 - $3.0 million). The management fee reimburses
the Company for services it provides to Top Layer Re.
The Company provides Channel Re with various administrative services. The Company was
reimbursed $0.2 million for these services in 2004.
During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company received 82.2%, 80.4% and
71.1%, respectively, of its reinsurance premium assumed from four reinsurance brokers. Subsidiaries
and afﬁliates of Marsh Inc., the Benﬁeld Group Limited, the Willis Group and AON Corporation
accounted for approximately 27.2%, 25.1%, 17.2% and 12.7%, respectively, of the Reinsurance
segment’s gross premiums written in 2004.
NOTE 13. GOODWILL
In connection with the Company’s adoption of FASB Statement No. 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other
Intangibles’’ (‘‘FAS 142’’), the Company wrote-off the balance of its goodwill during the second
quarter of 2002, which totaled $9.2 million. As required by FAS 142, this charge has been reﬂected in
the consolidated statements of income as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
NOTE 14. DIVIDENDS
Dividends declared and paid on Common Shares amounted to $0.76, $0.60 and $0.57 per common
share for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.
During the second quarter of 2002, RenaissanceRe effected a three-for-one stock split through a stock
dividend of two additional common shares for each common share owned. All of the common share
and per common share information provided in these ﬁnancial statements is presented as if the stock
dividend had occurred for all periods.
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The total amount of dividends paid to holders of the common shares during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was
$53.8 million, $42.1 million and $39.0 million, respectively.
NOTE 15. TAXATION
Under current Bermuda law, the Company is not required to pay taxes in Bermuda on either income
or capital gains. Income from the Company’s U.S.-based subsidiaries is subject to taxes imposed by
U.S. authorities. Renaissance Reinsurance of Europe is subject to the taxation laws of Ireland.
Income tax expense (beneﬁt) for 2004, 2003 and 2002 is comprised as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2004

Current

Deferred

Total

U.S. federal
U.S. state and local

$ —
—
$ —

$4,003
—
$4,003

$4,003
—
$4,003

Year ended December 31, 2003

Current

Deferred

Total

$ —
—

$(18)
—

$(18)
—

$ —

$(18)

$(18)

Current

Deferred

Total

$ —
—

$(115)
—

$(115)
—

$ —

$(115)

$(115)

U.S. federal
U.S. state and local

Year ended December 31, 2002

U.S. federal
U.S. state and local

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to signiﬁcant portions of the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities are presented below:
At December 31,

2004

Deferred tax assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Unearned premium adjustment
Claims reserves, principally due to discounting for tax
Retroactive reinsurance gain
Net operating loss carryforwards
Goodwill
Other

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred acquisition costs
Fixed asset depreciation
Other

Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax asset
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$

401
3,001
4,048
101
30,172
3,172
1,018
41,913

2003

$

533
1,215
1,641
1,492
24,775
3,542
568
33,766

(3,390)
(288)
—
(3,678)

—
(257)
(164)
(421)

38,235
(38,235)
$
—

33,345
(29,342)
$ 4,003

The net deferred tax asset is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. Net operating
loss carryforwards of $88.7 million (2003 - $72.9 million) are available to offset regular taxable U.S.
income during the carryforward period (through 2024).
During 2004, the Company recorded additions to the valuation allowance of $8.9 million. The
Company’s deferred tax asset relates primarily to net operating loss carryforwards that are available to
offset future taxes payable by the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries. Although the net operating losses,
which gave rise to a deferred tax asset have a carryforward period through 2024, the Company’s U.S.
operations did not generate taxable income during the year ended December 31, 2004 or during prior
years. Accordingly, under the circumstances, and until the Company’s U.S. operations begin to
generate signiﬁcant taxable income, the Company believes that it is necessary to establish and
maintain a valuation allowance against the entire balance of the net deferred tax asset.
The Company was not liable for and accordingly paid no income taxes in the years ended December
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.
NOTE 16. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
Financial information relating to gross premiums written by geographic region is as follows:
Year ended December 31,

Property catastrophe
United States and Caribbean
Europe
Worldwide
Worldwide (excluding U.S.) (1)
Australia and New Zealand
Other
Specialty reinsurance (2)
Total Reinsurance (3)
Individual Risk (4)
Total gross written premium

2004

2003

2002

$ 338,315
141,385
90,607
63,529
28,614
20,729
382,886

$ 297,954
156,156
126,541
14,968
26,588
21,458
291,820

$ 310,090
86,461
169,790
56,628
2,127
18,354
247,020

1,066,065
478,092

935,485
446,724

890,470
282,579

$1,544,157

$1,382,209

$1,173,049

(1) The category Worldwide (excluding U.S.) consists of contracts that cover more than one
geographic region (other than the U.S.). The exposure in this category for gross written premiums
written to date is predominantly from Europe and Japan.
(2) The category Specialty Reinsurance consists of contracts that are predominantly exposed to U.S.
risks, with a small portion of the risks being Worldwide.
(3) Excludes $18.8 million, $20.8 million and $22.2 million of premium assumed from the Individual
Risk segment in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
(4) The category Individual Risk consists of contracts that are primarily exposed to U.S. risks.
NOTE 17. SEGMENT REPORTING
The Company has two reportable segments: Reinsurance operations and Individual Risk operations.
The Reinsurance segment, which includes the results of DaVinciRe, primarily provides property
catastrophe reinsurance and specialty reinsurance to selected insurers and reinsurers on a worldwide
basis. The Company deﬁnes the Individual Risk segment to include underwriting that involves
understanding the characteristics of the original underlying insurance policy. The Individual Risk
segment currently provides insurance written on both an admitted basis and an excess and surplus
lines basis, and also provides reinsurance on a quota share basis.
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Data for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2004

Reinsurance

Individual Risk

Eliminations (1)

Gross premiums written

$1,084,896

$ 478,092

$(18,831)

Net premiums written

$ 930,946

$ 418,341

— $1,349,287

Net premiums earned
Net claims and claim expenses
incurred
Acquisition expenses
Operational expenses

$ 944,527

$ 393,700

— $1,338,227

746,010
117,145
34,983

350,289
127,785
21,378

—
—
—

Underwriting income (loss)

$

46,389

$(105,752)

—

Net investment income
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated
ventures
Other income
Other items, net
Interest and preferred share
dividends
Minority interest — DaVinciRe
Net realized gains on investments
Net income available to common
shareholders
Net claims
incurred
Net claims
incurred

and claim expenses
— current accident year
and claim expenses
— prior years

Net claims and claim expenses
incurred — total

Other

$

Total

— $1,544,157

1,096,299
244,930
56,361
(59,363)

162,722

162,722

31,081
18,903
(27,995)

31,081
18,903
(27,995)

(57,102)
41,420
23,442

(57,102)
41,420
23,442

$192,471 $ 133,108

$ 859,842

$ 376,723

(113,832)
$ 746,010

(26,434)
$ 350,289

$1,236,565
(140,266)
$1,096,299

Net claims and claim expense ratio
— accident year

91.0%

95.7%

92.4%

Net claims and claim expense ratio
— calendar year
Underwriting expense ratio

79.0%
16.1%

89.0%
37.9%

81.9%
22.5%

Combined ratio

95.1%

126.9%

104.4%

(1) Represents premium ceded from the Individual Risk segment to the Reinsurance segment.
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Year ended December 31, 2003 (Restated)

Reinsurance

Individual Risk

Eliminations (1)

Gross premiums written

$956,257

$446,724

$(20,772)

Net premiums written

$792,022

Net premiums earned
Net claims and claim expenses
incurred
Acquisition expenses
Operational expenses
Underwriting income

$1,382,209

$362,754

—

$1,154,776

$812,142

$306,383

—

$1,118,525

210,634
93,227
52,504

158,547
100,913
14,893

—
—
—

369,181
194,140
67,397

$455,777

$ 32,030

—

487,807

129,542

129,542

21,167
5,903
(2,394)
(44,523)
(72,014)
80,504

21,167
5,903
(2,394)
(44,523)
(72,014)
80,504

Minority interest — DaVinciRe
Net realized gains on investments
Net income available to common
shareholders
and claim expenses
— current accident year
and claim expenses
— prior years

Net claims and claim expenses
incurred — total

$

Total

—

Net investment income
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated
ventures
Other income
Other items, net

Net claims
incurred
Net claims
incurred

Other

$118,185
$279,334
(68,700)
$210,634

$183,482

$ 605,992
$ 462,816

(24,935)
$158,547

(93,635)
$ 369,181

Net claims and claim expense ratio
— accident year

34.4%

59.9%

41.4%

Net claims and claim expense ratio
— calendar year
Underwriting expense ratio

25.9%
18.0%

51.7%
37.8%

33.0%
23.4%

43.9%

89.5%

56.4%

Combined ratio

(1) Represents premium ceded from the Individual Risk segment to the Reinsurance segment.
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Year ended December 31, 2002 (Restated)

Reinsurance

Individual Risk

Eliminations (1)

Gross premiums written

$912,695

$282,579

$(22,225)

Net premiums written

$698,863

$227,101

— $ 925,964

Net premiums earned
Net claims and claim expenses
incurred
Acquisition expenses
Operational expenses

$670,991

$ 92,979

— $ 763,970

274,316
70,698
39,264

40,209
24,946
9,895

—
—
—

314,525
95,644
49,159

Underwriting income

$286,713

$ 17,929

—

304,642

102,686

102,686

22,339
10,482
(10,351)

22,339
10,482
(10,351)

(32,858)
(55,051)

(32,858)
(55,051)

(9,187)
10,177

(9,187)
10,177

Net investment income
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated
ventures
Other income
Other items, net
Interest, preferred share dividends,
Capital Securities minority interest
Minority interest — DaVinciRe
Cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle
Net realized gains on investments
Net income available to common
shareholders
Net claims
incurred
Net claims
incurred

and claim expenses
— current accident year
and claim expenses
— prior years

Net claims and claim expenses
incurred — total

Other

$

Total

— $1,173,049

$ 38,237 $ 342,879
$254,387

$ 37,133

$ 291,520

19,929

3,076

23,005

$274,316

$ 40,209

$ 314,525

Net claims and claim expense ratio
— accident year

37.9%

39.9%

38.2%

Net claims and claim expense ratio
— calendar year
Underwriting expense ratio

40.9%
16.4%

43.2%
37.5%

41.2%
19.0%

57.3%

80.7%

60.2%

Combined ratio

(1) Represents premium ceded from the Individual Risk segment to the Reinsurance segment.
The Company does not manage its assets by segment and therefore total assets are not allocated to
the segments.
NOTE 18. STOCK INCENTIVE COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
The Company has a stock incentive plan under which all employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries may be granted stock options and restricted stock awards. A stock option award under
the Company’s stock incentive plan allows for the purchase of the Company’s common shares at a
price that is generally equal to the ﬁve day average closing price of the common shares immediately
prior to the date of grant. Options to purchase common shares are granted periodically by the Board
of Directors, generally vest over four years and generally expire ten years from the date of grant.
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The fair value of option grants is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively: dividend yield of 1.56%, 1.4% and 1.4%; expected option life of six years for 2004 and
ﬁve years for 2003 and 2002; expected volatility of 24%, 30% and 30%; and a risk-free interest rate of
3.5%, 1.8% and 2.7%.
The following is a table of the changes in options outstanding for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively:
Awards
available
for grant

Weighted
options
outstanding

Average
exercise price

Balance, December 31, 2001

2,718,687

5,276,715

$18.97

Authorized
Options granted
Options forfeited
Options exercised
Shares turned in or withheld
Restricted stock issued
Restricted stock forfeited

2,550,000
(2,637,929)
137,655
—
2,114,379
(380,233)
68,660

—
2,637,929
(137,655)
(3,597,769)
—
—
—

Balance, December 31, 2002

4,571,219

4,179,220

Authorized
Options granted
Options forfeited
Options exercised
Shares turned in or withheld
Restricted stock issued
Restricted stock forfeited

—
(435,762)
23,000
74,344
(359,727)
571

Balance, December 31, 2003

3,873,645

Authorized
Options granted
Exercise price at market price
Exercise price greater than market price
Options forfeited
Options exercised
Shares turned in or withheld
Restricted stock issued
Restricted stock forfeited

6,000,000

Balance, December 31, 2004

(1,212,990)
(5,206,000)
233,991

—
435,762
(23,000)
(295,627)
—
—
—

$39.30
$18.95
$22.09

Fair value
of options

Range of
exercise prices

$ 6.47

$29.77-$42.74

$10.99

$39.16-$48.00

$11.95
$ 4.90

$49.81-$53.96
$74.24-$98.98

$28.93

$45.38
$12.40
$13.01

4,296,355

$31.73

1,212,990
5,206,000
(233,991)
(987,734)

$52.34
$80.18
$47.50
$32.41

9,493,620

$60.47

508,972
(201,833)
59,918
4,055,703

Total options exercisable at
December 31, 2004

2,674,636

The Company’s 2001 Stock Incentive Plan allows for the issuance of share-based awards, the issuance
of restricted common shares, the issuance of reload options for shares tendered in connection with
option exercises and a provision in the calculation of shares available for issuance thereunder by
deeming the number of shares tendered to or withheld by the Company in connection with certain
option exercises to be so available.
In August 2004 the Company’s shareholders approved the RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. 2004 Stock
Option Incentive Plan (the ‘‘Premium Option Plan’’) under which 6,000,000 common shares were
reserved for issuance upon the exercise of options granted under the Premium Option Plan.
As described in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to the required shareholder vote, ﬁled with
the SEC in July 2004, the Premium Option Plan provides for, among other things, mandatory
premium pricing such that options can generally only be issued thereunder with a strike price at a
F-29

minimum of 150% of fair market value on the date of grant, minimum 4-year cliff vesting, and no
discretionary repricing. The Premium Option Plan includes a dividend protection feature that reduces
the strike price for extraordinary dividends and a change in control feature that reduces the strike
price based on a pre-established formula in the event of a change in control. Grantees under the
Premium Option Plan must satisfy performance criteria which is determined by the Company’s
Compensation Committee. Other terms are substantially similar to the 2001 Plan. The assumptions
used to determine the fair value of the Premium Option Plan awards in 2004 are as follows: for the
options with a strike price of 150% of fair market value on the date of grant, a dividend yield of
1.58%; expected option life of six years; expected volatility of 23%; and a risk-free interest rate of
3.5%, and for the options with a strike price of 200% of fair market value on the date of grant, a
dividend yield of 1.58%; expected option life of seven years; expected volatility of 24%; and a risk-free
interest rate of 3.7%.
The Company has also established a Non-Employee Director Stock Incentive Plan to issue stock
options and shares of restricted stock. Under the plan, the total number of shares available for
distribution at December 31, 2004 was 621,177 shares. At December 31, 2004, the number of options
issued to directors and unexercised was 218,367. In 2004, 12,867 options to purchase common shares
were granted and 22,317 restricted common shares were granted. In 2003, no options to purchase
common shares were granted and 13,206 restricted common shares were granted. In 2002, 12,000
options to purchase common shares were granted and 3,132 restricted common shares were granted.
The options and restricted common shares vest ratably over three years.
Restricted common shares issued to employees normally vest ratably over a four to ﬁve year period.
During the restricted period, the employee receives dividends and votes the restricted common shares,
but the restricted shares may not be sold, transferred or assigned. In 2004, 2003 and 2002 the Board of
Directors granted 201,833, 359,727 and 380,233 restricted shares with a value of $10.4 million, $16.0
million and $14.6 million to certain employees. Prior to 2003, the value of the restricted shares
awarded was recorded as unearned stock grant compensation and was presented as a separate
component of shareholders’ equity. During 2003 the Company adopted FAS 123, as amended by FAS
148, and in accordance with the provisions of FAS 123 the value of the restricted stock grants awarded
are no longer reﬂected as unearned stock grant compensation as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity. Accordingly the balance of unearned stock grant compensation of $18.5 million
at January 1, 2003 has been reclassiﬁed from its separate account in shareholders’ equity and reﬂected
as a reduction in additional paid-in capital. Under FAS 123 the Company estimates the fair value of
restricted stock awards at the date of grant and amortizes this value as an expense over the vesting
period. Compensation expense related to the issuance of restricted stock was $11.5 million, $13.0
million and $8.2 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
All of the Company’s employees are eligible for deﬁned contribution pension plans. Contributions are
primarily based upon a percentage of eligible compensation. The Company contributed $1.0 million to
its deﬁned contribution pension plans in 2004, $0.7 million in 2003 and $0.5 million in 2002.
NOTE 19. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS
Under the Insurance Act 1978, amendments thereto and Related Regulations of Bermuda (‘‘the
Act’’), certain subsidiaries of the Company are required to prepare statutory ﬁnancial statements and
to ﬁle in Bermuda a statutory ﬁnancial return. The Act also requires these subsidiaries of the
Company to maintain certain measures of solvency and liquidity. At December 31, 2004 the statutory
capital and surplus of the Bermuda subsidiaries was $2.3 billion and the amount required to be
maintained under Bermuda law was $520.6 million.
Under the Act, Renaissance Reinsurance and DaVinci are classiﬁed as Class 4 insurers, and are,
therefore, restricted as to the payment of dividends in the amount of 25% of the prior year’s statutory
capital and surplus, unless at least two members of the Board of Directors attest that a dividend in
excess of this amount would not cause the company to fail to meet its relevant margins. During 2004,
Renaissance Reinsurance declared aggregate cash dividends to the Company of $234.4 million (2003 $322.3 million) and DaVinci declared aggregate cash dividends of $3.2 million (2003 - $81.6 million).
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Under the Act, Glencoe is classiﬁed as a Class 3 insurer and Glencoe is also eligible as an excess and
surplus lines insurer in a number of states in the U.S. Under the various capital and surplus
requirements in Bermuda and in these states, Glencoe is required to maintain a minimum of capital
and surplus. In this regard, the declaration of dividends from retained earnings and distributions from
additional paid-in capital are limited to the extent that the above requirement is met. During 2004,
Glencoe declared aggregate cash dividends of $55.0 million (2003 - $18.0).
The Company’s U.S. insurance subsidiary, Stonington, is subject to various statutory and regulatory
restrictions regarding the payment of dividends. The restrictions are determined using risk based
capital tests, which is the threshold that constitutes the authorized control level. If Stonington’s
statutory capital and surplus falls below the authorized control level, the commissioner is authorized
to take whatever regulatory actions considered necessary to protect policyholders and creditors. At
December 31, 2004, the statutory capital and surplus of Stonington was $57.5 million. Because of the
accumulated deﬁcit in earned surplus from prior operations, Stonington currently cannot pay an
ordinary dividend without commissioner approval.
NOTE 20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK
Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist
principally of investments, cash and reinsurance balances. The Company limits the amount of credit
exposure to any one ﬁnancial institution and, except for U.S. Government securities, none of the
Company’s investments exceeded 10% of shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2004. Concentrations
of credit risk with respect to reinsurance balances are limited due to their dispersion across various
companies and geographies.
DERIVATIVES
The Company’s investment guidelines permit, subject to speciﬁc approval, investments in derivative
instruments such as futures, options, foreign currency forward contracts and swap agreements, which
may be used to assume risk or for hedging purposes. The Company’s primary derivative positions
include:
Credit Derivatives
From time to time the Company enters into short positions in credit derivatives. The Company
accounts for these credit derivatives at fair value and records them on its consolidated balance sheet
as other assets or other liabilities depending on the rights or obligations. The fair value of these credit
derivatives, as recognized in other liabilities in our balance sheet, at December 31, 2004 was a liability
of $12.6 million (2003 - $3.5 million). During 2004, the Company recorded losses of $12.5 million
(2003 - $4.2 million), which is included in other income and represents net settlements and changes in
the fair value of these credit derivatives.
Foreign Currency Derivatives
The Company’s foreign currency policy with regard to its underwriting operations is generally to hold
foreign currency assets, including cash, investments and receivables that approximate the foreign
currency liabilities, including claims and claim expense reserves and reinsurance balances payable.
When necessary, the Company will use foreign currency forward and option contracts to minimize the
effect of ﬂuctuating foreign currencies on the value of non-U.S. dollar denominated assets and
liabilities associated with our underwriting operations. The Company will also use foreign currency
forward contracts and other foreign exchange derivatives to decrease exposure to non-U.S. dollar
investments. Its foreign currency derivative contracts are recorded at fair value, which is determined
principally by obtaining quotes from independent dealers and counterparties. The fair value of these
contracts as of December 31, 2004 was a loss of $14.7 million (2003 - $nil). Changes in the fair value
of the Company’s foreign currency derivatives are recognized currently in our consolidated statements
of income.
Derivatives Related to Physical Variables
The Company has assumed and ceded risk through securities and derivative instruments under which
losses or recoveries are triggered by an industry loss index or geological or physical variables. During
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2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company recognized gains (losses) on these contracts of ($0.1) million, $0.8
million and $7.2 million, respectively, which are included in other income.
OPERATING LEASES
The Company and its subsidiaries lease ofﬁce space under operating leases which expire at various
dates through 2022. Future minimum lease payments under existing operating leases are expected to
be as follows:
Year ended December 31,

Minimum lease payments

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
After 2009

$ 3,545
3,545
3,739
3,694
3,694
35,479
$53,696

LETTERS OF CREDIT
At December 31, 2004, the Company’s bankers have issued letters of credit of approximately $633.1
million in favor of certain ceding companies. Also in connection with the Top Layer Re joint venture,
the Company has committed $37.5 million of capital in the form of a letter of credit. The letters of
credit are secured by cash and investments of similar amounts.
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS
The Board of Directors has authorized the execution of employment agreements between the
Company and certain ofﬁcers. These agreements provide for severance payments under certain
circumstances, as well as accelerated vesting of options and restricted stock grants, upon a change in
control, as deﬁned therein and by the Company’s 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and Premium Option
Plan.
LITIGATION
The Company is party to various lawsuits arising in the normal course of business. The Company does
not believe that any of its pending litigation will have a material impact on its consolidated ﬁnancial
statements.
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NOTE 21. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL RESULTS (UNAUDITED)
(amounts in tables expressed in thousands of United States dollars, except per share amounts)
Quarter Ended
March 31,

Quarter Ended
June 30,

Quarter Ended
September 30,

Quarter Ended
December 31,

2004

2003

2004

2003

2004

2003

(A)

(Restated)

(A)

(Restated)

(A)

(Restated)

Gross premium written

$780,288

$685,167

$326,876

$212,560

$ 273,218

$313,317

$163,775

$171,165

Net premiums written

$700,219

$592,623

$285,925

$160,223

$ 219,237

$236,570

$143,905

$165,360

Net premiums earned

$308,092

$264,097

$349,002

$276,200

$ 349,794

$278,018

$331,339

$300,210

35,050

31,434

29,833

34,109

39,487

28,280

58,352

35,719

Net foreign exchange gains (losses)

2,087

3,951

786

7,640

(1,839)

(7,417)

1,788

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated ventures

6,520

6,068

4,923

6,493

9,058

5,273

10,580

3,333

Other income

1,109

(4,855)

2,706

23,338

3,015

Net investment income

Net realized investment gains (losses)

(563)

(689)

745

2004

2003
(Restated)

252

32,521

21,112

(26,920)

49,660

15,023

1,172

2,818

8,560

Total revenues

385,379

326,099

356,935

374,847

406,668

315,701

419,010

352,625

Claims and claim expenses incurred

112,178

84,126

120,737

100,076

738,502

96,856

124,882

88,123

Acquisition costs

58,031

42,133

64,047

40,704

72,434

56,317

50,418

54,986

Operational expenses

12,376

14,907

16,502

16,332

10,116

17,882

17,367

18,276

Corporate expenses

4,552

3,468

4,986

4,677

4,520

4,456

3,551

3,442

Interest expense

6,271

4,499

6,334

5,335

6,683

4,318

6,680

4,100

Total expenses

193,408

149,133

212,606

167,124

832,255

179,829

202,898

168,927

Income before minority interest and taxes

191,971

176,966

144,329

207,723

(425,587)

135,872

216,112

183,698

Minority interest — Capital Securities

—

1,455

—

1,827

1,827

—

2,361

17,990

20,885

14,492

20,150

(89,888)

15,211

15,986

15,768

173,981

154,626

129,837

185,746

(335,699)

118,834

200,126

165,569

—

55

—

—

(4,003)

—

—

173,981

154,681

129,837

185,746

(339,702)

118,797

200,126

165,569

5,104

4,119

8,609

4,917

4,903

8,663

4,862

Net income available to common shareholders

$168,877

$150,562

$121,228

$180,829

$(348,460)

$113,894

$191,463

$160,707

Earnings per common share — basic

$

2.43

$

2.20

$

1.74

$

2.62

$

(4.97)

$

1.64

$

2.72

$

2.32

Earnings per common share — diluted

$

2.36

$

2.13

$

1.69

$

2.54

$

(4.97)

$

1.60

$

2.66

$

2.25

Minority interest — DaVinci
Income before taxes
Income tax beneﬁt (expense)
Net income
Dividends on preference shares

—

(37)

8,758

Weighted average shares — basic

69,444

68,593

69,664

68,914

70,098

69,307

70,289

69,341

Weighted average shares — diluted

71,592

70,564

71,683

71,056

70,098

71,187

71,925

71,202

Claims and claim expense ratio

36.4%

31.9%

34.6%

36.2%

211.1%

34.8%

37.7%

29.4%

Underwriting expense ratio

22.9%

21.6%

23.1%

20.7%

23.6%

26.7%

20.4%

24.4%

Combined ratio

59.3%

53.5%

57.7%

56.9%

234.7%

61.5%

58.1%

53.8%

(A) During the fourth quarter of 2004 the Company discovered errors in the timing of the recognition
of premium on multi-year ceded reinsurance contracts which impacted the ﬁrst three quarters of 2004.
These errors were not material to the quarters ended March 31, 2004, June 30, 2004 and September
30, 2004. The reversal of the error was material to the quarter ended December 31, 2004 and,
therefore, the quarters ended March 31, 2004, June 30, 2004 and September 30, 2004 have been
adjusted from the previously reported amounts to report the premium in the correct quarters.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON SCHEDULES
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd.
We have audited the consolidated ﬁnancial statements of RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004, and have issued our report thereon dated March 30, 2005; such ﬁnancial
statements and our report thereon are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our
audits also included the ﬁnancial statement schedules listed in Item 15(a)(2) of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. These schedules are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audits.
In our opinion, the ﬁnancial statement schedules referred to above, when considered in relation to the
basic ﬁnancial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set
forth therein.
As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, in 2003 the Company changed its
method of accounting for stock compensation.
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, the Company has restated its 2003
and 2002 consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
/s/ Ernst & Young
Hamilton, Bermuda
March 30, 2005
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SCHEDULE I
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD. AND SUBISIDARIES
SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS
OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES
(MILLIONS OF UNITED STATES DOLLARS)
Year ended
December 31, 2004
Amortized
Market
Cost
Value

Amount at
which shown
in the
Balance Sheet

Type of investment:
Fixed maturities
U.S. treasuries and agencies
Non-U.S. government bonds
Corporate securities
Mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities

$ 920.3
199.7
1,144.8
560.8
356.1

$ 919.0
210.0
1,177.7
561.5
355.1

$ 919.0
210.0
1,177.7
561.5
355.1

Total ﬁxed maturities

3,181.7

3,223.3

3,223.3

608.3
622.0

608.3
684.6

608.3
684.6

84.2

150.5

150.5

159.5

159.5

159.5

$4,655.7

$4,826.2

$4,826.2

Short-term investments
Other investments
Equity investments in reinsurance
company, at fair value
Investments in other ventures, under
equity method
Total investments

S-3

SCHEDULE II
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD.
BALANCE SHEETS
AT DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2003
(PARENT COMPANY)
(THOUSANDS OF UNITED STATES DOLLARS)
At December 31,

Assets:
Investments and cash
Fixed maturity investments, available for sale, at fair value
Short term investments, at cost
Other investments
Equity investments in reinsurance company, at fair value
Investments in other ventures, under equity method
Total investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments in subsidiaries
Accrued investment income
Other assets
Due from subsidiary
Total Assets

2004

2003

$ 201,640
65,440
3,093
150,519
128,484

$ 111,600
207,783
3,093
145,535
—

549,176
6,790
2,507,573
3,000
17,536
—

468,011
6,551
2,167,476
1,302
20,398
40,761

$3,084,075

$2,704,499

$ 250,000
103,093
70,772
16,168

$ 250,000
103,093
—
16,763

440,033

369,856

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity:
Liabilities:
Notes and bank loans payable
Subordinated obligation to capital trust
Due to subsidiary
Other liabilities
Total Liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity:
Preference Shares: $1.00 par value — 20,000,000 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2004 (2003 — 10,000,000)
Common Shares and additional paid-in capital: $1.00 par value
— 71,028,711 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2004 — (2003 — 70,398,699 shares)
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings

500,000

250,000

328,896
78,960
1,736,186

314,414
113,382
1,656,847

Total Shareholders’ Equity

2,644,042

2,334,643

$3,084,075

$2,704,499

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
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SCHEDULE II
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT — CONTINUED
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD.
INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002
(PARENT COMPANY)
(THOUSANDS OF UNITED STATES DOLLARS)
2004

Revenues
Net investment income
Net foreign exchange gains
Other income (expense)

Year ended December 31,
2003
2002
(Restated)
(Restated)

$ 16,450
(7,344)
37,398

$ 15,940
—
(327)

$

1,736
—
559

Total revenues

46,504

15,613

2,295

Expenses
Interest expense
Corporate expenses

23,559
14,574

15,934
11,730

9,694
11,742

Total expenses

38,133

27,664

21,436

Loss before equity in net income of subsidiaries & taxes
Equity in net income of subsidiaries

8,371
155,871

(12,051)
644,314

(19,141)
381,809

Net income before taxes and minority interest
Minority interest — Company obligated, mandatorily
redeemable capital securities of a subsidiary trust holding
solely junior subordinated debentures of the Company

164,242

632,263

362,668

Net income before taxes
Income tax expense

164,242
—

624,793
—

355,063
—

Net income
Dividends on preference shares

164,242
(31,134)

624,793
(18,801)

355,063
(12,184)

Net income available to Common Shareholders

—

$133,108
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(7,470)

$605,992

(7,605)

$342,879

SCHEDULE II
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD.
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT — CONTINUED
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002
(PARENT COMPANY)
(THOUSANDS OF UNITED STATES DOLLARS)
Year ended December 31,
2004
2003
2002
(Restated)
(Restated)

Cash ﬂows applied to operating activities:
Net income
Less: equity in net income of subsidiaries

$

164,242
155,871

$ 624,793
644,314

$ 355,063
381,809

8,371

(19,521)

(26,746)

(27,363)
(9,831)
22,102

—
—
(13,376)

—
—
18,299

(6,721)

(32,897)

(8,447)

(472,307)
1,476,786
(1,560,684)
(119,697)
142,343
—
253,306
111,533
18,765

(259,881)
354,953
(334,772)
—
(176,516)
—
323,010
(9,301)
—

(377,846)
218,949
(203,770)
—
148,611
(84,199)
261,159
100,000
—

(149,955)

(102,507)

62,904

Cash ﬂows provided by (applied to) ﬁnancing activities:
Issuance of Preference Shares
Dividends paid on Common Shares
Dividends paid on Preference Shares
Issuance of debt
Purchase of Capital Securities

241,818
(53,769)
(31,134)
—
—

96,850
(42,133)
(18,801)
99,144
—

—
(39,039)
(12,184)
—
(3,000)

Net cash provided by (applied to) ﬁnancing activities

156,915

135,060

(54,223)

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities
Net unrealized (gains) losses included in other income
Equity in earnings of other ventures
Other
Net cash applied to operating activities
Cash ﬂows provided by (applied to) investing activities:
Contributions to subsidiaries
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments
Purchase of investments available for sale
Purchase of investments in other ventures
Net sales (purchases) of short-term investments
Equity investments in reinsurance company
Dividends from subsidiaries
Due to (due from) subsidiary
Proceeds from share repurchase by subsidiary
Net cash provided by (applied to) investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

239
6,551
$

S-6

6,790

(344)
6,895
$

6,551

234
6,661
$

6,895

SCHEDULE III
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION
(THOUSANDS OF UNITED STATES DOLLARS)
December 31, 2004

Year ended December 31, 2004

Deferred
Policy
Acquisition
Operating
Costs

Future Policy
Beneﬁts,
Losses and
Claims and
Claims
Premiums
Expenses

Unearned
Premiums

Premium
Revenue

Reinsurance
Individual Risk
Other

$11,174
59,759
—

$1,121,292
338,106
—

$116,821
248,514
—

$ 944,527
393,700
—

$

Total

$70,933

$1,459,398

$365,335

$1,338,227

Beneﬁts,
Claims,
Losses and
Expenses

Amortization
of Deferred
Policy
Settlement
Costs

Other
Acquisition
Expenses

Net
Written

—
—
162,722

$ 746,010
350,289
—

$117,145
127,785
—

$34,983
21,378
—

$ 930,946
418,341
—

$162,722

$1,096,299

$244,930

$56,361

$1,349,287

Net
Investment
Income

December 31, 2003

Year ended December 31, 2003 (Restated)

Deferred
Policy
Acquisition
Operating
Costs

Future Policy
Beneﬁts,
Losses and
Claims and
Claims
Premiums
Expenses

Unearned
Premiums

Premium
Revenue

Reinsurance
Individual Risk
Other

$10,853
64,408
—

$780,027
197,865
—

$121,526
228,298
—

$ 812,142
306,383
—

$

Total

$75,261

$977,892

$349,824

$1,118,525

Beneﬁts,
Claims,
Losses and
Expenses

Amortization
of Deferred
Policy
Settlement
Costs

Other
Acquisition
Expenses

Net
Written

—
—
129,542

$210,634
158,547
—

$ 93,227
100,913
—

$52,504
14,893
—

$ 792,022
362,754
—

$129,542

$369,181

$194,140

$67,397

$1,154,776

Net
Investment
Income

December 31, 2002

Year ended December 31, 2002 (Restated)

Deferred
Policy
Acquisition
Operating
Costs

Future Policy
Beneﬁts,
Losses and
Claims and
Claims
Premiums
Expenses

Unearned
Premiums

Premium
Revenue

Reinsurance
Individual Risk
Other

$16,388
39,465
—

$707,036
97,759
—

$167,345
164,640
—

$670,991
92,979
—

$

Total

$55,853

$804,795

$331,985

$763,970
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Beneﬁts,
Claims,
Losses and
Expenses

Amortization
of Deferred
Policy
Settlement
Costs

Other
Acquisition
Expenses

Net
Written

—
—
102,686

$274,316
40,209
—

$70,698
24,946
—

$39,264
9,895
—

$698,863
227,101
—

$102,686

$314,525

$95,644

$49,159

$925,964

Net
Investment
Income

SCHEDULE IV
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
REINSURANCE
(THOUSANDS OF UNITED STATES DOLLARS)
Percentage
of Amount
Assumed
to Net

Gross
Amounts

Ceded to
Other
Companies

Assumed
From Other
Companies

Net Amount

Year ended December 31, 2004
Property and liability premiums
written

$240,385

$194,870

$1,303,772

$1,349,287

97%

Year ended December 31, 2003
(Restated)
Property and liability premiums
written

$103,916

$227,433

$1,278,293

$1,154,776

111%

Year ended December 31, 2002
(Restated)
Property and liability premiums
written

$ 81,499

$247,085

$1,091,550

$ 925,964

118%
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SCHEDULE VI
RENAISSANCERE HOLDINGS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION CONCERNING
PROPERTY/CASUALTY INSURANCE OPERATIONS
(THOUSANDS OF UNITED STATES DOLLARS)

Afﬁliation with Registrant

Reserve for
Deferred Policy Unpaid Claims Discount,
Acquisition
and Claim
if any,
Costs
Expenses
deducted

Unearned
Premiums

Earned
Premiums

Net
Investment
Income

Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year ended December 31, 2004

$70,933

$1,459,398

$—

$365,335 $1,338,227 $162,722

Year ended December 31, 2003
(Restated)

$75,261

$ 977,892

$—

$349,824 $1,118,525 $129,542

Year ended December 31, 2002
(Restated)

$55,853

$ 804,795

$—

$331,985 $ 763,970 $102,686

Afﬁliation with Registrant

Claims and Claim Expense
Incurred Related to
Current Year
Prior Year

Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year ended December 31, 2004

$1,236,565

$(140,266)

$244,930

$683,380

$1,349,287

Year ended December 31, 2003
(Restated)

$ 462,816

$ (93,635)

$194,140

$143,662

$1,154,776

Year ended December 31, 2002
(Restated)

$ 291,520

$ 23,005

$ 95,644

$ 98,163

$ 925,964
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Amortization of
Deferred Policy
Acquisition Costs

Paid Claim
and Claims
Expenses

Net
Premiums
Written

Financial and Investor
Information
RenaissanceRe Holdings Ltd. and Subsidiaries
For copies of the Company’s Annual Report, press releases,
Forms 10-K and 10-Q or other filings, please visit our website:
www.renre.com
or contact:
Kekst and Company
437 Madison Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Tel: 212-521-4800
For General Information About the Company
Contact:
Todd R. Fonner
Vice President
Tel: 441-298-2291
Email: trf@renre.com
Stock Information
The Company’s stock is listed on The New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol RNR.
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the
high and low closing prices per share of our common shares as
reported in composite New York Stock Exchange trading.
2004 Price Range

2003 Price Range

High

Low

High

Low

First Quarter . . . . . . . . $ 54.87
Second Quarter . . . . . .
56.34
Third Quarter . . . . . . .
54.84
Fourth Quarter . . . . . . .
52.08

$ 48.51
48.80
48.12
46.82

$ 40.78
46.93
48.69
49.35

$ 34.40
40.07
41.15
44.45

As required under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE), our chief executive officer timely submitted to the
NYSE his annual certification that he is not aware of any
violation by the company of NYSE corporate governance
standards. Also as required under the rules of the NYSE,
readers are advised that the certifications required under
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are not
included in this report but instead are included as exhibits
to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2004.
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